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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. CUI Yuzhi (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. ZHU Liang (Chief Financial Officer)

Mr.ZHOU Xiaoyu

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Chi Kin

Mr. LU Xiaoma

Mr. JI Yong (resigned with effect from 27 January 2025)

Ms. ZHU Min (appointed with effect from 27 January 2025)

AUDIT AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

Mr. WONG Chi Kin (Chairman)

Mr. Jl Yong (ceased to act with effect from 27 January 2025)
Ms. ZHU Min (appointed with effect from 27 January 2025)
Mr. LU Xiaoma

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Jl Yong (Chairman) (ceased to act with effect from 27 January 2025)
Ms. ZHU Min (Chairman) (appointed with effect from 27 January 2025)
Mr. WONG Chi Kin

Mr. ZHOU Xiaoyu

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. CUI Yuzhi (Chairman)

Mr. ]I Yong (ceased to act with effect from 27 January 2025)
Ms. ZHU Min (appointed with effect from 27 January 2025)
Mr. LU Xiaoma

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Mr. WONG Chi Kin (Chairman)

Mr. Jl Yong (ceased to act with effect from 27 January 2025)
Ms. ZHU Min (appointed with effect from 27 January 2025)
Mr. CUI Yuzhi
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AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. CUI Yuzhi
Sir KWOK Siu Man KR

COMPANY SECRETARY

Sir KWOK Siu Man KR

LEGAL ADVISORS

Ince & Co
AllBright Law Offices

REGISTERED OFFICE

The offices of Osiris International Cayman Limited
Suite #4-210, Governors Square

23 Lime Tree Bay Avenue

P.O. Box 3231 |

Grand Cayman KY[-1209

Cayman lIslands

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS

Room 1106, Block A, Phase |
Innovation Technology Plaza
Tianan Digital City
Chegongmiao, Futian District
Shenzhen

China

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 3, 12/F,, Trust Centre
912 Cheung Sha Wan Road
Lai Chi Kok

Kowloon

Hong Kong

Corporate Information
RAEER

RERR

EFHELE
BEXRIFLBE

NEAME
XA LBE
EEERE

B RETT
LTS R EMELA

AR EE

Osiris International Cayman Limited## = BZ
Suite #4-210, Governors Square
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
Tricor Investor Services Limited

| 7/F, Far East Finance Centre

|6 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
(in alphabetical order,)

Bank of China, Shenzhen branch
China Merchants Bank, Guangzhou branch
China Merchants Bank, Hongkong branch

China Merchants Bank, Shenzhen branch

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, Hongkong branch

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.forgame.com.cn

STOCK CODE ON THE MAIN BOARD OF THE STOCK

EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED

484
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR

LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

[

[ W )

W |
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Financial Highlights
MBRE

HREHEERAMEEKER

Year Ended 3| December
BE+t-A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—ECNE —T-o=F —T-—F —E-—HF —E-FTF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTFT AREFT ARETT AREFT ARETT
Revenue KA 82,583 60,172 14,116 142,136 53,560
Gross profit EA 4,597 9,041 5773 13,601 12,960
(Loss)/profit for the year FERN(E518) A (59,252) (17,617) (20,107) 31,581 (38,173)
Non-IFRSs Measures F B B B 7 R 5 22 A
e
— EBITDA® for the year — FFNEBITDAM (38,382) 9,667 803 32,109 (32,150)
— Adjusted EBITDA® - FRLHE
for the year EBITDA® (41,928) (3,909) 323 (13,420) (32,330)
Notes: BT
() EBITDA means earnings before interests, taxes, depreciation and amortisation. (@) EBITDASERETFIE - B8 -« & REHATHFIE -

The Group defines adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA excluding share-based compensation,
investment related gains or losses and non-recurring events. For details of EBITDA
and adjusted EBITDA, please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis — Non-IFRSs Measures — EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA” in this annual
report.

2) AEBEBEHAZEBITDA REAFBRURMDAEERT
e  BREHBREIKNGEURIIFCEEBETEN
EBITDA ° BRBIEBITDAR A AREBITDANFIE » 2

BIAF R EEER

£- EBITDARAEFAEEEBITDAI—&f ©
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL fSEA& Of BBk &

POSITION
As at 3|1 December
R+=—A=+—H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EBECONE —T-=fF T —ZE-—F Z—ZZET-TF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
AR¥FT AREFrT AREFT AREFT AR®FT
Assets EE
Non-current assets JEmENEE 144,381 201,323 267267 55391 122,765
Current assets MBNEE 384,982 454,447 456,750 558,004 555,407
Total assets BEEHAEE 529,363 655,765 724017 713,395 678,172
Equity and liabilities EEkAE
Total equity REEER 484,413 590,274 643,207 636,656 611,968
Non-current liabilities FrREEaE 1,421 1,282 2,498 5752 8,001
Current liabilities mENa & 43,529 64,209 78312 70987 58,203
Total liabilities EEEEH 44,950 65,49 | 80,810 76739 66,204
Total equity and liabilities ERREERE 529,363 655,765 724017 713395 678,172
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OVERVIEW

In 2024, the global economic recovery momentum continued to weaken, with
persistent geopolitical conflicts (such as the escalating Palestinian-Israeli conflict
and the protracted stalemate in the Russo-Ukrainian war), significant volatility
of international energy market, tightening monetary policies by major central
banks coupled with high debt pressure and other multiple factors, which
together formed a complex operating environment. Against this backdrop,
the growth engines of developed economies such as the United States (“‘U.
S.”) and the European Union decelerated significantly, while China's economy
was also faced with various challenges such as shrinking external demand and
technological blockade, especially the technology industry represented by the

semiconductor sector under continuous pressure.

Under the double pressure of shrinking domestic demand and supply
chain restructuring, the Board and the management continued to optimize
operations and management strategies, and promoted dynamic adjustment of
the business structure by strengthening risk control and enhancing corporate
governance. On the basis of maintaining the stable operation of its core
business of online games, the Group continuously expanded its electronic
trade business layout and simultaneously pushed forward the preparatory
work for its financial investment business, striving to enhance operational and

management effectiveness.

According to the financial data, as of 31 December 2024, the Group realized
operating revenue of approximately RMB82.6 million, representing an increase
of 37.2% compared to last year. Although the revenue performance fell short
of expectations due to the industry cycle, the Group demonstrated strong
operational resilience through strategic focus and operational optimization.
As a result of increased investment in game research and development and
intensified competition from domestic substitution of semiconductors, a net

loss of approximately RMB59.3 million was recognized during the year.
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Chairman’s Statement
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OUTLOOK

“The torrent of intelligent computing surges forward, unfolding a vast
galaxy of digital intelligence”. Against the backdrop of weak global economic
recovery and intensifying market uncertainties, the Group will break through

the situation with the dual drivers of “technology + ecology”.

Under such circumstances, the Group will continue to strengthen internal
management, reduce costs, improve efficiency and actively conduct business
expansion. At the same time, the Group will continue to stabilize the game
business, combined with the introduction and application of new technologies
such as Al, to improve product quality and technical standards. In addition,
the Group will also continue to improve long-term and stable investment
channels, as well as optimize the business structure to achieve stable and long-

term sustainable development.

APPRECIATION

The Board would like to express its sincere gratitude to the Shareholders, the
management team, employees, business partners and customers of the Group

for their continued support and contribution to the Group.

CUI Yuzhi

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31

December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in developing and publishing domestic and
overseas webgames and mobile games and trading of electronic devices and

semiconductors in the PRC.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 19 to the

Financial Statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income on page 98 and page 99 of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 is
set out in the sections headed "Financial Highlights”, “Chairman’s Statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 5 and page 6, page 7 and

page 8 and pages 43 to 53 of this annual report, respectively.

Description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the Group may be
facing can be found in the sections headed “Report of Directors — Contractual
Arrangements — D. Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements and
the actions taken by the Company to mitigate the risks” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis — Risks and Hurdles” on pages 28 to 32 and page 52
of this annual report, respectively. An analysis of the Group'’s performance
during the year using financial key performance indicators is set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 43 to 53 of
this annual report. An indication of likely future development in the Group's
business is set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 8 and page 53 of this report.
In addition, the Group’s environmental, social and governance report for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Environmental, Social and Governance

Report”) can be found in the appendix to this annual report.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
year ended 3| December 2024 (2023: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the year

ended 3| December 2024 are set out in note 31 to the Financial Statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity on page 102 and note 33 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 3| December 2024, the Company had distributable reserves of
approximately RMB483.5 million (as at 31 December 2023: RMB590.2
million), none of which had been proposed as final dividend for the year
ended 3| December 2024.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

A summary of the condensed consolidated results and financial position for
the last five financial years of the Group is set out on page 5 and page 6 of

this annual report.

10  FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2024 Annual Report
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group did not make charitable donations during the year ended 3|
December 2024.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property and equipment of the Group during
the year ended 3| December 2024 are set out in note |6 to the Financial

Statements.

BORROWINGS

As at 3| December 2024, the Group did not have any borrowings.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant unrecorded

contingent liabilities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the amount
of public float as required under the Listing Rules during the year ended 31
December 2024 and as at the Latest Practicable Date.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the laws
of the Cayman lIslands, and there is no restriction against such rights which
would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the

existing Shareholders.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 3| December 2024 and up to the

Latest Practicable Date were:

Executive Directors

Mr. CUI Yuzhi (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. ZHU Liang (Chief Financial Officer)
Mr. ZHOU Xiaoyu (appointed with effect from 2 August 2024)

Non-executive Director

Mr. WANG Wenpeng (resigned with effect from 2 August 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Chi Kin

Mr. LU Xiaoma

Mr. Jl Yong (resigned with effect from 27 January 2025)

Ms. ZHU Min (appointed with effect from 27 January 2025)

Pursuant to article 99(3) of the Articles, any Director so appointed to fill a
casual vacancy by the Board or as an addition to the existing Board shall hold
office only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company
and shall then be eligible for re-election. Accordingly, Mr. ZHOU Xiaoyu and
Ms. ZHU Min shall hold office until the forthcoming Annual General Meeting
and being eligible have offered themselves for re-election as Directors at the

Annual General Meeting.

Pursuant to article 104(1) of the Articles, at each annual general meeting
of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years. Accordingly,
Mr. Wong Chi Kin and Mr. ZHU Liang shall retire from office by rotation
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and being eligible, have offered

themselves for re-election as Directors at the Annual General Meeting.

12  FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2024 Annual Report
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group

are set out on pages 85 to 90 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company, and each of the Independent Non-executive Directors and the

Non-executive Director has signed an appointment letter with the Company.

The appointment of the Directors, including the Executive Directors, and
the Independent Non-executive Directors, is effective from the respective
appointment date for an initial term of three years and is renewable for a
further term of three years. All of these appointments are subject to the

provisions of retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting has a service contract or appointment letter with
the Company, which is not determinable within one year without payment of

compensation, other than statutory compensation.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE FROM THE
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors (namely Mr. WONG Chi Kin, Mr. LU Xiaoma, Mr. ]I Yong (resigned
with effect from 27 January 2025) and Ms. ZHU Min (appointed with effect
from 27 January 2025)) a confirmation in writing in respect of their respective
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company has
reviewed the independence of each of these Directors and considers all the

Independent Non-executive Directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of each of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required (a) to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (b) pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or (c) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the

Model Code were as follows:

Interest in Shares

ESRIETBAEBRRG - HERORE#ES
FHERRAR

R-Z-_WE+—_A=+—H ARAZEERETE
THRABRA R RIS EEREEEE (TR R ES KB
EIEBEXVEB)BI&D - MR EREPES ()
ﬂ?&ﬁ E5 R E GO EXVERE 7R ESH FEME AR

RE AR RoK B (BIERIEE S KRB KA
Fﬂﬁ%ﬂm%ﬁi%‘{”ﬁﬁmﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ’\]%* KA k() IRIEE

KRG GBI B 352{F R B R s IR At B9 B A2 T A EY

BERAE - RORBERETNANG AR TRYR
PRI ROAR I
T 3

Approximate

Number of issued Shares percentage of

Name of Director Nature of interest held shareholding
ESEH REEME HACBITROEE MARET L
Mr. ZHOU Xiaoyu (“Mr. Zhou") Family interest 18,601,160 12.68

EFaE(ALE]) ENiY 3

Note:

15,528,160 Shares were held by BASEWAY CO LTD (“Baseway”) which is wholly
owned by Ms. GU Wei (“Ms. Gu"). Ms. Gu is taken to be interested in the 15,528,160
Shares held by Baseway. In addition, Ms. GU personally held 3,073,000 Shares.

As Ms. Gu is the spouse of Mr. Zhou, an Executive Director, Mr. Zhou is taken to be
interested in (i) the 15528160 Shares taken to be interested by Ms. Gu; and (i) the
3,073,000 Shares beneficially owned by Ms. Gu.
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BASEWAY CO LTD ([Baseway|) #5745 15528,1600% f% 5 + i
Baseway HEMLZ T([BL Lt N2EHEA - BRI WE MR
BasewayPTFFE 815,528, | 60M R A R HE A R © UbA » B L
& A$53,073, 0000 8217 ©

HREZLRRTESARLNERS - ARERRAR()EL
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 3| December 2024, the following are the persons/entities, other than

the Directors or chief executives of the Company at the relevant time,

who had interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares as

recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:

Report of Directors
EEGHRE

FERRRRORERAROOERS AR

RZZZWE+ZA=+—8 U TAL/EBR(ER
BINERR BN ESEREZ2THABBRIN RIRG K18

BRI A D CHNRBEE SRS

S & EXVER S

336fFABARRFENES S M ERIOKR

Number and

Approximate

percentage of

Name Capacity/Nature of interest class of Shares shareholding
=g B /EENE R0 BB R BMARET DL
Managecorp Limited Trustee 29,437,335 20.06%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
XFEA 29.437,3358%
TR (AFRE)
Foga Group(" Beneficial Owner 21,673,338 14.77%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
BESHEAA 21,6733380%
TR (FRE)
WANG Dongfeng Founder of the Discretionary Trust and 21,673,338 14.77%
Interest of Controlled Corporation(” Ordinary Shares
(long position)
R E PREGTAIBARZIEEE#ERO 21,673,338f%
EER(FR)
Beneficial Owner® 1,500,800 1.02%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
BESEEAO 1,500,800%
TER(FRE)
Foga Holdings(” Beneficial Owner 7,763,997 5.29%

BERBEAA

Ordinary Shares
(long position)
7,763,997R%
EER(FR)
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Number and

Approximate

percentage of

Name Capacity/Nature of interest class of Shares shareholding
=L SO/EENE Bt 8B K 85 BMAOREFT D
LIAO Dong!" Founder of the Discretionary Trust and 7,763,997 5.29%
Interest of Controlled Corporation Ordinary Shares
(long position)
BRO RREFTAIMARZ L@ #S 7.763.997h%
ERE(FR)
Foga Internet Development® Beneficial Owner 7,785,700 531%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
BEamEAA 7,785,7008%
ERE(FR)
YANG Tao Interest of Controlled Corporation® 7,785,700 531%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
158 Ry A Em© 7,785,7008%
ERE(FR)
Beneficial Owner® 1,340,000 0.91%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
BEDERAY 1,340,0008%
EEREFR)
KongZhong Corporation® Beneficial Owner 10,202,168 6.95%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
ZEFO BEamEAA 10,202, 1 688%
EBREFR)
Linkedsee Limited® Interest of Controlled Corporation 10,202,168 6.95%

L
Bk

A E R

i
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Number and

Approximate

percentage of

Name Capacity/Nature of interest class of Shares shareholding
=L SO/EENE Bt 8B K 85 BMAOREFT D
Linkedsee Group Limited® Interest of Controlled Corporation 10,202,168 6.95%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
Ry A B 10,202, 1 68%
ERE(FR)
WANG Leilei® Interest of Controlled Corporation 10,202,168 6.95%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
TEEFO Ry A B 10,202, 1 68%
ERE(FR)
Shanghai Changhui Internet Interest of Controlled Corporation 10,202,168 6.95%
Technology Co., Limited*® Ordinary Shares
(long position)
LERETBERSBRAFO Ry A B 10,202, 1 68%
EREFR)
Hexie Chengzhang Phase I Interest of Controlled Corporation 10,202,168 6.95%
(YIWU) Investment Center Ordinary Shares
(Limited Partnership)*® (long position)
MRk E—H(ES) Ry AE s 10,202, 1 68%
BREPL(BRAER)O EBREFR)
China Create Capital Limited Beneficial Owner 9,584,000 6.53%

PREIERERAR

EmfE A

Ordinary Shares
(long position)
9,584,000%
EEk(iR)

EFEREMAT FE@s024 17
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Number and

Approximate

percentage of

Name Capacity/Nature of interest class of Shares shareholding
=L SO/EENE Bt 8B K 85 BMAOREFT D
Baseway®© Beneficial Owner 15,528,160 10.58%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
BEamEAA 15,528,1608%
EREGFR)
Ms. Gu® Interest of Controlled Corporation 15,528,160 10.58%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
Bake© Ry A E s 15,528,1608%
EREGFR)
Beneficial Owner 3,073,000 2.09%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
HEamEAA 3,073,0008%
ERE(FR)
Notes: BEE
h Foga Group is wholly owned by Managecorp Limited as the trustee of Wang (@) Foga GroupHiManagecorp Limited ({E&Wang Trust®) ¥
Trust. Wang Trust is a discretionary trust set up by Mr. WANG Dongfeng, who FEA)EREEE o Wang Trust BEHERB L E(EAE
is its settlor and protector, with Managecorp Limited as trustee on |5 March T"ﬁ%/\ﬁﬁ% IRZE—=F=ZA+HAERINZ
2013. The beneficiary objects of Wang Trust include Mr. WANG Dongfeng HIER Xurc/\Z%Managecorp Limited ° Wang Trust&J
and certain of his family members. Mr. WANG Dongfeng and Managecorp gé%ﬁ%@%?fﬁ@?ﬁﬂi&ﬁ%;%ﬁ%ﬁi% o SR
Limited are taken to be interested in 21,673,338 Shares held by Foga Group. In %5 4 e Managecorp Limited# & £ Foga Group#% /8 HY
addition, Foga Holdings is wholly owned by Managecorp Limited as the trustee 21,673338R M P AR © EIM - Foga HoldingsH
of Hao Dong Trust. Hao Dong Trust is a discretionary trust set up by Mr. LIAO Managecorp Limited (fE/&Hao Dong TrustfIZsEA) 2 E
Dong, who is its settlor and protector, with Managecorp Limited as trustee on A ° Hao Dong Trust @B R & & (TERER T AFIR
I5 March 2013. The beneficiary object of Hao Dong Trust is Mr. LIAO Dong EARZT—=F=ATRAHRUNEEET - ZiT
himself. Mr. LIAO Dong and Managecorp Limited are taken to be interested in A BManagecorp Limited ° Hao Dong Trustf) Xz ¥/ &
7,763,997 Shares held by Foga Holdings. BREERAN o BR %A KManagecorp Limited i & £
#Foga Holdings$5 5 #97,763,997B8 10 P E B 1S ©
(2)  Mr. WANG Dongfeng was granted 500,000 RSUs under the Restricted Share Q) ARREERZZT—AEREBIBGIRMD BATEIE

Unit Scheme in 2016, all of which vested during the period from | December
2016 to | June 2018. Mr. WANG Dongfeng bought an aggregate of 850,800
Shares during the period from 26 June 2017 to |3 July 2017. He was further
granted 300,000 RSUs under the Restricted Share Unit Scheme in 2018, 50,000
of which vested on | December 2018 and 250,000 of which were cancelled
on 30 June 2019. The Company further granted 250,000 RSUs to Mr. WANG
Dongfeng under the Restricted Share Unit Scheme in 2019, 50,000 of which
vested on | July 2019, 50,000 vested on | January 2020, and 150,000 were
cancelled.
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3) Foga Internet Development is wholly owned by Mr. YANG Tao. Mr. YANG
Tao is taken to be interested in the 7,785,700 Shares held by Foga Internet
Development Ltd.

“) Mr. YANG Tao was granted 1,340,000 RSUs under the Restricted Share Unit
Scheme in 2016, all of which vested during the period from | December 2016
to | June 2018.

(5) KongZhong Corporation is interested in 10,202,168 Shares, representing
approximately 6.95% of the issued share capital of the Company. KongZhong
Corporation is 100% owned by Linkedsee Limited, which in turn is 73.13%
owned by Linkedsee Group Limited. Shanghau Changhui Internet Technology Co.,
Limited* (/8 FEEBERIE AR AR]) holds 57.32% of equity interest of
Linkedsee Group Limited. Beumg Wuxmg Rongcheng Technology Co., Limited.*
Gt AERBREAREMEAR) holds 100% equity interest of Shanghai
Changhui Internet Technology Co., Limited* (_E/8 % E & Bt MRHI B R A 7).
Beijing Wuxing Rongcheng Technology Co., Ltd* LR AZBMBEEHERE
EAR]) is 51.11% owned by Mr. WANG Leilei and 40.89% owned by Hexie
Chengzhang Phase Il (YIWU) Investment Center (Limited Partnership)* (F1z&
BRERZH(ES)IEREFRNL(BREE)). Hexie Chengzhang Phase Il (YIWU)
Investment Center (Limited Partnership)* (F&& K&K Z 8 (& B)REH L
(BRAE)) is 3% held by Beijing Hexie Xinrong Investment Center (Limited
Partnership)* (3£ Al -“ﬁi%&ﬁqmu(ﬁﬁEA%) Beijing Hexie Xinrong
Investment Center (Limited Partnership)* (3t RAFEMREEIRE R L(EREE))
is 0.1% owned by Hexie Tianming Investment Management (Beijing) Co., Ltd.* (0
BRAREEEJLR) AR A

6) Baseway is wholly owned by Ms. Gu. Ms. Gu is taken to be interested in the
15,528,160 Shares held by Baseway. Ms.Gu is the spouse of Mr. Zhou, an
Executive Director.

€3 The English name(s) has/have been translated from its/their respective Chinese
name(s) and is/are for identification purpose only.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company was
not aware of any other person/entity (other than the Directors or chief
executives of the Company at the relevant time) who/which had an interest
or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the
SFO.
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(3)  Foga Internet Development 5 #E 5 £ 2 BHA © HEEL
A HAR B Foga Internet DevelopmentPfT#5/ #97,785,700
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() ZEFFAI0202 168 BMMERE - HERAR
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2z  Linkedsee Limited Al f Linkedsee Group Limited
HH73.13% = - EEFELHMARNKAERAFRE
Linkedsee Group Limited 57.32%f%## - b R A 2 gt
RERBEEARRE DEFEFBBEHIAR AR 100%
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51.119% K% 4089% &z » MAKE_H(RS)REH L
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3% o L RMBEREBRERO(BRER)BMER
AREBE(LR)BRRRERO. %R ©

(6) BasewayFIEEZ T2EHAR o BMALTHE MHN Baseway
PFF A #15,528,1 60M AR D P HE R 2 - IR L R#TT
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 3| December 2024 and up to the Latest
Practicable Date was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or holding
company or any subsidiary of the Company’s holding company, a party to any
arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or children
under the age of 18 was granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt
securities of the Company or any other body corporate or had exercised any

such right.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save for their respective interests in the Group (including the PRC
Operational Entities), none of the Directors was interested in any business
which competes or is likely to compete with the businesses of the Group for
the year ended 3| December 2024.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Contractual Arrangements — F.
Chapter 14A Implications” in this annual report, during the year ended
31 December 2024, no related party transactions disclosed in note 37 to
the Financial Statements constituted a connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction which should be disclosed pursuant to Rules [4A.49

and 14A.71 of the Listing Rules.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Investment activities in the PRC by foreign investors and foreign-owned
enterprises shall comply with the Foreign Investment Law, the Regulation
on Implementing the Foreign Investment Law and the Special Administrative
Measures (Negative List) for the Access of Foreign Investment (the “Negative
List”). According to the Negative List, the webgame and mobile game
businesses currently operated by the Feidong PRC Operational Entities,
namely Feiyin, Weidong and Jieyou, involve in value-added telecommunications
services (except for e-commerce) and internet cultural business (except for

music), and restricted or prohibited foreign investors to invest in.

Furthermore, according to the Regulations for the Administration of Foreign-
Invested Telecommunications Enterprises, which were issued on || December
2001 by the State Council and amended on |0 September 2008, foreign
investors are not allowed to hold more than 50% of the equity interests
of a company providing value-added telecommunications services, including
internet content provision services. Internet content provision services are
classified as value-added telecommunications businesses, and a commercial
operator of such services must obtain an ICP Licence from the appropriate
telecommunications authorities in order to carry on any commercial internet
content provision operations in the PRC. A foreign investor who invests in
a value-added telecommunications business in the PRC must possess prior
experience in operating value- added telecommunications businesses and
a proven track record of business operations overseas (the “Qualification

Requirement”).

As advised by the Company’s PRC legal advisers, as at 3| December 2024,
no applicable PRC laws, regulations or rules had provided clear guidance or
interpretation on the Qualification Requirement, and there was no update to

the Qualification Requirement.
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Feidong Contractual Arrangements

In order for the Company to be able to carry on its businesses in the
PRC, including webgame and mobile game businesses, the Group has
in place the Feidong Contractual Arrangements between Feidong, on
one hand, the Feidong PRC Operational Entities and their respective
shareholders on the other hand, which enable the Company to
exercise control over the Feidong PRC Operational Entities, and to
consolidate the financial results of Feidong PRC Operational Entities in
the results of the Company under IFRSs as if they were wholly-owned

subsidiaries of the Company.

The table below sets out a simplified structure of the Feidong

Contractual Arrangements:

Company
AR
100%
A
E— Foga Tech
HHN
100%
oriwihore Contractual
A
d arrangements
BRI
Feidong | _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _
JES)
I
| Contractual
| arrangements
| BHRILHE
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Summary of the major terms of the structured contracts under the

Feidong Contractual Arrangements

The following sets out a summary of the major terms of the structured
contracts under the Feidong Contractual Arrangements which were in

place during the year ended 3| December 2024:

Exclusive options agreements dated June and July 2012, which
were amended and restated on |2 September 2013, were
entered into between each of the Feidong PRC Operational
Entities, their respective shareholders, and Feidong, under which
Feidong was granted an exclusive irrevocable option to purchase
from the respective shareholders some or all of their equity
interests in the Feidong PRC Operational Entities at any time, at

a nominal amount subject to applicable PRC laws.

ii. Exclusive business cooperation agreements dated 21 June 2012,
which were amended and restated on 2 September 2013, were
entered into between each of the Feidong PRC Operational
Entities and Feidong, under which each of the Feidong PRC
Operational Entities agreed to engage Feidong as its exclusive
provider of business support, technical and consulting services,
including network support, business consultations, intellectual
property development, equipment leasing, marketing consultancy,
system integration, product research and development and
system maintenance, in exchange for a monthly service fee. The
monthly fee is, subject to Feidong’s adjustment, equal to 100%
of the net income of the Feidong PRC Operational Entities
and may also include accumulated earnings of the Feidong PRC
Operational Entities from previous financial years. Pursuant to
the exclusive business cooperation agreements, Feidong also has
the exclusive and proprietary rights to all intellectual properties

developed by the Feidong PRC Operational Entities.
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Share pledge agreements dated July 2012, which were amended
and restated on |2 September 2013, were entered into between
each of the Feidong PRC Operational Entities, its respective
shareholders, and Feidong, under which the shareholders of the
Feidong PRC Operational Entities pledged all of their respective
equity interests in the Feidong PRC Operational Entities to
Feidong as collateral security for all of their payments due to
Feidong and to secure performance of their obligations under

the above-mentioned exclusive business cooperation agreements.

Irrevocable powers of attorney were executed in June and July
2012, which were amended and restated on |2 September
2013, executed by each of the shareholders of the Feidong PRC
Operational Entities to appoint Feidong as the exclusive agent
and attorney to act on their behalf on all matters concerning
the Feidong PRC Operational Entities and to exercise all of their
rights as registered shareholders of the Feidong PRC Operational
Entities.

For details of the Contractual Arrangements, please refer to the

section headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, (i) there were no new

contractual arrangements entered into, renewed or reproduced

between the Group and the Feidong PRC Operational Entities,

(ii) there were no material changes in the Feidong Contractual

Arrangements or the circumstances under which they were adopted,

and (iii) none of the structured contracts under the Feidong

Contractual Arrangement mentioned above has been unwound as none

of the restrictions that led to the adoption of structured contracts

under the Feidong Contractual Arrangements has been removed.
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Particulars of the Feidong PRC Operational Entities as at 31

December 2024:

Name of the Feidong

PRC Operational Entities

FEBHTE
REEBEE

Type of legal entity/
place of establishment
and operation
FEERER S
PRI R AR R

0 W\ i

Q“ W
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FHTECEEEN _F-_NF+=-A=+—~H
2715

Registered owners

BRBEA

Business activities

EXED

Feiyin

wy
R
ot

Weidong

Jieyou

R

Limited liability
company/the PRC

BREEDR/FE

Limited liability
company/the PRC

BEREERR,/HEH

Limited liability
company/the PRC

BREFERAE,FE

41.10% by Mr. Huang
24.70% by Mr. Liao
23.75% by Mr. Wang
9.50% by Mr. Zhuang
0.95% by Mr. Yang
=ILERHA1.10%
B ERR24.70%
ETCERA23.75%
HRERHI.50%
B EERA0.95%

41.10% by Mr. Huang
24.70% by Mr. Liao
23.75% by Mr. Wang
9.50% by Mr. Zhuang
0.95% by Mr. Yang
BRERB41.10%
BIRERR24.70%
ERERH23.75%
FEE AR H9.50%
B LR B0.95%

48.61% by Mr. Zhuang
20.94% by Mr. Wang
[7.13% by Mr. Liao
12.37% by Mr. Huang
0.95% by Mr. Yang
HELERH48.61%
ERERH2094%
BRERRHI7.13%
BIEARA1237%
B EERA0.95%

Development of webgames and

mobile games

MERAERB BB

Development and operation of

webgames and mobile games

FZEREEEERB B

Development and operation of

webgames and mobile games
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The Feidong PRC Operational Entities are significant to the Group
as they hold certain licences and permits that are essential to the
operations of the webgame and mobile game businesses in the PRC
of the Group, such as the ICP Licence, the Network Cultural Business
Permit, in the PRC. In addition, most of the intellectual property rights
relating to such businesses, including software copyrights, trademarks,
patents and domain names, are held by the Feidong PRC Operational
Entities.

The Feidong PRC Operational Entities have undertaken to the
Company that, for so long as the Shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange, the Feidong PRC Operational Entities will provide the
Group's management and the auditors of the Company with full access
to its relevant records for the purpose of procedures to be carried
out by the auditors of the Company on the transactions contemplated

under the Feidong Contractual Arrangements.

Requirements related to the Contractual Arrangements (other than

relevant foreign ownership restrictions)

As advised by the Company's PRC legal advisers, requirements
related to the Contractual Arrangements (other than relevant foreign

ownership restrictions) include:

Pursuant to Article 52 of the PRC Contract Law, a contract
is void under any of the following five circumstances: (i) the
contract is concluded through the use of fraud or coercion by
one party and thereby damages the interest of the state, (ii)
malicious collusion is conducted to damage the interest of the
state, a collective unit or a third party, (iii) the contract damages
the public interest, (iv) an illegitimate purpose is concealed
under the guise of legitimate acts or (v) the contract violates the
mandatory provisions of the laws or administrative regulations.
As advised by the Company’'s PRC legal advisers, the relevant
terms of the Contractual Arrangements do not fall within any of
the aforementioned five circumstances, and in particular, would
not be deemed as “concealing an illegitimate purpose under the
guise of legitimate acts” under Article 52 of the PRC Contract
Law, and do not violate the provisions of the PRC Contract Law
or the General Principles of the PRC Civil Law. However, there
are substantial uncertainties regarding the interpretation and
application of PRC laws and future PRC laws and regulations,
and there can be no assurance that any PRC government agency
will not take a view that is contrary to or otherwise different

from the above.
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According to the Contractual Arrangements, when a dispute
arises, any party to the agreements may submit such dispute
to the China International Economic and Trade Arbitration
Commission for settlement pursuant to the effective arbitration
rules at that time, and the arbitration award shall be final
and binding on the parties. Arbitration tribunal may decide
compensation for the equity interests and property ownership
of the on-shore subsidiaries, decide enforceable remedy or
demand liquidation of relevant business or enforceable asset
transfer. Any party is entitled to request the competent court
to execute the arbitration award when it comes into effect. The
courts in Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands also have the right
to grant or execute awards of arbitration tribunal and make
decision or execute temporary remedy on the equity interests
and property ownership of the on-shore subsidiaries. However,
pursuant to the laws of China, in the settlement of dispute, the
arbitration tribunals shall not be entitled to grant an injunctive
order to protect the property ownership or equity interests of
the on-shore subsidiaries, and shall not issue a temporary or final
liquidation order directly. Moreover, the interim remedies or
orders granted by the off-shore courts, including Hong Kong and
the Cayman Islands, may not be recognised or enforced by the
courts in China. Therefore, such terms in the above agreements

may not be enforceable under the laws of China.

Revenue and assets subject to the structured contracts under the

Contractual Arrangements

The revenue and the total asset value of the Feidong PRC Operational

Entities subject to the Feidong Contractual Arrangements amounted

to approximately RMBI 1.5 million for the year ended 3| December

2024 and approximately RMBI191.9 million as at 31 December 2024,

respectively.
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D.  Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements and the actions  D.

taken by the Company to mitigate the risks

Risk associated with the Contractual Arrangements
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Mitigation actions taken by the Company

R TR Z FREREBRITE

If the PRC government finds that the underlying
agreements of the Contractual Arrangements that
establish the structure for operating the business of the
Company in the PRC do not comply with PRC laws and
regulations, or if these regulations or their interpretations
change in the future, the Group could be subject to
severe penalties or be forced to relinquish the interests in

those operations.
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Pursuant to the relevant exclusive business cooperation agreements
under the Contractual Arrangements, at any time after the date
of such agreements, in the event of any promulgation or change
of any law, regulation or rule of China or any interpretation or
applicable change of such laws, regulations or rules, the following
agreements shall be applicable: If the economic interests of any
party under the agreements suffer a significant adverse effect
directly or indirectly due to the above change of laws, regulations
or rules, the agreements should continue to operate pursuant to
the original terms. Each of the parties shall obtain a waiver for
complying with such change or rule via all legal channels. If any
adverse effect on the economic interests of any party may not be
eliminated according to the relevant agreement, upon the receipt
by the other parties of such notice from the affected party, all the
parties shall promptly discuss and make all necessary modification
to the agreements to preserve the economic interests of the
affected party under the agreement.
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Risk associated with the Contractual Arrangements
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Mitigation actions taken by the Company

RA TR Z FRERRITE

The Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective
in providing operational control as direct ownership and
the PRC Operational Entities or their shareholders may
fail to perform their obligations under the Contractual

Arrangements.

BRATHEREKEEF T EX TN NERER A
BAFEGEERIERRABERBTERAOLHET
ZEME -

The Company may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets
held by the PRC Operational Entities that are important
to the operation of the business of the Group if the PRC
Operational Entities declare bankruptcy or become subject

to dissolution or liquidation proceedings.

ﬁ¢l%éﬁgiﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬂﬁkﬁ%%*%$ﬁ
AR RERRAREZAEHARERBELRENL
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According to the relevant powers of attorney, share pledge
agreements and exclusive business cooperation agreements under
the Contractual Arrangements, the arbitration tribunal may decide (i)
compensation for the equity interests or property ownership of the
PRC Operational Entities or their shareholders, or (ii) enforceable
remedy or to demand bankruptcy of the PRC Operational Entities
or their shareholders for relevant business or enforceable asset
transfer. Any party is entitled to request a competent court to
execute the arbitration award when it comes into effect.
RIBENZHET < BRRERRE  REAMHHANBRE
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Pursuant to the relevant exclusive option agreements under the
Contractual Arrangements, in the event of a mandatory liquidation
required by the laws of the PRC, the relevant Feidong PRC
Operational Entities shall sell all of their assets and any residual
interest through a non-reciprocal transfer to the extent permitted
by the laws of the PRC to Feidong or another qualifying entity
designated by Feidong, at the lowest selling price permitted by
applicable laws of the PRC.
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Risk associated with the Contractual Arrangements

BHRGERARR

Mitigation actions taken by the Company

RA TR Z FRERRITE

iv.  The Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny
by the PRC tax authorities and additional taxes may be
imposed. A finding that the Group owes additional taxes
could substantially reduce the consolidated net income
of the Group and the value of the investment of the

Shareholders.

BRALHAFTRTERGHEFARSE - AAIEEE
ERRINGTE  BURA KRB BB RIAE LG ERA
SEGAEMERRBRIREEEBRBRD -

v. Shareholders of the PRC Operational Entities may
potentially have a conflict of interest with the Group,
and such shareholders may breach their contracts with
the Group, or cause such contracts to be amended in a

manner contrary to the interests of the Group.

EREEAEEZEANAH @ X
BERAREEANSZBES HVMERIBHAGH -
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As advised by the Company's PRC legal advisers, they took the
view that the Contractual Arrangements will not be challenged by
the PRC tax authorities unless the PRC tax authorities determine
that such transactions are not conducted on an arm’s length basis,
provided that Feidong and the Feidong PRC Operational Entities
implement the Feidong Contractual Arrangements in accordance
with the terms of the structured contracts.

BIAR R R HBYERBERMER - RERBRENLEIETER
FhENGHEAT R KIS NFDTELEERAREEE
B HMIERERIES S N LHE - BRIFh BB BHEAETHRE
R G FER A FIRAEST -

The shareholders of the PRC Operational Entities have undertaken
to Feidong that during the period when the Contractual
Arrangements remain effective, (i) unless otherwise agreed by
Feidong in writing, the relevant shareholder would not, directly
or indirectly (either on his/her own account or through any
natural person or legal entity) participate in, be interested in,
engage in, acquire or hold (in each case whether as a shareholder,
partner, agent, employee or otherwise) any business which is
or may potentially be in competition with the businesses of the
PRC Operational Entities or any of its affiliates and (ii) any of
his/her actions or omissions would not lead to any conflict of
interest between him and Feidong (including but not limited to its
shareholders). Furthermore, in the event of the occurrence of a
conflict of interest where Feidong has the sole absolute discretion
to determine whether such conflict arises, he/she agrees to take
any appropriate actions as instructed by Feidong.
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Mitigation actions taken by the Company
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Vil.

The Group depends on the PRC Operational Entities to
provide certain services that are critical to its business. The
breach or termination of any of these service agreements
or any failure of or significant quality deterioration in
these services could have a material adverse effect on the
business, financial condition and results of operations of

the Group.

AEEKBETESEERRHETHEREM =B
$2 R% o (R FIRT e B B R B LE SR e

TAEBRGXEEREFEMEESEHAEE 2%
% MBRRREEREELEERATHNTE -

The Group conducts its business operation in the PRC
through the PRC Operational Entities by way of the
Contractual Arrangements, but certain of the terms of the
Contractual Arrangements may not be enforceable under
the PRC laws.
REBUEHNRHEAEBTREEERBNPBRET
HEBRKE  Ba0THE THRIRIETEDAR T8
BREM -

To ensure sound and effective operation of the Group after the
adoption of the Contractual Arrangements, during the period
when the Contractual Arrangements remain effective, the relevant
business units and operation divisions of the Group will report
regularly, no less frequent than on a monthly basis, to the senior
management of the Company on the compliance and performance
conditions under the Contractual Arrangements and other
related matters. In addition, the PRC Operational Entities are not
permitted to terminate the relevant exclusive business cooperation
agreements under the Contractual Arrangements unless Feidong
commits gross negligence or a fraudulent act against them.
RERAEERNRAERANLRREERIBR - REBE
ML FERHEARERBEERBEMREED BER A OTHE
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As advised by the Company's PRC legal advisers, save as disclosed
in the paragraph headed “E. Deviation from the guidance letter in
respect of the Contractual Arrangements” below, the Contractual
Arrangements were narrowly tailored to minimise the potential
conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations.
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Risk associated with the Contractual Arrangements

BHRGERARR

Mitigation actions taken by the Company

RA TR Z FRERRITE

vii.

For details of the risks associated with the Feidong Contractual
Arrangements, please refer to the section headed "Risk Factors — Risks

relating to our Feidong Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus.

If Feidong (or its designee within the Group) exercises
the option to acquire equity ownership of the PRC
Operational Entities, the ownership transfer may subject

the Group to substantial costs.

T IF B (S E R AR B A3 E A L) ITERB YK
BhECEER 2 RE  AIREERAESAKEE
EEREA o

Assets (including equity interests) registered under
shareholders of the PRC Operational Entities may be
subject to seizure, confiscation, freezing, auction or sale by
the People’s Court of the PRC due to litigation, arbitration

or other legal proceedings against such shareholders.
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According to the relevant exclusive option agreements under the
Contractual Arrangements, unless valuation is required under the
laws of China before exercising such option, the purchase price of
the equity interests shall be the nominal price, and if the relevant
governmental authorities specify a particular price as the purchase
price of equity interests, the purchaser shall return the surplus or
make up the difference to the vendor, provided that the vendor
and purchaser need to assume such tax incurred by such party or
levied on such party, respectively.
RIBENZHET < BRBRBEERDS - RIFTHERKHEDE
RERFEIN - BENBREERABERER - MNE AR
MPIELBEBEERSEMER @ METRRAMERER X
BN BHEERE  EETMESFERREAEASTEHENH
HEZBHKROTR -

Regular review to check whether such conditions exist, discover
such conditions and obtain specific details is made in a timely
manner. Feidong and the Feidong PRC Operation Entities and its
shareholders have signed Share Pledge Agreements pursuant to
which Feidong shall claim that the outstanding amount of money
from the Feidong PRC Operational Entities under the contractual
arrangement shall be paid in priority from the proceeds of auction
and sale of shares if the shares of the Feidong PRC Operational
Entities are auctioned.
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Deviation from the Guidance Letter in respect of the Contractual

Arrangements

Paragraph 16(a) (i) of the Guidance Letter GL77-14 published by the
Stock Exchange in May 2014 (as updated in August 2015 and April
2018) in relation to listed issuers using contractual arrangements for
their businesses (the “Guidance Letter”) requires that structured
contracts shall be narrowly tailored to achieve the issuer’s business
purpose and minimise the potential for conflict with relevant PRC laws
and regulations. As advised by the PRC legal advisers, according to
the FITE Regulations, foreign investors are not allowed to hold more
than 50% of the equity interests of a company providing value-added
telecommunications services (except for e-commerce). Furthermore,
to the best knowledge of the Company and the PRC legal advisers,
if a Sino-Foreign equity joint-venture enterprise applies for an ICP
licence, it will be subject to more stringent requirements or additional
requirements imposed by the MIIT or its local counterparts (the
“Relevant Authority”) as compared to domestic enterprises in the
PRC. As compared to domestic enterprises in the PRC, the Relevant
Authority will require more information, documents and other
proof from an applicant which is a Sino-Foreign equity enterprise
in various aspects, such as the identity and nationality of its ultimate
individual shareholders, the prior experience of the foreign investor(s)
in operating value-added telecommunications businesses and a
proven track record of its overseas business operations (collectively,
the “Additional Information”). No criteria, standard, guidance or
interpretation documents have been published by the Relevant
Authority on how the Additional Information will be assessed, whether
in qualitative or quantitative aspect, and on the extent or form of

requirements of the Additional Information.
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Chapter 14A implications

Feidong Contractual Arrangements

Waiver from the Stock Exchange and Annual Review

For the purposes of Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules, certain
transactions under the Feidong PRC Contractual Agreements constitute
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules. The Stock
Exchange has granted a specific waiver to the Company from strict
compliance with the connected transactions requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the Feidong Contractual
Arrangements. For details, please refer to the section headed

“Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.

The Directors are of the opinion that the transactions under the
Feidong Contractual Arrangements were conducted in the ordinary

and usual course of business of the Group.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the Independent
Non-executive Directors have reviewed the continuing connected
transactions under the Feidong Contractual Arrangements and
confirmed that these continuing connected transactions have been

entered into:

0) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Group
than terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent

third parties; and
(i) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on

terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the

Company and its shareholders as a whole.
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The Independent Non-executive Directors have also confirmed that (i)
the transactions carried out during the year ended 31 December 2024
have been entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions
of the Feidong Contractual Arrangements, (ii) no dividends or other
distributions have been made by the Feidong PRC Operational
Entities to the holders of its equity interests which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group, and (iii) there were
no new contracts entered into, renewed or reproduced between the
Group and the Feidong PRC Operational Entities during the year ended
31 December 2024. Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the
Board has engaged the auditors of the Company to perform certain
agreed-upon procedures in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transaction under the Hong Kong Listing Rules”
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants on
the aforesaid continuing connected transactions. Based on the work
performed, the auditors of the Company have provided a letter to the

Board confirming that:

nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditors of
the Company to believe that the disclosed continuing connected

transactions have not been approved by the Board;

2. for transactions involving the provision of goods or services
by the Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes
the auditors of the Company to believe that the transactions
were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing

policies of the Group;

3. nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditors of
the Company to believe that the transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements under the Feidong Contractual Arrangements

governing such transactions; and

4. nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditors of
the Company to believe that dividends or other distributions
have been made by the Feidong PRC Operational Entities to
the holders of its equity interests which are not otherwise

subsequently assigned/transferred to the Group.
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After the Listing Date and up to the Latest Practicable Date, among
the Founders, (i) Mr. Huang retired as Director on 27 May 2014 and
resigned from all positions held within the Group with effect from |
April 2015, but remains as a 41.10% registered shareholder of Feiyin
and Weidong and a 12.37% registered shareholder of Jieyou, (ii)
Mr. Liao retired as Director on 27 May 2014 and resigned from all
positions held within the Group with effect from | April 2015, but
remains as a 24.70% registered shareholder of Feiyin and Weidong and
a 17.13% registered shareholder of Jieyou, (iii) Mr. Zhuang resigned as
Director and from all positions held within the Group with effect from
I April 2015, but remains as a 9.50% registered shareholder of Feiyin
and Weidong and a 48.61% registered shareholder of Jieyou, and (iv)
Mr. Wang resigned as Director with effect from 30 September 2019,
but remains as a 23.75% registered shareholder of Feiyin and Weidong
and a 20.94% registered shareholder of Jieyou.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No Director or his/her connected entities had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to the business of the Group to which the Company, its parent
company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during

the year ended 3| December 2024 and up to the Latest Practicable Date.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into
or existed during the year ended 3| December 2024 and up to the Latest
Practicable Date.
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REMUNERATION POLICY AND DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

As at 3| December 2024, the Group had 46 full-time employees. The
remuneration to the employees of the Group includes salaries, bonus and
allowances. The Group's remuneration policies are formulated based on
the performance of individual employees and are reviewed regularly. The
Group offers competitive remuneration packages to the Directors, and the
Shareholders have authorised the Board to fix the remuneration of the
Directors (including but not limited to Directors’ fees) at the Company's
annual general meeting held on |6 May 2024. Other emoluments are
determined by the Board by reference to the Directors’ duties, responsibilities

and performance and the results of the Group.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the remuneration of five highest
paid employees during the year ended 3| December 2024 are set out in note

|3 to the Financial Statements.

The Group has also adopted Restricted Share Unit Scheme as long-term

incentive schemes of the Group.

THE RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT SCHEME

The Company has approved and adopted the RSU Scheme by a resolution
of its Shareholders on | September 2013 and a resolution of the Board on |

September 2013.

The Company has offered to grant RSUs to subscribe for 4,260,000 Shares,
2,500,000 Shares and 2,500,000 Shares to Directors and employees of the
Group on |3 September 2016, 4 June 2018 and 12 April 2019 respectively.

As of the scheme expiry date, no RSUs were outstanding.
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SUMMARY OF THE RSU SCHEME

2.

38

Purpose

Participants

Maximum
number of

Shares

Acceptance of

Award

To reward the participants of the RSU Scheme for
their contribution to the success of the Group, and to
provide incentives to them to further contribute to the

Group

(i) full-time employees or officers (including Executive,
Non-executive and Independent Non-executive
Directors), (ii) full-time employees of any of the
subsidiaries and the PRC Operational Entities, (iii)
any suppliers, customers, consultants, agents or
advisers that have contributed or will contribute to
the Company, any of its subsidiaries and/or the PRC
Operational Entities, and (iv) any other persons who, in
the sole opinion of the Board, have contributed or will
contribute to the Company, any of its subsidiaries and/

or the PRC Operational Entities

The maximum number of Shares underlying the RSUs
which may be granted must not in aggregate exceed
11,290,494 Shares, representing 9% of the number of
Shares in issue on the Listing Date (the “RSU Scheme
Limit"). The RSU Scheme Limit may be refreshed from
time to time subject to prior Shareholders’ approval,
but must not exceed 9% of the number of Shares in

issue as at the new approval date

A grant shall be deemed to have been accepted
when in respect of a board lot or an integral multiple
thereof and to have taken effect when notice is given
to the Company by the grantee in accordance with the
instructions from the Company pursuant to the RSU
management agreement, being an agreement entered
into between the Company and the relevant service
provider or any other service agreement to facilitate
the acceptance and vesting of RSUs to the grantees

from time to time
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5. Vesting Subject to the terms of the RSU Scheme and the
specific terms and conditions applicable to each Award,
the RSUs granted in an Award shall be subject to a
vesting period, to the satisfaction of performance and/
or other conditions to be determined by the Board.
If such conditions are not satisfied, the RSU shall be
cancelled automatically on the date on which such
conditions are not satisfied, as determined by the

Board in its absolute discretion

6. Remaining

life of the

[t shall be valid and effective till 31 August 2023, and
hence has expired on | September 2023

scheme

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the percentage of the aggregate
revenue attributable to the Group's largest customer and five largest
customers accounted for approximately 25% and 65% of the Group's total

revenue, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the percentage of the aggregate
purchases attributable to the Group's largest supplier and five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 19% and 49% of the Group's cost of revenue,

respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which to the best knowledge of the
Directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had

any interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 3| December 2024, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed

securities.
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EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2024

Pursuant to the announcement of the Company dated 3 April 2025, the
Company and South China Securities Limited, the Placing Agent, entered into
the Placing Agreement, pursuant to which the Placing Agent has conditionally
agreed to procure, as placing agent of the Company and on a best effort
basis, not less than six Placees to subscribe for a maximum of 25,000,000
Placing Shares at the Placing Price of HK$0.610 per Placing Share. The Placing
Shares will be allotted and issued pursuant to the General Mandate and is not

subject to further Shareholders’ approval.

The maximum number of Placing Shares represents (i) approximately 17.04%
of the existing issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
announcement; and (ii) approximately 14.56% of the issued share capital of
the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the Placing Shares.

The aggregate nominal value of all the Placing Shares will be US$2,500.
As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Placing is still in progress.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of its business and
the communities in which it conducts business. It has adopted a proactive
approach to environmental, social and governance responsibility. The
Environmental, Social and Governance Report can be found in the appendix

to this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable
laws, rules and regulations, in particular, those that have significant impact
on the Group, such as (i) the Copyright Law of the PRC, (ii) Provisions on
the Administration of Online Publishing Services, and (i) Guiding Opinions
on Promoting the Healthy Development of Internet Finance. The Audit and
Compliance Committee is delegated by the Board to monitor the Group's
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements
and such policies and practices are regularly reviewed. Any changes in the
applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention of the

relevant employees and the relevant operation units from time to time.

As far as the Company is aware, it has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business

and operations of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions as set out in
the CG Code. Save as disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report under
this annual report in relation to the deviations from code provisions C.1.6,
C.1.8 (some periods) and C.2.1 of the CG Code, the Company has complied
with the code provisions in the CG Code throughout the year ended 31
December 2024.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles provide that every Director shall be indemnified out of the
assets and profits of the Company against all liability and loss suffered by him
as such Director in any action, suit or proceeding, whether civil or criminal,
administrative or investigative, in which judgment is given in his favour, or in

which he/she is acquitted.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company during the
year ended 3| December 2024 or subsisted at the end of the year of 2024.

RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the

Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

AUDITOR

The Financial Statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 have been audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, certified public

accountants.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited shall retire and being eligible to offer
themselves for re-appointment, and a resolution to this effect shall be

proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS TERERMBEELFE

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, AARB#HRZE_RAFRAATHEA(EH=)E=2=
14 May 2025 to Tuesday, 20 May 2025, both days inclusive, in order to FA A=+ H(E2HD)(BEEEMA) EEHHERMD
determine the identity of the Shareholders who are entitled to attend and P EZLFE @ LETERLEKR T -_AFH A
vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held =+ H(EHZ)BTHARAREEREAFRGILTR
on Tuesday, 20 May 2025. All transfers of Shares accompanied by the relevant & ERZERRRER &0 © FrA KRG &P U E R HERE K
share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with the Company's ZRBFEREENR-Z_AFHEA+=RA(EH=)T
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F,  FHR=1+2ERX TARAINBEZTFELIREE
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong before 430 pm. on #FHF B AR AR (MILAEEERE IR RS T

Tuesday, |3 May 2025, DTHE) o

By order of the Board AEEG M

CUI Yuzhi EFxH

Chairman *E

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025 &8 —E-RAF=A=1+/\H
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, the global economy was deeply adjusted amid the interweaving of
multiple variables, with geopolitical rivalry, divergent monetary policies, energy
transition pains and technological paradigm changes forming a complex operating
ecosystem. In the face of the double pressure of shrinking demand and supply
restructuring, the Group continued to enhance its operational resilience through

strategic focus and dynamic adjustments.

On the one hand: in the field of web games, the Group strengthened its
operational efficiency through the collaboration of professional teams, while
carrying out forward-looking layout in the development of mobile games,
explored the “self-developing + publishing” dual-wheel drive model, and

promoted the upgrading of the product matrix to attract younger users.

On the other hand: leveraging on the synergistic advantages of the localized
supply chain, the Group built a trinity service system of “trade+technology-+finance”,
forming a coordinated development pattern of electronic device and
semiconductor business through precise strategic positioning and dynamic

resource allocation.

The Group recorded a total revenue of approximately RMB82.6 million in the
year ended 3| December 2024, representing an increase of 37.2% compared to
the year ended 3| December 2023.

In respect of the online game business, the Group’s game business mainly consists
of web games. The strategic focus on game business was mainly to optimise the
return on investment of these businesses. By cooperation with professional teams
to maintain continuous business operations of existing online games, the Group
continued to maintain the scale of game revenue, tried to increase investment in
games and related businesses, and actively explored new cooperation models for
game development, operation and distribution to improve the cost-effectiveness

of game business and seek more returns from future game business.
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In respect of the electronic device and semiconductor trading business, while
maintaining a continuous, long-term and stable cooperation with major suppliers,
the Group has also continued to provide relevant customers with a full range
of comprehensive supporting solutions such as supporting technical services
and supply chain financial services. Reference is made to the announcement
of the Company dated 16 September 2024. On |3 September 2024, Foga
Investment Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
obtained the licenses to conduct Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities from the Securities and Futures Commission
of Hong Kong, which will help the Group further develop its financial services
business. As at the date of this report, the Group is actively preparing the
establishment of a fund to conduct relevant activities. Meanwhile, the Group
attached great importance to the operations management and fund utilization
efficiency management of the electronic device and semiconductor trading
business, thereby further improving its delicacy management capabilities. The
localization of semiconductor development has led to a reduction in the capacity
of the imported semiconductor market. At the same time, localization has also
accelerated competition. In the face of challenges, the Group actively seeks and

implements solutions.

The following table sets forth the Group's income statement for the year ended
31 December 2024 as compared to that for the year ended 3| December 2023.

'Management Discussion And Analysis
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Year Ended 3| December
BE+T-A=+t—HLEE

2024 2023 _ Change
—EopaE —EB-=4F FEH DL
RMB’000 RMB'000 %

ARBFT — ARETT
Revenue WA 82,583 60,172 37.2%
Cost of revenue BRAR (77,986) (51,131) 52.5%
Gross profit EF 4,597 9,041 -49.2%
Selling and marketing expenses SHE RIS HEERS (14,863) (8.995) 65.2%
Administrative expenses TR (31,495) (27,165) 15.9%
Research and development expenses EAS (21,408) (26,619) -19.6%
Other income Ebzs 3,253 8,077 -59.7%
Other gains — net HA1E 8 1,217 13228 -90.8%
Finance cost EUR P IDWIN (1o1) (303) -66.7%
Share of profit of associates JEAGHEE 2 Al Al - 4,633 NM

Impairment (provision)/reversal of financial Tﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁkj&f%ﬁ'j{ﬁ@ﬁféﬁﬁ

assets measured at amortised cost - net (BtE) B EF58 (471) 10,488 NM
Loss before income tax MRATSB A& 8 (59,271) (17,615) 236.5%
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisgiEe,/ (Fx) 19 ) NM
Loss for the year FRER (59.252) (17617) 236.3%

Note: NM — Not meaningful.
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Revenue. Revenue increased by approximately 37.2% to RMB82.6 million for
the year ended 3| December 2024 from RMB60.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2023. The following table sets forth the revenue of the Group by
segment for the years ended 3| December 2024 and 2023 respectively:

EEENWmED N

BN - MABRBE-Z_=F+=-_A=+—HLEFE
MARKE602BETTIEMAB7T2%EHBE S _HF+
ZA=T—RILEFENARE6BEET o T&RET
HE_Z-_NFR-_Z_=F+-_A=1T—HIEFE
REEZRDHBEIDHUNA -

Year Ended 3| December
BE+-A=1t—HLLEE

2024 2023
—E —EC=F
% of Total % of Total
RMB’000 Revenue RMB'000 Revenue
1A A XL ON

ARBFT Bott ARETT B3k

Revenue by Segment toan:ik- a0l ON
— Game business — BRI EETS 12,297 14.9 12,661 21.0
— Electronic device & semiconductor business —BFRERFEREES 70,286 85.1 47511 79.0
Total Revenue FEAL N 82,583 100.0 60,172 100.0

= Revenue generated from the Group's game business was RMB12.3 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024, which remained relatively stable
as compared with the revenue of RMBI2.7 million for the year ended 31

December 2023.

= Revenue generated from the Group's electronic device and semiconductor
business increased by approximately 47.9% from RMB47.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB70.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2024. Revenue generated from the Group's electronic
device and semiconductor business increased mainly attributable to sales
growth of semiconductor, among which part of the memory sales growth
is attributable to the new business from the acquisition of a semiconductor

trading company in September 2024.

Cost of revenue. Cost of revenue increased by approximately 52.5% to RMB78.0
million for the year ended 3| December 2024 from RMB5I.I million for the
year ended 3| December 2023. Such increase was in line with the increase
of revenue, especially the revenue increase from sales of hard disk drives and

memories.
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Selling and marketing expenses. Selling and marketing expenses increased by
approximately 65.2% from RMB9.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 to RMBI14.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2024. Such increase
was mainly attributable to increased investment to the new game business team

which incurred higher expenses.

Administrative expenses. Administrative expenses increased by approximately
15.9% to RMB31.5 million for year ended 3| December 2024 from RMB27.2
million for the year ended 3| December 2023. Such increase was primarily due

to an increase of allowances for inventories.

Research and development expenses. Research and development expenses
decreased by approximately 19.6% from RMB26.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2023 to RMB21.4 million for the year ended 3| December 2024.
Such decrease was primarily due to cost control of new games research and

development expenses.

Other income. Other income decreased by approximately 59.7% from RMBS.|
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB3.3 million for the year
ended 3| December 2024. Such decrease was mainly due to a decrease of
interest arising from investments at fair value though other comprehensive

income and from deposits for the year ended 3| December 2024.

Other gains — net. Other gains — net decreased by approximately 90.8% from
RMBI3.2 million for the year ended 3| December 2023 to RMBI.2 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024. Such decrease was primarily due to
a decrease of gain from investments at fair value through profit or loss and
partially offset by a increase of gain from investments at fair value through other

comprehensive income.

Impairment (provision)/reversal of financial assets measured at amortized
cost — net. The Group recognized RMBO.5 million provision of impairment of
financial assets measured at amortized cost — net for year ended 3| December
2024 as compared to the reversal of impairment amount of RMBI0.5 million for
the year ended 3| December 2023, such change was mainly due to the reduced
recovery of previously impaired corporate loans receivables for the year ended
3| December 2024.
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Loss for the year. As a result of the foregoing, the Group recognised loss in the
amount of RMB59.3 million for the year ended 3| December 2024, increased
by 236.3% compared with the loss of RMBI7.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2023.

NON-IFRSs MEASURES — EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA

To supplement the consolidated results of the Group which are prepared
in accordance with IFRSs, certain non-IFRSs measures, including EBITDA and
adjusted EBITDA, have been presented. These non-IFRSs financial measures
should be considered in addition to, and not as a substitute for, the measures
of the Group's financial performance, which have been prepared in accordance
with IFRSs. The Group’s management believes that these non-IFRSs financial
measures provide investors with useful supplementary information to assess
the performance of its core operations by excluding certain non-cash and non-
recurring items. The EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA are unaudited figures.
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The following table sets forth the reconciliation of the Group’s non-IFRSs financial

measures for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, to the nearest

measures prepared in accordance with [FRSs:

TR AGEEREZ_FT_MER_F—
|9 755t 8 EAR
FHERHEK

=t BLEFENFFERYHREER
BB S REERRRNRERD

=F+=A

Year Ended 3| December
BE+-HA=+—HLFE

2024 2023
= LS —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARBTFT

Loss for the year FAEE (59,252) (17,617)

Add: o

Depreciation and amortisation 8 RS 22,384 30,221

Net interest income Bz 3R (1,495) (2939)

Income tax (credit)/expense FrE#i (K e), Fx (19) 2

EBITDA (unaudited) EBITDACREERZ) (38,382) 9,667

Add: hn

Investment related (gain)/loss BERE (W), B

Gain on disposal of investments at fair value through HERA T EF ABRNRE R (12,111) (53.799)
profit or loss

Changes in the fair value of investments at fair value AT EFABZHRE AT EED) 13,271 17,497
through profit or loss

Dividends received from investments at fair value WEE A FEFABRENRENRE (148) (163)
through profit or loss

(Gain)/loss on disposal of debt investments at fair value &R AT EFT AE M2 EMEER (2,901) 26,321
through other comprehensive income EERER () EiE

Interest arising from debt investments at fair value BRATFEF AR MW G ERERE (1,657) (4,641)
through other comprehensive income FREEHERF B

Loss on deemed disposal of investment in an associate 1R {ELE R —[HEEE A BRI EMER = 1,209

Adjusted EBITDA (unaudited) A EEBITDA(KREERK) (41,928) (3.909)
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FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 3| December 2024, the total equity of the Group amounted to
RMB484.4 million as compared to that of RMB590.3 million as at 31 December
2023. Such decrease was primarily due to the loss recognized for the year

ended 3| December 2024 and the decreased fair value of investments.

The Group’s net current assets amounted to RMB34 1.5 million as at 3|
December 2024 as compared to RMB390.2 million as at 3| December 2023.

Such decrease was the effect of normal business operation.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
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EMER

RBESRUBEER
As at 3| December
Rt=RA=t+—H
2024 2023
—E-QmEF —Bo=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AR®TT

Cash at bank and on hand ﬁﬁﬁ FFERE 58,307 | 14,054
Cash at other financial institutions REMSBEENRS 115,920 81,895
Net Cash REBE 174,227 195,949

The Group's total cash and cash equivalents amounted to RMB174.2 million as at
31 December 2024 as compared to that of RMBI195.9 million as at 31 December
2023. The decrease was primarily attributable to an increase of investments,

which resulted in a decrease in the cash balance.

The Group adopts a prudent cash and financial management policy. In order
to achieve better cost control and minimise the cost of funding, the Group's
treasury activities are centralised and cash is generally deposited with banks and

denominated mostly in USD, followed by RMB.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's gearing ratio (calculated as bank borrowing
divided by total assets) was 0% (as at 3| December 2023: 0%), which means the

Group did not have any bank borrowing balance as at 31 December 2024.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

As at 31 December 2024, RMBI34.6 million of the financial resources of the
Group (as at 31 December 2023: RMBI37.9 million) were held as deposits
denominated in non-RMB currencies. The Group will continue to actively manage

its exposure to various foreign currencies and monitor its foreign exchange risk

S EE = s

RZBZWNF+=A=+—0 ' 2EENHEERE
AREI346BET(R_FE_=F+=-_HA=+—H:
ARBEIZ7IEE ) UEARBEBTEN TR
B AEBKEEBGERHTRINE KR & EEE

exposure to better preserve the Group's cash value. HOMNER @ UEFERFAEENESEE -
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES -N::Ea
Year Ended 31 December
BE+-HA=1+—RHLEE
2024 2023
—E-NE —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TF T AREFT
Capital expenditures BEARAX
— Purchase of property and equipment —BEMELRRE 39 485
— Purchase of intangible assets —BEEFAE 529 136
Total st 568 621
Capital expenditures (excluding business combination) include the purchase of B A (MBEBSHF)BIEEE WX LEE (O

property and equipment, such as office equipment, and the purchase of intangible

assets, such as game license by third party developers.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 3| December 2024, the Group did not have any pledge of assets (as at 31
December 2023: nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant unrecorded
contingent liabilities (as at 31 December 2023: nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS
As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not hold any significant investments with

a value of 5% or more of the Group's total assets.
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HUMAN RESOURCES
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 46 full-time employees (as at 3|
December 2023: 58), the vast majority of whom are based in the PRC.

For details of the Group’s remuneration policies and training schemes, please
refer to the section headed "Remuneration Policy and Directors’ Remuneration”

contained in the Report of Directors in this annual report.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

Acquisition of Equity Interest in the Target Company

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated |0
September 2024 and 20 September 2024 in relation to the acquisition of equity
interest of Shenzhen Haihong Microelectronics Technology Co., Limited* (ZI/&
AT E FHAT AR A E)) (the “Target Company”) (collectively, the “Acquisition
Announcements”). Unless otherwise stated herein, capitalized terms used in
this section shall have the same meanings as those defined in the Acquisition

Announcements.

On 10 September 2024, the Company announced that the Purchaser (a direct
wholly-owed subsidiary of the Company) entered into the Sale and Purchase
Agreement with the Vendor, an independent third party, pursuant to which the
Purchaser agreed to acquire, and the Vendor agreed to sell, 95.0769% equity
interest of the Target Company, at the consideration of RMB22.80 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$25.08 million).

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the Acquisition
are more than 5% but all are less than 25%, the Acquisition constitutes a
discloseable transaction of the Company under Chapter |4 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and is therefore subject to the notification and

announcement requirements thereunder.

On 20 September 2024, the Company announced that the terms of the Sale and
Purchase Agreement had been fulfilled and the completion of the Acquisition
took place on 19 September 2024. The Target Company thus had become an

indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any other material acquisition or
disposal of subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures during the year
ended 3| December 2024.
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Enhanced Management Measures for Disclosable Transactions and Dealing in
Listed Securities

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated |0 July 2024 (the
“Announcement”).Pursuant to the Announcement, the Company will take certain
remedial actions to ensure compliance with its obligations under Chapter 14 of
the Listing Rules in the future. Following, the publication of the Announcement,
the Company increased manpower to carry out and monitor the calculations of
size tests, increased the frequency of spot checks by the internal control team,
and emphasized the importance of timely reporting notifiable transactions to all
employees. The Company provided training courses to the investment division on
the calculation method of size tests on both a standalone and aggregate basis. In
addition, the Company provided other relevant technical knowledge trainings in
relation to the Company's obligations under Chapter 14 and Chapter |4A of the

Listing Rules to enhance its compliance with relevant reporting duties.

RISKS AND HURDLES

The Group is exposed to a number of risks, including macroeconomic and
external risks common to most industries, as well as risks specific to the industries
in which the Group operates. The Group has formulated policies to ensure
continuous identification, reporting, monitoring and management of significant risks

that may affect its business development.

As to the online game business operated by the Group, the Group is mainly

exposed to the following types of risks:

0) industry policies and regulatory risks. Any changes and adjustments in
policies by governmental or regulatory bodies could affect the market, and
as the online game industry is subject to the supervision of various relevant

authorities, this may have an adverse impact on its business operations;

(i) the risk of declines in current game revenue and profitability. Due to
the life cycle of online games, changes in player’s preferences may cause

uncertainties around the Company's future business performance;

(i) the rapid market changes from existing webgames to mobile games and
the changes in the model of game development and operation due to the
rapid development of Al agents may have an adverse impact on its business

operations; and

(iv)  research and development investment is subject to uncertainty risks arising

from the input-output cycle.

52  FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2024 Annual Report

FHATREXZRE
Bk
ZRAAAREH A —_Z_MFLATBENAE([Z
DE] - REZDE - ARABERIE T HERERE
AR BRET EMRAUE4EAENEL - BZ
“iﬁﬁé*$ BB INAFHETT R EERERIH G
CIEMARENERNRERE  YRAERET
@ﬁaﬁliﬁxiﬁﬁtﬁﬁ WRFWEEM - AR EAKRE B

BErmEsNEEeER

RUABEBERAHFEENRBEARNFE T LFIR
12 oo O ARBRHEARRRIE EMRAEF 145

R 5B 1 AAT AP R 3 75 8 BE /O H b 48 B8 il A s o)

MiemEammE R EMNEST -

2 B I IR

AEEHRREZRAR  BREAKBITEFRAZEE

EEMING R - TEESHAREREENTTES

B ER - REBDHEBR - BERFERR - ®

T EENEETRHENEBERRERNTZENEX

[\ o

RAKBMRLENEREREBNS  ARETER

AV ol

() TEHREZERR - BUTHE é%%ﬁ%%
TAZBHARGAETEMHEN - PR
TEXHNZEEEHFINEE ET%AQH
ERBELEELTNZE

(iy BRABESRBARBMENTREAORR - AR
MEBAFEGREY  DTREFOELCIHE

BARRAARREEREEETHETEM

(i BEREEMRBZSESMORETSEEL R
AIS RN R RERERERAENELNE
XL AIEEUWHEBEEEETRRE
N4

(v) TR IR A th 1 0 2 2R ) T
B -



A B 2
‘ “u’

Management Discussion And Analysis

As to the electronic device and semiconductor business, the Group is mainly

exposed to the following types of risks:

0) policy impact. The structural changes in the supply chain caused by the

severe impact of U.S. sanctions;

(i) exchange risk. Since the Group's operations involve settlement in USD, it is

exposed to the risk of fluctuations in exchange rates of the currency; and

(i) inventory management risk. Due to the high value of electronic devices,
their market prices are volatile and vulnerable to external influences,
including macroeconomic cycles and force majeure, which may cause
inventory backlogs and capital occupancy, increasing financial and

operational risks

All of the above may have an adverse effect on the Group’s performance. In
addition, the Group is exposed to risks such as research and development cost
recovery efficiency and impairment loss due to invested companies’ under-
performance or contract party becoming insolvent, all of which will have an

adverse effect on the Group’s performance.

FUTURE PLANS

Looking ahead to 2025, the Group will still face many pressures, such as U.S.
sanctions, economic downturn inertia influence, industry competition, accelerated
product update and stricter policy supervision in the game industry. The Group
will continue to maintain active responses, optimize long-term and stable
investment channels and carry out financial investment business, expand new
areas of existing business and explore new artificial intelligence technologies. The
Group will convert emerging technologies and new market into new business
growth points. The Group will actively explore expansion opportunities for
business areas and implement various business strategies formulated. The Group
will continue to increase income sources, enhance operating efficiency, improve
cost control and strengthen cost management, so as to improve the return on its

assets.

As an ancient Chinese saying goes, “The journey ahead may be long and arduous,
but with sustained actions, we will eventually reach our destination and embrace a
brighter future”. The Group will continue to actively seek to expand and optimize
its business, innovate its business structure and improve management efficiencies
based on a perspective of sustainable development and a prudent, optimistic
and positive attitude, in an effort to deliver value for our stakeholders and

shareholders (“‘Shareholders”) in the long run.
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TEEBRE

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report in the

Company's annual report for the year ended 3| December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE COMPANY
The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance
to safeguard the interests of Shareholders and to enhance the corporate value of
the Group and accountability of the Board. The Company's corporate governance
practices are based on the principles and code provisions as set out in the CG
Code.

Save as disclosed in this Corporate Governance Report in relation to the
deviation from code provisions C.1.6, C.1.8 (some periods) and C2.| of the CG
Code, the Directors consider that the Company has complied with all the code
provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout the year ended 3| December
2024.

A.  The Board
l. Roles and Responsibilities of the Board
The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Group and is responsible for promoting the success of the Group
by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board has established
Board committees and has delegated to these Board committees
various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference which are published on the respective websites of the

Stock Exchange and the Company.
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The Board, after considering the advice and recommendations
from the Board committees, monitors the Group's operating and
financial performance and ensures that effective governance and
sound internal control and risk management systems are in place.
Significant matters which may have an impact on the performance
of the Group are reserved for the Board's consideration and

approval, including:

- approval and monitoring of all major policies of the Group;

= overall strategies and budgets;

- internal control and risk management systems;

- notifiable transactions and connected transactions (as defined

in the Listing Rules);

- nomination of Directors and Company Secretary; and

= other significant financial and operational matters.

All the Directors, including the Non-executive Director and
the Independent Non-executive Directors, have brought a
wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and

professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective operation.

To ensure that independent views and input are available to the
Board, the Company has established a mechanism which specifies
that all Directors have the right to obtain sufficient resources
provided by the Company to perform their duties, and upon
reasonable request, all the Directors can seek independent
professional advice at the Company's expense. The Board will
review the implementation and effectiveness of the mechanism

annually.

All the Directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information as well as the advice and services of the Company
Secretary, with a view to ensuring that Board procedures and all

applicable rules and regulations are followed.

All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith and
in compliance with the standards of applicable laws, rules and
regulations, and have acted in the best interests of the Company

and the Shareholders at all times.
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Delegation of Management Function

The day-to-day management, administration and operations of the
Group are delegated to the senior management of the Group. The

responsibilities delegated by the Board to the senior management

include:

= execution of overall strategies adopted by the Board;

- monitoring of budgets approved by the Board;

= implementation of internal control and risk management

systems; and

- preparation of the annual and interim reports and the results

announcements for the Board's approval.

Before entering into any significant transactions or commitments on
the Company’s behalf, senior management of the Company should
obtain prior approval and authorization from the Board. The Board

periodically reviews the above delegation arrangements to ensure

the appropriateness of such arrangements.
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Board Composition
As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Board consisted of six
Directors, three of whom were Executive Directors, and three of

whom were Independent Non-executive Directors.

During the year ended 3| December 2024 and up to the Latest

Practicable Date, the Board comprised the following Directors:

Executive Directors Mr. CUI Yuzhi (Chairman and appointed
as Chief Executive Officer with effect
from 8 December 2023)
Mr. ZHU Liang (Chief Financial Officer)
Mr. ZHOU Xiaoyu (appointed with effect
from 2 August 2024)

Independent Non- Mr. WONG Chi Kin
executive Directors Mr. LU Xiaoma
Mr. Jl Yong (resigned with effect from 27
January 2025)
Ms. Zhu Min (appointed with effect from
27 January 2025)

The biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 85 to 90 of

this annual report.

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant
to the Listing Rules. The Independent Non-executive Directors are
expressly identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the
Listing Rules. The Company maintains on its website and the Stock
Exchange’s website an updated list of all Directors identifying their
role and function and whether they are Independent Non-executive

Directors.

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and Mr. Zhou Xiaoyu is the
spouse of a substantial sharesholder of the Company, to the best
knowledge of the Company, there are no financial, business, family

or other material relationships among members of the Board.
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Upon their respective appointments, each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors has submitted a written statement
to the Company confirming his/her independence and has
undertaken to inform the Company as soon as practicable if
there is any subsequent change of circumstances which may affect
his independence. The Company has also received a written
confirmation from each of the current Independent Non-executive
Directors (namely Mr. WONG Chi Kin, Mr. LU Xiaoma and Ms.
ZHU Min) in respect of his/her independence in accordance with
the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers all current Independent Non-executive
Directors to be independent in accordance with the independence

requirements set out in the Listing Rules.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors
The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and

removal of Directors are set out in the Articles.

All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years. Any new Director appointed (i) to fill a causal
vacancy or (i) as an addition to the Board shall hold office until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall be

eligible for re-election by the Shareholders.

For details of the service contracts of the Directors, please refer
to the section headed “Report of Directors — Directors’ service

contracts” in this annual report.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for, amongst others,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
and reappointment of Directors and succession planning for the
Directors. For further details on the functions of the Nomination
Committee, please refer to the section headed “Board Committee

— Nomination Committee” in this Corporate Governance Report.
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Induction and Continuing Development for Directors

Each newly appointed Director receives formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment, so
as to ensure that he/she has the appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Group and that he/she is fully aware
of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant regulatory requirements. Mr. ZHOU Xiaoyu who was
appointed as a Director during 2024 has received induction and
training upon appointment. Ms. ZHU Min who was appointed as
a Director during 2025 has received induction and training upon

appointment.

Ongoing training and professional development are arranged by
the Group for the Directors to keep abreast of the latest trends
and issues facing the Group. The Directors receives information
related to the developments in the legal and regulatory regime and
the business and market environments regularly to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills required in performing of their

responsibilities.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, all Directors have
participated in appropriate continuous professional development
activities by way of attending training sessions arranged by
the Group's legal advisors and receiving reading materials and
updates related to corporate governance practices and directors’
responsibilities. The Company encourages all Directors to participate
in training courses for continuous professional development at the

expense of the Company.

Director’s Liability Insurance
Code provision C.1.8 of the CG Code stipulates that an issuer
should arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action

against its directors.
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The Company has always been in strict compliance with the
principles and requirements of the Listing Rules. As at 3| December
2024, the Company was not involved in any material litigation
liabilities that were incurred by any Director Each Director has the
necessary qualification and experience required in performing his
duty. The Company estimates that in the reasonably foreseeable
future, there is limited risk that there would be any material
event for which any Director shall take significant responsibility.
Notwithstanding the above, the Company has arranged for
appropriate directors’ and officers liability insurance in respect of

legal action brought against the Directors.

Board Meetings and General Meetings

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

Code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code prescribes that at least four
regular Board meetings should be held each year at approximately
quarterly intervals with active participation of a majority of
Directors, either in person or through electronic means of

communication.

The Board held 4 regular Board meetings during the year ended 3|
December 2024 for the discussion of the Group’s affairs, reviewing
and approving the financial and operating performance, and
considering and approving the overall strategies and policies of the
Group. In total, the Board held 6 Board meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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The attendance records of each Director at the Board meetings
and the general meeting of the Company (whether in person or by
means of electronic communication) held during the year ended 3|

December 2024 are set out below:

Name of Director

ESMR

TRERBE

EEERFEHE_T_NE+_f=1+—
HIEFEERTZESFEERZRARTRE
AE(ERBEUETEAMFN) MR
ZaT

Board meetings General meetings

ExgeR &N

Executive Directors

HITEFE

Mr. CUI Yuzhi (Chairman)

EFERE(EE)

Mr. ZHU Liang

RRFEE

Mr. ZHOU Xiaoyu (appointed with effect from 2 August 2024)
BT (= FE=WFN\F = AEZTE)

Non-executive Director

HHITEE

Mr. WANG Wenpeng (resigned with effect from 2 August 2024)
T ERE(E=F=—mF/\A=AFT)

Independent Non-executive Directors

BUIHPTEF

Mr. WONG Chi Kin

HEREE

Mr. LU Xiaoma

BEHSEE

Mr. JI Yong

RB&E

6/6 I/
6/6 [/

3/3 0/0

2/2 I/

6/6 1/

6/6 0/0

6/6 1/
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Practices and Conduct of Meetings

The annual meeting schedule and draft agenda of each meeting are
made available to Directors in advance. Arrangements are also in
place to ensure that Directors are given an opportunity to include

matters in the agenda.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at
least |4 days before the meetings. For other Board and Board
committee meetings, notice is given to the Directors and Board
committee members in a timely manner pursuant to the Articles

and terms of reference of each Board committee respectively.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least three days before each
Board meeting or Board committee meeting to keep the Directors
apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the
Group and to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board
and each Director also have separate and independent access to the

senior management of the Company whenever necessary.

Senior management of the Company attend meetings of the Board
and Board committees as and when necessary to supply information
on the Group's business developments, financial and accounting
matters, statutory and regulatory compliance, corporate governance

practices and other major aspects of the Group.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking and keeping
minutes of meetings of the Board and Board committees, which
record sufficient details of the matters considered by the Directors
and decisions made, including any proposal raised by the Directors
or dissenting views expressed. Draft minutes are normally circulated
to Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each

meeting and the final version is open for the Directors’ inspection.

The Avrticles contain provisions requiring the Directors to abstain
from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for
approving transactions in which any such Directors or any of their

associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) have a material interest.
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Chairman and Chief Executive
Code provision C.2.| of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by

the same individual.

On 8 December 2023, Mr. DENG Ge resigned as the chief executive
officer of the Company, and Mr. CUI Yuzhi, chairman of the Board and
an executive Director was appointed as the chief executive officer. As
Mr. CUI Yuzhi serves as both the chairman of the Board and the chief
executive officer, such practice deviates from code provision C.2.| of the
CG Code.

The Board considers that vesting the roles of both the chairman of
the Board and the chief executive officer in the same person has the
benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Company and
enables more effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the
Company. The Board believes that the balance of power and authority
for the present arrangement will not be impaired and this structure will
enable the Company to make and implement decisions promptly and
efficiently. Nevertheless, the Board will continue to monitor and review
the Company’s current structure and to make necessary changes at an
appropriate time. The Board will continue to monitor and review the
Company's corporate governance practices from time to time to ensure
compliance with the latest statutory requirements and professional

standards.

Board Committees

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board had four Board
committees, namely the Remuneration Committee, the Audit and
Compliance Committee, the Nomination Committee, and the Corporate
Governance Committee for overseeing particular aspects of the Group's
affairs. All of these four Board committees of the Company are established

with defined written terms of reference.

The majority of the members of each of the Remuneration Committee,
the Audit and Compliance Committee, the Nomination Committee,
and the Corporate Governance Committee during the year ended 31

December 2024 were Independent Non-executive Directors.
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The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s

expense.

l. Remuneration Committee

We have established the Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing
Rules and the code provisions under E.I of the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee comprised three members, of whom
two were Independent Non-executive Directors and one was
Executive Director for the year ended 3| December 2024 and up
to the Latest Practicable Date:

Mr. JI Yong (ceased to be Chairman and a member of the

Remuneration Committee with effect from 27 January 2025)

Ms. ZHU Min (appointed as Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee with effect from 27 January 2025)

Mr. WONG Chi Kin

Mr. WANG Wenpeng (ceased to be a member of the Remuneration
Committee with effect from 2 August 2024)

Mr. ZHOU Xiaoyu (appointed as a member of the Remuneration
Committee with effect from 2 August 2024)

The primary roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
include, but are not limited to: (i) making recommendations to the
Board on the policy and structure for the remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Company and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy, (ii) reviewing and approving the senior
management's remuneration proposals by reference to the Board's
corporate goals and objectives and ensuring that it is consistent
with contractual terms and are reasonable and appropriate, and
(iii) determining the terms of the remuneration package of the
Directors and senior management by reference to their time
commitment and responsibilities, employment condition in the

Group, and comparable companies.
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The Remuneration Committee held 2 meetings during the year
ended 3| December 2024 to, amongst others, (i) review the
remuneration policy and structure of the Company, (ii) assess the
performance of the Executive Directors and approve the terms of
their service contracts, (iii) make recommendations to the Board on
determining the annual remuneration packages of the Directors and
senior management of the Company, (iv) consider the remuneration
and the terms of the service contracts of the newly appointed

Directors, and (v) deal with other matters related to the foregoing.

The attendance records of the Remuneration Committee meetings

held during the year ended 3| December 2024 are set out below:
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EZE_NFE+ZA=+—HILEFEN
HE - FHMEEgHBITMAEE @ K
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%’@%%%ﬂi%%ﬁ&m&ﬁ%%é
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BENFEFMSERNESTeRUEBR

wm%g%éE%$W%M&%WA
AR T (v)BE 38 B2 AT 3 5 TH AR A ) EL b
£H o

BE_T_OFt_A=t—"BLFES
ﬁ%ﬁ%%a@@%Zﬁﬁﬁﬁ@T:

Meeting attended/

Committee members Total
ZEEME HEEE A
Mr. Jl Yong (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee) 212
RBRE(FWZESL/E)

Mr. WONG Chi Kin 2/2
HEREE

Mr. WANG Wenpeng (ceased to be a member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 2 August 2024) 1/
EXBEE(E—FE-_MEFENF AT BEFTHNESELE)

Mr. ZHOU Xiaoyu (appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 2 August 2024) 0/0

AEFEE(E —F_MFE)\H - ARZIRFNEZEEESHKE)

Please refer to note |3 to the Financial Statements for details of
the remuneration of the members of the senior management. The
remuneration of the members of the senior management by band

is set out below:

Remuneration band

EHEEREEABTHNFBEL2MYHK
WMEMFIZ - SREBABREEISH
FENES AT

Number of persons

FrNEE AH

Nil to RMB1,000,000 per annum 7

FFEARBZITEARR1,0000007T

Note: the above members of senior management include Directors and M&E J:?J:ﬁ%?&ﬁﬁ/\é\ BRERAAREEME
other members of senior management of the Company (including | MEAEEAR B —NUR-F_MN
resigned Director and other members of senior management who FRABEHESEMHEMBENRRERE

resigned in 2024).
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Audit and Compliance Committee

We have established the Audit and Compliance Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 321 of the
Listing Rules and the code provisions set out in paragraphs D.3 and A2
of the CG Code. The Audit and Compliance Committee comprised
three members, all of whom were Independent Non-executive
Directors for the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the
Latest Practicable Date:

Mr. WONG Chi Kin (Chairman of the Audit and Compliance

Committee)

Mr. LU Xiaoma

Mr. ]l Yong (ceased to be a member of the Audit and Compliance

Committee with effect from 27 January 2025)

Ms. ZHU Min (appointed as a member of the Audit and
Compliance Committee with effect from 27 January 2025)

The chairman of the Audit and Compliance Committee is
Mr. WONG Chi Kin, who holds the appropriate professional
qualifications as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.2| of the Listing

Rules.

The primary roles and functions of the Audit and Compliance

Committee include, but are not limited to:

(i) reviewing and monitoring the relationship of the external auditors
and the Group, particularly the independence, objectivity and
effectiveness of the external auditor, (i) providing an independent
view of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process and
risk management and internal control systems of the Group, (i)
overseeing the audit process and performing other duties and
responsibilities as assigned by the Board from time to time, (iv)
developing, reviewing and monitoring the policies and practices
on corporate governance, compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements and the Listing Rules, in particular, the corporate
governance functions set out in the code provision A2.l of the
CG Code, (v) reviewing the financial information of the Group
and ensuring compliance with accounting standards and reviewing
significant adjustments resulting from audit, and (vi) developing,
reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct applicable to the

employees of the Group and the Directors.
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For the year ended 3| December 2024, the Audit and Compliance
Committee has considered and reviewed the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and has discussed matters
in relation to risk management and internal control systems
and financial reporting function with the management of the
Company. The Audit and Compliance Committee considers that
the annual financial results of the Group for the year ended 3|
December 2024 have been prepared in compliance with the
relevant accounting standards, rules and regulations and appropriate

disclosures have been duly made.

The Audit and Compliance Committee held 4 meetings during the
year ended 3| December 2024 to, amongst others, (i) review the
Group'’s interim and annual financial results and reports, financial
reporting and compliance procedures and consider the report from
the internal auditor on the Group's internal control, (i) review the
Company's corporate governance policies and practices (including
but not limited to training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
compliance with the Model Code by the Directors, and the
Company's compliance with the CG Code), (iii) review the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, (iv) review
the effectiveness of the internal audit function of the Group, (v)
consider the re-appointment of the external auditors, and (vi) deal

with other matters related to the foregoing.

The attendance records of the Audit and Compliance Committee
meetings held during the year ended 3| December 2024 are set

out below:
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Meeting attended/

Committee members Total
ZEEHE HEEE A
Mr. WONG Chi Kin (Chairman of the Audit and Compliance Committee) 4/4
BEBREE(FERAHEEETE)

Mr. LU Xiaoma 4/4
[ hbid

Mr. Jl Yong 4/4
MEBERE

EFEREMAT FE@s024 OF



"'

"0
(

u, ", '

8

0

'Corporate Governance Report
TRERBE

68

The Group's annual results for the year ended 3| December 2024
and this Corporate Governance Report have been reviewed and
agreed by the Audit and Compliance Committee in a meeting held
on 27 March 2025.

Nomination Committee

We have established the Nomination Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the code provisions B.3 of the CG
Code. The Nomination Committee comprised three members, of
whom two were Independent Non-executive Directors and one
was Executive Director for the year ended 3| December 2024 and

up to the Latest Practicable Date:

Mr. CUI Yuzhi (Chairman of the Nomination Committee)

Mr. LU Xiaoma

Mr. ] | Yong (ceased to be a member of the Nomination

Committee with effect from 27 January 2025)

Ms. ZHU Min (appointed as a member of the Nomination
Committee with effect from 27 January 2025)

The primary roles and functions of the Nomination Committee
include, but are not limited to (i) reviewing the composition of
the Board; (ii) identifying, selecting and recommending to the
Board appropriate candidates to serve as Directors and the chief
executive officer of the Company, (i) recommending succession
planning for the Directors, (iv) overseeing the process for evaluating
the performance of the Board and the Directors, (v) developing,
recommending to the Board and monitoring a nomination policy for
the Group, and (vi) assessing the independence of the Independent

Non-executive Directors.
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The Nomination Committee held 2 meetings during the year ended
31 December 2024 to, amongst others, (i) review the structure,
size and composition of the Board and identify suitable candidates to
become members of the Board, (ii) review and assess procedures
for the nomination of Directors and composition of the Board by
reference to the Company's policy for the nomination of Directors
(the “Nomination Policy”) and board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) respectively, the summaries of which are set
out in the following paragraphs headed “Nomination Policy” and
“Summary of the Board Diversity Policy”, respectively in this section,
(iii) assess the independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors, (iv) consider the appointment of new Directors, and (V)

discuss other matters related to the foregoing.

The attendance records of the Nomination Committee meetings

held during the year ended 3| December 2024 are set out below:
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Meeting attended/

Committee members Total
ZE8HE HEEE A
Mr. CUI Yuzhi 212
EFHLE

Mr. LU Xiaoma 12
BEHEEE

Mr. Jl Yong 212
RBRE

The composition and diversity of the Board were considered by
taking into account the necessary balance of skills and experience
to provide effective leadership for the development of the Group’s
business. The Executive Directors, the Non-executive Director
and the Independent Non-executive Directors possess professional
knowledge in management, IT, game investment, finance and
regulatory areas respectively with broad and extensive experience

in business advisory services and management.

Where vacancies on the Board arise, the Nomination Committee
will carry out the selection process in accordance with the
Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy by making

reference to a range of diversity perspectives.
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Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Board Diversity Policy was adopted by the Company pursuant
to the resolutions of the Board. The Board Diversity Policy aims
to set out the approach to assess the diversity of the Board.
The Board Diversity Policy applies to the Board but not to the
diversity in relation to the employees of the Company, nor the
board of directors or the employees of any subsidiary of the
Company. In reviewing and assessing the composition of the Board,
the Nomination Committee will consider a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge,
industry expertise and length of service. The ultimate decision will
be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board. The Nomination Committee will review the
Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness
of the Board Diversity Policy and will discuss any revisions that may
be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval. For the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Board comprised six Directors, all were male. The Company
values gender diversity, and the Board targeted to appoint at least
one Director of different gender no later than 31 December 2024
to comply with the diversity requirement set out in Rule 13.92 of
the Listing Rules. The Company aims to maintain an appropriate
balance of diversity of the Board in supporting the attainment of its

strategic objectives and sustainable development.

Compliance With Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules

As at 31 December 2024, despite the Company’s efforts, additional
time was still required for the Company to identify suitable female
candidates that meet relevant criteria as Director. The Board
targeted to identify and appoint a suitable female candidate as
Director not later than 31 March 2025. On 27 January 2025, the
Company appointed Ms. Zhu Min as an Independent Non-executive

Director, thus having complied with the above Rule 13.92.

In addition, as of 3| December 2024, the percentage of female
members in all employees (including senior management) of the
Company was 38.3%. The Company will continue to take gender
diversity into consideration during recruitment, identify and select
potential female talents with different skills, experience and

knowledge to join the Company.
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Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy was adopted by the Company pursuant
to Board resolutions. The Nomination Committee will review the
Nomination Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of
the Nomination Policy and will discuss any revisions that may be
required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval. The Nomination Policy is set out as

below:
Objective
This policy sets out the criteria and procedures to be
adopted when considering candidates to be appointed or re-
elected as Directors.

2. Selection Criteria
The factors listed below would be used as reference by
the Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a
proposed candidate:
. Reputation for integrity;
. Accomplishment and experience in the financial

services industry, in particular, in the securities,

commodities and futures markets;

. Commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest;
. Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited

to gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional

experience, skills, knowledge and length of service; and
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Requirement for the Board to have Independent
Non-executive Directors in accordance with the
Listing Rules and whether the candidates would
be considered independent by reference to the

independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be

exhaustive and decisive.

3. Nomination Process

3.1.  Nomination by the Nomination Committee

3.0.1

The Nomination Committee reviews the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board periodically and make
recommendation on any proposed changes to the

Board;

When it is necessary to fill a causal vacancy or appoint
an additional Director, the Nomination Committee
identifies or selects candidates as recommended to the
Committee, with or without assistance from external
agencies or the Company, pursuant to the criteria set

out in section 2 above;

If the process yields two or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee shall rank them by order
of preference based on the needs of the Company
and reference check of each candidate (where

applicable);

The Nomination Committee makes recommendation
to the Board, including the terms and conditions of

the appointment;

The Board deliberates and decides on the appointment
of Directors based upon the recommendation of the

Nomination Committee; and

72  FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2024 Annual Report
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3.1.6
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In order to provide information of the candidates
nominated by the Board to stand for election at
a general meeting, a circular will be sent to the
Shareholders. The names, brief biographies (including
qualifications and relevant experience), independence,
proposed remuneration and any other information
of the proposed candidates as required pursuant to
the Listing Rules and other applicable laws, rules and

regulations will be included in the circular.

3.2, Re-election of Director at Annual General Meeting

321

322

323

In accordance with the Articles, every Director shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years and shall be eligible for re-election

at each annual general meeting;

The Nomination Committee shall review the overall
contribution and service to the Company of the
retiring Director. The Nomination Committee
shall also review the expertise and professional
qualifications of the retiring Director who has
offered himself/herself for re-election at the annual
general meeting to determine whether such Director
continues to meet the criteria as set out in section 2

above; and

Based on the review made by Nomination Committee,
the Board shall make recommendations to the
Shareholders on candidates standing for re-election
at the annual general meeting of the Company, and
provide the available biographical information of the
retiring Director in accordance with the Listing Rules
to enable the Shareholders to make the informed
decision on the re-election of such candidates at

annual general meeting of the Company.
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3.3, Nomination by Shareholders

The Shareholders may propose a person for election as a
Director in accordance with the Articles, the Listing Rules and
applicable law, details of which are set out in the “Procedures
for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as a
Director” of the Company (please refer to the website of

the Company).

Corporate Governance Committee

The Company has established the Corporate Governance
Committee on 22 May 2020. The Corporate Governance
Committee comprised three members, of whom two were
Independent Non-executive Directors and one was Executive
Director for the year ended 3| December 2024 and up to the
Latest Practicable Date:

Mr. WONG Chi Kin (Chairman of the Corporate Governance

Committee)

Mr. CUI Yuzhi

Mr. J | Yong (ceased to be a member of the Corporate Governance

Committee with effect from 27 January 2025)

Ms. ZHU Min (appointed as a member of the Corporate
Governance Committee with effect from 27 January 2025)

The primary roles and functions of the Corporate Governance
Committee include, but are not limited to: (i) formulate and review
the Company's corporate governance policies and practices, and
make recommendations to the Board, (i) review and monitor the
training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management, (i) review and monitor the Company's
compliance with the law and regulatory requirements, policies and
practices, (iv) formulate, review and monitor codes of conduct and
compliance manuals (if any) applicable to employees and Directors,
(v) make recommendations to the Board on major projects of
the Company, and (vi) review the Company's compliance with
the code provisions contained in the CG Code and disclosure of
corporate governance reports contained in the annual reports of
the Company. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the

Corporate Governance Committee held | meeting.
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The attendance records of the Corporate Governance Committee BE-_Z_WF+_A=1+—HIFEL
meeting held during the year ended 3| December 2024 are set out THLEXERZTESSR 2 HELEN
below. T

Meeting attended/
Committee members Total
EZEEHE HEEE A
Mr. WONG Chi Kin (Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee) [/
BEBREE(ERELRZEETE)
Mr. CUI Yuzhi 1/1
EFHLE
Mr. JI Yong [/
MBRE

Model Code for Securities Transactions D. EBFXZNEESE

The Company has adopted the code of conduct and procedures governing
Directors’ securities transactions in stringent compliance with the Model
Code. Specific enquiries had been made to all the Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they had complied with the Model Code
during the year ended 3| December 2024.

The Company has also established its management system on trading
securities of the Company by its employees, which is not less exacting than
the Model Code, for securities transactions by employees who are likely to
possess inside information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance

of such system by the employees was noted by the Company.
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The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Group and the Company for the year ended 3|
December 2024.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other financial disclosures required by the

Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The senior management has provided such explanation and information to
the Board as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed

assessment of the financial information and position of the Group.

External Auditor and Auditor’s Remuneration
The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities for the Financial Statements is set out in the “Independent

Auditor's Report” from pages 91 to 97 of this annual report.

The external auditor of the Company will be invited to attend the annual
general meeting to answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the
preparation and content of the independent auditor’s report and the

auditor's independence.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the fees paid/payable to the
Company's external auditor ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited for the

audit service was RMBI.8 million.

Fees paid/payable to the Company’s external auditor ZHONGHUI ANDA
CPA Limited for non-audit services provided to the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 was RMBO0.2 million. Such non-audit services
mainly included professional service in relation to the review of the 2024

interim report of the Company.
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Risk Management and Internal Control
The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control

systems of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems include a
well-established organisational structure with clearly defined lines of
responsibility and authority. Such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the Group's business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against

material misstatement or loss.

The day-to-day departmental operations are entrusted to the individual
department which is accountable for its own conduct and performance
and is required to operate its own department’s business within the
scope of the delegated authority and to implement and strictly adhere
to the strategies and policies set by the Board from time to time. Each
department is also required to keep the senior management informed of
material developments of the department's business and implementation

of the policies and strategies set by the Board on a regular basis.

The Group has systems and procedures in place to identify, control and
report on major types of risks the Group encounters. Each department is
responsible for the assessment of individual type of risks arising under its
areas of responsibilities. Relevant risks identified are reported to the Board
for overseeing and monitoring the respective types of risks. The Group's
risk management and internal control systems are monitored and reviewed
regularly (at least three times a year) by the Board, which covers the full

financial year.

During the year ended 3| December 2024, the Board has reviewed the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group. The review has covered the financial, operational and compliance
and risk management aspects of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems implemented during the year ended 31 December 2024.
The review included discussions with the management of the Company,
its external and internal auditors. In addition, the Board has also reviewed
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the

Company's accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.

The Board was satisfied with the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk

management and internal control systems of the Group.
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The Group has put in place a robust framework for the disclosure of
inside information in compliance with the SFO. The framework sets out
the procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of
inside information in a timely manner so as to allow all the stakeholders to
apprehend the latest position of the Group. Under the procedures, any
Director or employee of the Company (especially the senior management
and unit heads, etc.) who is aware of any potential inside information
shall initiate the reporting procedures as soon as practicable. The Board is
responsible for assessing and determining the nature of such information
and for making relevant disclosure in accordance with the SFO and the
Listing Rules. The framework and its effectiveness are subject to review on

a regular basis according to established procedures.

Internal Audit

The Group has in place an internal audit function. The primary role of the
internal audit function is to help the Board and the senior management
of the Group to protect the assets, reputation and sustainability of the
Group. The internal audit function provides independent and objective
review on the design and operational effectiveness of the Group's
framework of internal control and risk management systems, as well as the
Group'’s governance practices. The internal audit function of the Group
is independent of the internal control systems of the Group. The internal
audit function also reviews the Company's management's action plans in
relation to audit findings and verifies the adequacy and effectiveness of the

mitigating controls before formally closing the issues.

The internal audit function of the Group reports results and findings in its
audit work together with assessment of the overall risk management and
internal control framework to the Audit and Compliance Committee as

appropriate.
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Investor Relations and Shareholders Communications

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential to enhancing investor relations and their understanding to
the Group's business performance and strategies. The Company also
recognises the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to

make informed investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for communication
between the Board and the Shareholders. The chairman of the Board, the
chairman of each of the Remuneration Committee, Audit and Compliance
Committee and Nomination Committee, or, in their absence, other
members of the respective Board committees shall attend and be available

to answer questions at the general meetings of the Company.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on |6 May 2024,
separate resolution was proposed by the chairman in respect of each
separate issue which was itemised on the notice convening the annual
general meeting. Procedures for conducting a poll were explained by the
chairman at the annual general meeting of the Company. The chairman
of the Board and the chairman of each of the Board committees were
present to answer questions from the Shareholders. Representatives
from external auditors of the Company also attended the annual general
meeting of the Company. All resolutions were voted by way of poll.
The Company appointed its Hong Kong branch share registrar to act as
scrutineers of the annual general meeting of the Company and to ensure
that votes cast at the meetings were properly counted and recorded, and
the Company has announced the poll results of the annual general meeting
of the Company on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company in accordance with the Articles and the Listing Rules. Save
as disclosed above, no other general meeting of the Company was held

during the year ended 3| December 2024.
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To promote effective communication with Shareholders and investors, the
Company maintains a website at www.forgame.com.cn, with a dedicated
investor relations section and where information and updates on the
Group’s business developments and operations, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available for

public access.

The Company has established a shareholders’ communication policy
since 3 October 2013 to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns
are appropriately addressed and will review it on a regular basis to
ensure its effectiveness. During the year, the Company has reviewed
the shareholders’ communication policy and confirmed that it has been

effectively implemented.

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong (presently at Unit 3, 12/F, Trust Centre, 912 Cheung Sha Wan Road,
Lai Chi Kok, Kowloon Hong Kong) by post for the attention of the Board

Secretarial Department of the Company.

Upon receipt of written enquiries from Shareholders, the Company will

make responses to the Shareholders as soon as possible.

Dividends Policy

The Company's policy on payment of dividends (the “Dividend Policy”)
was adopted by the Company pursuant to the resolutions of the Board.
The Company will review the Dividend Policy, as appropriate, to ensure
the effectiveness of the Dividend Policy. The Dividend Policy is set out as

below:

Subject to the Cayman Islands Company Law and the Articles, the
Company may declare dividends in any currency through a general
meeting, but no dividend may be declared in excess of the amount
recommended by the Board. The Articles provide that dividends may be
declared and paid out of the profit, realized or unrealized, or from any
reserve set aside from profits which the Directors determine is no longer
needed. With the sanction of an ordinary resolution, dividends may also be
declared and paid out of a share premium account or any other fund or
account which can be authorized for this purpose in accordance with the

Cayman Islands Company Law.
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Except as provided under the terms of a particular issue, or with respect
to the rights attached to any Shares, (i) all dividends will be declared and
paid according to the amounts paid up on the Shares in respect of which
the dividend is paid, but no amount paid up on a Share in advance of
calls may for this purpose be treated as paid up on the Share; and (ii) all
dividends will be apportioned and paid pro rata according to the amount
paid up on the Shares during any portion or portions of the period in
respect of which the dividend is paid. The Directors may deduct from
any dividend or other monies payable to any of the Shareholders or in
respect of any Shares all sums of money (if any) presently payable by such

Shareholder to the Company on account of calls or otherwise.

In addition, the declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of the

Board, and the amounts of dividends actually declared and paid will also

depend on:

. our general business conditions;

. our financial results;

0 our capital requirements;

. interests of the Shareholders; and

0 any other factors which the Board may deem relevant.

The future dividend payments to the Shareholders will also depend upon
the availability of dividends received from our PRC subsidiaries. PRC laws
require that dividends be paid out of the net profit calculated according
to PRC accounting principles. PRC laws also require PRC enterprises
to set aside part of their net profit as statutory reserves before they
distribute the net proceeds. These statutory reserves are not available for

distribution as cash dividends.

The Board has the absolute discretion in whether to declare any dividend
for any year and, if it decides to declare a dividend, how much dividend to

declare.
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The Company will continue to re-evaluate the Dividend Policy in light
of the financial condition and the prevailing economic climate. However,
the determination to pay dividends will be made at the discretion of the
Board and will be based upon the Company's earnings, cash flow, financial
condition, capital requirements, statutory fund reserve requirements and
any other conditions that the Directors deem relevant. The payment
of dividends may also be limited by legal restrictions and by financing
agreements that the Company may enter into in the future. There can be
no assurance that dividends of any amount will be declared or distributed

in any year.

Shareholder Rights

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution is
proposed at Shareholders’ meetings on each substantial separate issue,
including the election of individual Director. Meanwhile, the procedures
for Shareholders to (i) convene an extraordinary general meeting, (ii)
direct their enquiries to the Board and (iii) put forward proposals at

Shareholders’ meetings are set out below.

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to
the Company's Hong Kong branch share registrar, namely Tricor Investor
Services Limited at |7/F, Far East Finance Centre, |6 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong. Shareholders who wish to put enquiries to the Board can send
their enquiries to the Company Secretary in writing to the Company's
principal place of business in Hong Kong, who will ensure these enquiries
to be properly directed to the Board. Shareholders may at any time make
a request for the Company's information to the extent such information
is publicly available. Corporate communications of the Company will be
provided to Shareholders in plain language and in both English and Chinese
versions to facilitate Shareholders’ understanding. Shareholders have
the right to choose the language (either English or Chinese) or means
of receipt of the corporate communications (in hard copy or through

electronic means).
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General meetings shall be convened on the written requisition of any two
or more Shareholders deposited at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong, specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company, which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. General meetings may also be convened on the written
requisition of any one Shareholder which is a recognized clearing house (or
its nominee(s)) deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong, specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist,
provided that such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company,
which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
The same procedures also apply to any proposal to be put forward at
the general meetings. If the Directors do not within 2| days from the
date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting
to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or
any of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights
of all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner,
as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the
Directors provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after
the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of

the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

All resolutions put forward at a general meeting will be taken by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules. In addition, the poll results will be posted on
the respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange after the

Shareholders’ meeting in the manner as required by the Listing Rules.
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The Company engages an external service provider to provide secretarial
services and appointed Sir KWOK Siu Man KR (“Sir Seaman Kwok") as
the Company Secretary.

Sir Seaman Kwok's main contact person at the Company is Mr. ZHU
Liang (Chief Financial Officer). All Directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary to ensure that the Board procedures

and all applicable laws, rules and regulations, are followed.

Sir Seaman Kwok is a fellow member of each of the Chartered
Governance Institute in England, The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute, The Institute of Financial Accountants in England, the Institute
of Public Accountants in Australia, The Association of Hong Kong
Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute of Directors and the Hong Kong
Society of Registered Financial Planners, as well as a member of the Hong
Kong Securities and Investment Institute. For the financial year ended
31 December 2024, Sir Seaman Kwok had complied with Rule 329 of
the Listing Rules by taking no less than |5 hours of relevant professional

training.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

CUI Yuzhi, aged 59, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
on 7 May 2020. With effect from 4 June 2021, Mr. Cui was redesignated as a
Non-executive Director, and was appointed as the chairman of the Board and
the authorised representative of the Company. He was further redesignated as an
Executive Director and appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
with effect from 25 August 2021. Mr. Cui ceased to act as the Chief Executive
Officer on 17 December 202! but was re-appointed as the Chief Executive
Officer with effect from 8 December 2023.

Mr. Cui is a seasoned independent investment advisor. Mr. Cui has more than 20
years' experience in finance with deep expertise in international capital market
and enterprise operations. Mr. Cui held senior positions at various organizations,
including the executive president of Tendcare Medical Group, the Portfolio
Manager at Atlantis Investment Hong Kong, the general manager of investment
and operations at China Dili Group (formerly known as Renhe Commercial
Holdings Company Limited), whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1387.HK), the chief financial officer of Zhong An Group Limited
(formerly known as Zhong An Real Estate Limited), whose shares are listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 672. HK), the chief financial officer of Excellence
Group, the chief financial officer of Treasury Holdings China Limited and the
vice president of Shanghai Forte Group. Since 2016, Mr. Cui has served as an
independent non-executive director, the chairman of the audit committee and
member of the nomination committee of Sino ICT Holdings Limited, the shares
of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 365.HK). Mr. Cui also

serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Cui holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Applied Physics from the University
of Notre Dame in the United States (graduated with highest honor), and a
Master of Business Administration degree from the University of Chicago Booth

School of Business in the United States.

ZHU Liang, aged 57, was appointed as a joint Chief Financial Officer and Vice
President of the Company on 7 May 2020. He became the Chief Financial Officer
after the other joint chief financial officer resigned on 30 June 2020. Mr. Zhu was
appointed as an Executive Director with effect from |3 October 2020.
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From 1990 to 1993, Mr. Zhu served as a statistician at Wuhan Iron and Steel
(Group) Corporation in the PRC. From 1994 to 2012, Mr. Zhu assumed various
positions, such as an accountant, financial officer, director and legal general
manager at Synnex Technology International Corporation, a company principally
engaged in the distribution of information, communication, consumer product, and
semiconductor products, and the shares of which are listed on the Taiwan Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2347.TW). From 2012 to 2019, Mr. Zhu was the chief
financial officer of Shanghai Evendata Digital Technology Co., Ltd. in the PRC.
From 2019 and prior to joining the Company, Mr. Zhu served as the general legal
advisor of Shenzhen Jiuli Supply Chain Co,, Ltd. Mr. Zhu currently also serves as a

director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Zhu graduated from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law in the PRC

in October 1990, where he obtained a bachelor’s degree in Accounting.

ZHOU Xiaoyu, aged 56, was appointed as an Executive Director with effect
from 2 August 2024. Mr. Zhou is a manager of Foga Tech Limited, a subsidiary of
the Company. Mr. Zhou has over 20 years’ experience in corporate management
and investment. Mr. Zhou worked as an engineer and economist at B %

EEEX5BAF] (China Electronics Corporation) from 1990 to 1997, and
as business manager in BB T T F 542 7] (China Electronics Industry
(Shenzhen) Corporate) from 1997 to 2000. Mr. Zhou founded Z&3I|Ti 28 X
BRENE T AR A 7] (Shenzhen Diwei Video Technology Company Limited)
in 2000. Mr. Zhou further founded JRIITH R /GBIEEBR A A (Shenzhen
Sanghaitong Investment Company Limited) in 2001 and &I R EREBRA
&) (Shenzhen Binghong Investment Company Limited) in 2008 and has served as
director for both companies. Since 2016, Mr. Zhou has served as an independent
non-executive director of Eeka Fashion Holdings Limited, the shares of which are

listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 3709.HK).

Mr. Zhou obtained a bachelor’s degree in electronic engineering from FE%E&E
FRHEARE (Xian Electronic Technology University) in 1990 and an executive
master of business administration degree from FREX T R8T (China Europe

International Business School) in 2013.

86  FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2024 Annual Report

R—NANBEE-NNAZF  REERPEREME
(EE)RAREELE - R—ANOEFE_FT——F
CREERBRBERRNDERAT(—HMEER
Laﬂ : ‘ﬁ%ﬁéu%&iﬁig}‘%%??uﬁ@“

%&;mwm'mm#%»wﬁza~§$&&é

B2 - R-F-—FE-F-NE  REEATEL
Sl EBE I ARA AN AR - BT
FREMAKRARR - 5556 £ B LRI 0.3 6 658
BB ERARRERER - K& LR AR
EFHBATDZES -

REE %—ﬂh?iﬂ—ﬁ EXNPERFEPLBOEKX

AT 565% RZE_NENAZRAREZEAH
TEE o FEERARRFIME R RFoga Tech Limitedi]
IR o FEARAA0FNCEEERIRELS - A
EER—NNEFE-NNELFEEFEEFEEE
EEBELFNIRMREHEM YR —ANEFE
ZEEFREFEREEFIER ﬁlli*"TE’J%ﬁ%ﬁ«ﬁc’
BAEER_ZZZFa TR TERRARMERA
A AEENIR_ZZ—FR T N\FE—TE
IR M REBEREGER AT MRITREREBR
Al WEARKAGNES - BT —~F - F
EHEEERKEFWIERAR DA (ERMDAB R AT E
™ BRI - 3709 HKO MBI ERITES -

BRER—NNEFER ETZEE%H&KFEﬁ%I&
B8 IR - ZE-=—FESTRINZEKREE
BABTIHEBRELSM -



\ B/
% W\

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

WONG Chi Kin, aged 51, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director on 27 April 2020.

Mr. Wong has over 26 years of accounting, banking and finance experience in
international investment banks and commercial banks as well as various listed
companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Wong was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Tsui Wah Holdings Limited (“Tsui Wah'), whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1314.HK), on 5 November 2012 and
was re-designated as a nonexecutive director of Tsui Wah on | November 2016
till now. Besides, Mr. Wong has been an independent non-executive director of
Modern Chinese Medicine Group Co, Ltd. (Stock Code: |634.HK) with effect
from 13 April 2023, the Deputy Chief Executive Officer of Gangyu Smart Urban
Services Holding Limited (Stock Code: 265.HK) with effect from 6 July 2023 and
an independent non-executive director of Jiu Rong Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
2358.HK) with effect from 24 August 2023, respectively.

From March 2017, to June 2023, Mr. Wong was a non-executive director of
Asiaray Media Group Limited, whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1993.HK). From November 202! to February 2022, Mr. Wong
was an independent non-executive director and a member of the independent
investigation committee of Mayer Holdings Limited, whose shares are listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: | I16. HK). From July 2018 to July 2019, Mr.
Wong was an independent non-executive director of Shenzhou Space Park
Group Limited (““Shenzhou Space”), mainly responsible for providing independent
advice to Shenzhou Space on listing resumption. The shares of Shenzhen Space
were listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 692.HK) The listing of Shenzhou
Space Shares has been cancelled with effect from 9:00 am. on 10 December
2019 under Rule 6.01A of the Listing Rules. Mr. Wong was also the chief
financial officer of various listed companies in Hong Kong. From October 2014 to
October 2018, Mr. Wong was the chief financial officer of Gangyu Smart Urban
Services Holding Limited, whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 265.HK). From September 201 | to October 2014, Mr. Wong was the chief
financial officer of China Qinfa Group Limited, whose shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 866.HK)

Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor of Science (Honours) degree in Finance from
City University of Hong Kong in 1996, a master’s degree in Practicing Accounting
from Monash University, Australia in 2001, an executive master of Business
Administration degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2010.
Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a fellow member of CPA Australia and an associate member of The

Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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LU Xiaoma, aged 58, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
on |3 October 2020. From September 2023 to August 2024, Mr. Lu served
as the Chief Executive Officer at Tristar Acquisition | Corp. Since August 2024,
Mr. Lu has been an independent non-executive director of Helport Al Ltd,
which focuses on improving the customer service experience through artificial
intelligence technology. Since October 2024, Mr. Lu has been responsible for
the management work of Austen Capital International Ltd and has served as a
director. He has rich experience in investment, financing and strategic mergers

and acquisitions.

Mr. Lu joined State Street Bank & Trust Corporation since 1999, and was
appointed as its vice president and the chief representative in China from May
2005 to August 2007 and August 2007 to August 2010, respectively, where he
was mainly responsible for participating in merger and acquisition projects and
managing the development of a new business line with annual revenue over
US$100 million, as well as setting up a branch in Beijing and leading all market
development activities in China, respectively. Mr. Lu was employed as a dedicated
non-executive director of China Construction Bank Corporation, representing
Central Huijin Investment Corporation Limited, the domestic branch of China
Investment Corporation from August 2010 to November 2012, where he was
primarily responsible for overseeing risk management strategy and focusing on
credit risk and operational risk and leading management structure and strategy
in managing domestic banking investment. Mr. Lu also served as the deputy
general manager of The Shenzhen Stock Exchange from November 2012 to May
2015, where he was primarily responsible for managing information disclosure,
regulating more than 1,000 listed companies and leading all fixed income product
operations and market establishment. From May 2015 to December 2016,
Mr. Lu was appointed as the group vice president of Wanda Financial Group
Limited and chief executive officer of Wanda Investment Company, where he
was mainly responsible for setting up overall business plan and strategy for a
new business and in charge of all corporate strategic acquisition and financial
investments. Subsequently, from March 2017 to December 2017, Mr. Lu served
as the executive vice president of Kangde Investment Group Limited, where he
was primarily in charge of all investment and merger and acquisition activities.
Mr. Lu served as an Independent Director of Yango Group Co., Ltd. from
April 2017 to August 2022, and served as an Independent Director of
BOC International (China) Co., Ltd. from October 2018 to December
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2024. His main responsibilities at work mainly included risk management
and compliance monitoring. From January 2018 to November 2024, Mr.
Lu served as a managing partner of East Stone Capital Limited Partners,
an investment management company focusing on exploring cross-border
opportunities. He was mainly responsible for overall management and
project sourcing. Mr. Lu served as the Chief Executive Officer and
Director of East Stone Acquisition Corporation from February 2020 to
November 2022, mainly responsible for identifying acquisition targets and
compliance work. Subsequently, from November 2022 to October 2024,
Mr. Lu served as a Director of NWTN Inc.

Mr. Lu graduated with a bachelor's degree and a master's degree in Thermal
Engineering from Tsinghua University in the PRC in 1988 and 1993, respectively,
and a master’s degree in business administration from Boston College in the

United States in 1999.

ZHU Min, aged 56, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
with effect from 27 January 2025. Ms. Zhu obtained a bachelor’s degree in
landscape architecture from Wuhan Urban Construction College (now renamed
as Huazhong University of Science and Technology) in 1992 and an master’s
degree in Business Administration from Tsinghua University in 2009. Ms. Zhu
joined Shenzhen WorldUnion Group Incorporated in 1999 and served as the
director and general manager of the group from 2013 to 2024, where she
was mainly responsible for the development of property operation, business
management services and financial services and the shares of which are listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 2285. SZ). Since 2019, Ms. Zhu has
served as an external director of Hong Kong China Travel Service (Shenzhen)
Investment and Development Co. Since May 2024, Ms. Zhu has been the vice
president of LVGEM (China) Real Estate Investment Company Limited and the
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 00095.HK).
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GENERAL

Save as disclosed, none of the Directors:

0) held any other positions in the Company or other members of the Group

as at the Latest Practicable Date;

(i) had any other relationship with any Directors, senior management or
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company as at

the Latest Practicable Date;

(i) held any directorship in any other public companies, the securities of which
are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the three

years prior to the Latest Practicable Date; and

(iv)  had any interest in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO
or is a director or an employee of a company which has an interest or

short position in the Shares and underlying shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, to the best of the knowledge, information and belief of
the Directors after having made all reasonable enquiries, there were no other
matters with respect to the appointment of the Directors that needs to be
brought to the attention of Shareholders and there was no information relating
to the Directors that was required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of
the Listing Rules as at the Latest Practicable Date.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biography of Mr. CUI Yuzhi, Mr. ZHU Liang and Mr. ZHOU Xiaoyu have

been disclosed under the paragraph headed “Executive Directors”.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Forgame Holdings
Limited (the “"Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 98 to |91 which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 3| December 2024, and consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material

accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 3| December 2024, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the "“IASB”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
(“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the I[ESBA Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our

opinion.

%‘

0“ ‘\\'
Independent Auditor’s Report

B2 BE RS

HEBEZRERLF

Bl f B} 3R

(MRS BEEEMBZHNARRA)

=

EEEEMINBENFISEE VI ENEBEEBRBRA
A(TERR D REMBAR(FHE E5E ) E M
BHRE  WEHVBERREENR T _MF+_A=
T—HEHNEHMBEIRRE - BEEZALFENA G
BahkHEtE2HKRER  AHESEBRIAMHES
MER @ URAHMBRERME  BEIBSFEE

EERR AU BRRBEEKR S ENEES
(Bt EREEE RMHBEREREEA S
SAENEEMATRREEEN _Z_MNE+—A=
T—HNAHIBRRRBEZA LFENG HFIE
RALEGHADRE - YEREBEFERAEGIHH
BEREEZRRHE -

—

RREXE

EECRBKEREER) ([BERBFER DETE
it e BEEEXRSENTAENTEFEERREZE
BB & T SRR AEN B BB PIEE — R

o RBEERETMEXRTEEERMAA(EEXS
FHEmE 1§?E'J><DX—FF‘§@|—L1—~;?E'JJ) EEBUNE
£H  WEETER JEPE’JE’rIﬂﬁiL REME &
FRE :.%Pﬁi%ﬁﬁ’ﬂ%ﬁﬁa DEEWREF

MERRHEEE -

EFERERAT FEgs04 91



"0 ' "' 0

| I' "0

h ‘Independent Auditor’s Report
( B BET RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Refer to Note |17 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of intangible assets for impairment. This
impairment test is significant to our audit because the balance of intangible assets
of RMB64,347,000 as at 31 December 2024 is material to the consolidated
financial statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment test involves application
of judgement and is based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

= Assessing the identification of the related cash generating units;

- Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the value-in-use calculations;

= Comparing the actual cash flows with the cash flow projections;

— Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions (including revenue

growth, profit margins, terminal growth rates and discount rates); and
= Checking input data to supporting evidence.

We consider that the Group's impairment test for intangible assets is supported

by the available evidence.
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INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME USING LEVEL 3 FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT

Refer to Note 6 and 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group measured its investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income with the changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated profit or
loss and other comprehensive income. This fair value measurement is significant
to our audit because the balance of investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income using level 3 fair value measurement of RMB32,080,000
as at 31 December 2024 is material to the consolidated financial statements. In
addition, the Group's fair value measurement involves application of judgement

and is based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

= Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of the external

valuer engaged by client;

- Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with the external
valuer, to discuss and challenge the valuation process, methodologies used
and market evidence to support significant judgments and assumptions

applied in the valuation model;

= Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation model to

supporting evidence;

- Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model; and

= Assessing the disclosure of the fair value measurement in the consolidated

financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s fair value measurement of the investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income using level 3 fair value measurement

is supported by the available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information in the Company’s annual report, but does not

include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to

report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions

of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement

and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

= Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or

conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a

manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or business units within
the Group as a basis for forming on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit and Compliance Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,

including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our

audit.

We also provide Audit and Compliance Committee with a statement that we

have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to

communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably

be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to

eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with Audit and Compliance Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be

expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Hong Chun

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P07374

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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‘Consohdated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
Hip 2 HE W s =

BOtER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-F-NE+-A=t-HLEFE

2024 2023
—ZgE T =F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Hrat ARET T ARETT
Revenue WA 7 82,583 60,172
Cost of revenue PR AR (77,986) (5LI3T)
Gross profit EF 4,597 9,041
Selling and marketing expenses SHE RS HERY (14,863) (8995)
Administrative expenses THF (31,495) (27,165)
Research and development expenses EE xR (21,408) (26,619)
Other income Efbhas 8 3,253 8,077
Other gains — net E A S 1,217 13,228
Finance cost R IDN 10 (ror) (303)
Share of profit of associates FEAE & R BDE A - 4,633
Impairment (provision)/reversal of REAK AT ENEREERE
financial assets measured at amortised cost — net ) B FEE 12 (471) 10,488
Loss before income tax BRET BB ATE 2 (59,271) (17,615)
Income tax credit/(expense) Fg®isE e,/ (Fx) I 19 2)
Loss for the year FREE 12 (59,252) (17,617)
Other comprehensive loss: Hih 2 HEEE :
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: @ E#HIEE 18z EE -
Changes in fair value of equity investments BAFET A EEmINEERERS
at fair value through other comprehensive BRI AT EEE)
income (52,895) (12,654)
Currency translation differences SN T E R 4,439 2819
(48,456) (9,835)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
EfEEREMEERESR

For the year ended 3| Decem

ber 2024

BE-_Z-_ME+-A=t—-RAItFEE

2024 2023
—ZgE —ET=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Hrat ARET T ARETT
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss: BEF P BEEERAER -
Changes in fair value of debt investments BRATHER AR M2 E e B
at fair value through other comprehensive WER AT EZE
income 1,936 (11,688)
Reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal of RERAFE AR MEER R
debt investments at fair value through ERERERENYREER
other comprehensive income 831) (13,793)
1,105 (25/481)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, FREMEEEE - MRBE
net of tax (47,351) (35316)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FALHERBRHE (106,603) (52,933)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: ERER(EER), SR
Owners of the Company ZiN/NEIE 2SN (59,307) (17,617)
Non-controlling interests FEREA A 55 -
(59,252) (17,617)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income BEER2E(EE) RS HE5HE
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company RNRTEER A (106,658) (52,933)
Non-controlling interests FEPERR R RS 55 =
(106,603) (52933)
Basic and diluted loss per share (RMB) BREARREFEER(UARYET) 15 (0.41) (0.12)
EEERARAT sEgzoe 99
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As at 31 December 2024
R-Z-WE+=A=+—H

’Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

2024 2023
ol 11 —T=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Kzt AR®TT ARETT
ASSETS B'E
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property and equipment IEYE 16 32,894 63,224
Intangible assets mVEE 17 64,347 32,986
Right-of-use assets EREEE /8 2,749 3,386
Investments at fair value through other RATEF AR 2 E WG E
comprehensive income 20 37,373 91,048
Prepayments and other receivables TR K B At fEYRIE 23 7,018 10,679
144,381 201,323
Current assets REBEE
Inventories F& 21 32,291 16,245
Trade receivables B 5 WA 22 6,778 66,352
Prepayments and other receivables TR RIE K E A FEUGK 23 35,328 37,443
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss ?Hﬂ’_\$fﬁu‘|')\?§ﬁnﬁ']$rﬁﬂ§5 24 126,025 124,999
Investments at fair value through other BRAFEF AHMERRREE
comprehensive income 20 10,333 13,454
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBEEEED 25 174,227 195,949
384,982 454,442
Total assets EEHAE 529,363 655,765
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Equity Es
Share capital &N 3/ 93 93
Reserves et 33 483,523 590,181
483,616 590274
Non-controlling interests R ER 797 —
Total equity TERRMAEE 484,413 590,274
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BT BRI =

As at 31 December 2024
RZZE-mE+=A=+—H

2024 2023
—EUE —E-=4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
HtaE ARET T ARBETTT
Liabilities =N
Non-current liabilities FRBAE
Deferred tax liabilities B IBRE 30 213 =
Lease liabilities HE&aE 29 1,208 1,282
1,421 1,282
Current liabilities RBAE
Trade payables B S RERFHIA 26 28,667 11,965
Other payables and accruals HhfEAFIA N ERTE R 27 10,664 44,881
Financial liabilities at fair value through BEATEFABENSRIAE
profit or loss 24 - 1,938
Contract liabilities AHAE 28 2,494 3017
Lease liabilities HEAaE 29 1,704 2,408
43,529 64,209
Total liabilities BEER 44,950 65491
Total equity and liabilities EaRaEHARE 529,363 655,765
Net current assets BREEE 341,453 390,233
Total assets less current liabilities EEABNRRBER 485,834 591,556

The consolidated financial statements on pages 98 to 191 were approved and

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025 and signed on

its behalf by:

Cui Yuzhi
EFH
Director

EF

FI98HZE

Zhu Liang
KR
Director

EF

PDIENEHPBERRAEETEN _T -5
FZAZTN\BHERRETEL BIAT TRERE
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EOEEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-ZT-WF+-A=+—ALEE

Aterbutzble to Oviners of the Company

RORERARY
Shares
held for Det
Restricted Sharebased  Investments Non-
Share Shae  ShareUnts  Copitdl  Statwtory Compensation ~ Revalatin ~ Translation Other  Accumuated Controling
Cpil ~ Premim ~ Scheme  Reserie  Reserves Reserve  Reserve  Diferences  Reserves Losses Toul  Interests Totl
REBHR Ly
fEHE BEBN  RERR
Bx  BHEE #ENRG  ERER  MRRR  BedE EMRE  FEEE GbER EMER &% ARRER &
RBOD  RMBOO  AMBODD  RMBOD  RMBODD  RMBOOO  RMBOD  RVBOD  RMBOO  RMBOID  RMBOD  RMBOD  RVBON
NERTT ARMTT ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR  ARRTR ARRTR ARMTR ARETR ARRTR ARMTT ARETR ARMTR
At Jnary 103 AZB2ZE-F-A B L4eB  (BX0) 00 070 106483 608 00 (A6 (13926 e -
Totd comprehensive (oss)come for the year FREE(ER) NatsE - - . - = - (ba) 9 (264 (el (19)) -
Charges nequty for e year EmEsRY - - - - - 1 I T 1 1/ R -
A3 Decente 13 nd RBZEZA=1-ER
| ruary 204 Z3ImE-R-A B 4B (BN N0 A0 10648 (03%)  oA%9 (A3 (l41680) 500 -
Totd comprehersiv incomel(os) for the year EnaENg/BE e = = = = = = 1,105 4489 Q%) () (1066 % (106603
Acqustion of a subsiGy rote ) WE-FMERA(Hba) = = - - = = - = = - - i i
Trrder o eqity vestnentsa firelie o) BRATEALWARNANERR
ofher comprefiensie income o accumted EERRZHER
loses - - - - - - - - 303 (30m) - - -
Chnges i equiy for the year iR = - - - - - 1,105 4489 (80 (6380 (1066%9) 1 (1058%l)
At 31 December 204 HZBZRETZR=1-A B L4660 (8%0) o0 2070 10848 (6290 938 (AnsI6) (14T 486l6 1 4

102
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
A{#iﬁa%/)lbii

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE-R-MET-A=+—HIFE

2024 2023
—BomE —T-=F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Hrat AR¥TT ARMET T
Cash flows from operating activities RETHMESRERE
Loss before income tax BT ELRIEE (59,271) (17,615)
Adjustments for: AT SIE(EL TR
Depreciation of property and equipment EISE TN 14,726 27,686
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 2,479 1,476
Amortisation of intangible assets A A B 5,179 [,059
Allowance for inventories FERE 5918 [,993
Dividends received from investments at fair value WEUR AT E ABRRE (148) (163)
through profit or loss HIAR 2
Dividends from debt investments at fair value through R B R A EFT A K2 K (1,657) (4,641)
other comprehensive income mREGRERE
Interest income FEM = (1,596) (3.242)
Finance cost BT R AR 101 303
Change in fair value of investments at fair value AT EFABZHREZ A 13,271 | 7,497
through profit or loss FEEE)
Gain on disposal of investments at fair value through HERATEF ABarRE (12,111) (53,799)
profit or loss ol
Share of profit of associates FEAG S R R A - (4,633)
Impairment provision/(reversal) of financial assets SRR ENEREER 471 (10,488)
measured at amortised cost — net EEE/(Bm)%58E
Loss on disposal of property and equipment HEME KRR ENERE - 12
Loss on deemed disposal of investment in an associate AR {EH B — i & A Al AI% - 1209
BEmER
(Gain)/loss on disposal of investments at fair value HERATET AHMEEK (2,901) 26321
through other comprehensive income I E ) (e ), EitE
Gain on early termination of the lease agreement AR LA B e ies (28) =
Exchange loss/(gain), net bE R 1B, (Yees ) F 88 (574) (3,379)
Operating loss before changes in working capital EEESEHRINLEEE (36,141) (20,404)
Change in inventories FEg (8,240) 17,158
Change in trade receivables B 5 MRS 84,419 11,103
Change in prepayments and other receivables iﬁﬁmlﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁq& # (2,477) (27,833)
Change in trade payables B SN FIAE (31,634) 566
Change in other payables and accruals E{ﬂfgﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁfé‘l‘%ﬁﬁ%@ (34,707) (19,994)
Change in contract liabilities (523) 869
Change in loan receivables 3,000 15,050
Cash used in operations KEFTRAIR S (26,303) (23,485)
Interest received 2 U F B 1,596 3,242
Income tax paid EASPTEH - @)
Net cash used in operating activities ReETHFIARSTFE (24,707) (20,245)
EEERARAT FEszoe 103
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Aﬁiﬁ%lﬂbi%‘:{

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-F-NE+-A=t-HLEFE

2024 2023
= SLE —T-=F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Hrat AR¥TT ARBTT
Cash flows from investing activities RETEHFFBRERE
Purchases of property and equipment BEEREE (39) (485)
Proceeds from disposals of property and equipment HE W KR EPTE A - 23
Purchases of intangible assets BERTEE (529) (136)
Purchases of debt investments at fair value through B EIR N ES A L2 E K - (47,203)
other comprehensive income S BRI A
Proceeds from disposal of debt investments at fair HERNEES AR M2 11,332 38476
value through other comprehensive income S HETSI B e SE
Payments for equity investments at fair value through IRAFES AR EEER (48,305) =
other comprehensive income TN
Proceeds from disposal of equity investments at fair PR N B A2 E 45,947 878
value through other comprehensive income SSHME I B e SE
Payments for investments at fair value through profit IRAFES A B HIR SRt (4,083) (1,116)
or loss, net e
OFRE
Dividends received from debt investments at fair value WHXH?’\iTEﬁ)\EWEi\EW 416 4,247
through other comprehensive income =R EERERE
Dividends received from investments at fair value WH R A 115:#ATEE&E"]?§§ 148 163
through profit or loss HIAR S
Withdrawal for restricted cash X PR #1138 & 12 HX - [,020
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wk — Rk B AR 34(a) (3,212) =
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities IREFBFTES (FTH)BREFHE 1,675 (4,133)
Cash flows from financing activities REEB T RE
Bank interest paid Eﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂlu - (115)
Repayment for bank loans EBIRTTER - (3,850)
Payments for lease liabilities HEBENK (2,697) (1,894)
Payments for lease interest HEF SRR (1ol (188)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEBMARSEHE (2,798) (6,047)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReRELESEYRHL FH (25,830) (30425)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year ¢?}]ﬁ@&fﬁb{£:{§% 195,949 224,623
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXREFE 4,108 1,751
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FERBEERBEESEEY 174,227 195,949
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents REeRBEEEEYNDIW
Cash and cash equivalents Re MASEED 174,227 195,949
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Forgame Holdings Limited (the “Company"”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on 26 July 2011 as an exempted company with limited
liability. The address of its registered office is at the offices of Osiris
International Cayman Limited, Suite #4-210, Governors Square, 23 Lime
Tree Bay Avenue, P.O. Box 32311, Grand Cayman KYI-1209, Cayman
Islands. The address of its principal place of business in Hong Kong is Unit
6, |/F, Trust Centre, 912 Cheung Sha Wan Road, Lai Chi Kok, Kowloon,
Hong Kong. The address of the headquarters is Room 106, Block A
Phase |, Innovation Technology Plaza, Tianan Digital City, Chegongmiao,
Futian District, Shenzhen, China. The Company's issued shares are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are principally engaged in developing
and publishing domestic and overseas webgames and mobile games (the
"Game Business”) and trading of electronic device and semiconductor (the
“Electronic Device and Semiconductor Business”) in the People's Republic
of China (the “PRC"). The details of principal activities of its subsidiaries

are set out in note |9 to the consolidated financial statements.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED IFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised IFRS
Accounting Standards that are relevant to its operations and effective for
its accounting year beginning on | January 2024. IFRS Accounting Standards
comprise International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”); International
Accounting Standards; and Interpretations. The adoption of these new and
revised IFRS Accounting Standards did not result in significant changes to
the Group's accounting policies, presentation of the Group's consolidated
financial statements and amounts reported for the current year and prior

years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards
that have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has already
commenced an assessment of the impact of these new and revised IFRS
Accounting Standards but is not yet in a position to state whether these
new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards would have a material impact

on its resufts of operations and financial position.

SO B HmRME

For the year ended 3| December 2024
HE-Z-_MFF_A=T—-HIEFE

—REHR
EBEERARARIARA DR -_F——%F
tA-+TARBRERESHSEMAIRERRE
PR o EiEfl#ERAM Osiris International
Cayman Limited Z ## = EZ * b3k R Suite #4-210,
Governors Square, 23 Lime Tree Bay Avenue, P.O.
Box 32311, Grand Cayman KYI-1209, Cayman
Islands « ER BB Z T REEMEMU /B EN
BEHRARDEBINLFRERLIEE 425
4k A BRI T AR A R E QKR RS A
IR ES —HIARE | 106  RARAIE BT
EERBMARSMARDR(EBRA])ERE
7 o

ARARRBREERRR - ARAREWMEBR
A(MBE AKEDEERFEARKMBE(F
BDREEAIMNBREBEEBERNFER
BT BEEBDUREFRELYBRES
(TEFRERFERERK])  FHEMNERF
MEREBFE - BREHHBHRRME9 -

RAFTREETEBES B REER S
R

RAFE  AEBECRMMEEEXBARA
R-Z_WE— A -HBRANSAFEERD
AT RS MERT BRI I g s R & 5 R - B
R HmEEN ST A BREBERMBEREE
A(TERBMBHREEL )  BRGEL RE
B RRZEHTREERTEET G HREE]
B ERY BHAEERNAFE BEFED
BABER ARBAHMBBER2N T AR
EREFENEAEY -

7R B30 4 R R B B AR B 1 R AE R R RT AR
EFTERM B REEA G ER - ARECH
ART A A RS BT BT B REER g
AHEAMEE - B MR BZENR REE
FERMERE LG REARTEHELE
RERPBERRENERTE -
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fNotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SOt R SRR M =

For the year ended 31 December 2024

106

E_WNEF A=+ -ALEFE

Hz=-%

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by International Accounting
Standards Board, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of investments

which are carried at their fair values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with
IFRS Accounting Standards requires the use of certain key assumptions
and estimates. It also requires the directors of the Company to exercise
its judgements in the process of applying the accounting policies. The areas
involving critical judgements and areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to these consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in

note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these

consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries made up to 3| December. Subsidiaries are
entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e.
activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting rights as
well as potential voting rights held by other parties, to determine whether
it has control. A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has

the practical ability to exercise that right.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Consolidation (Cont'd)
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred

to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss
of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained
in that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s share of the net assets of that
subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any

related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency

with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position
and consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss
and total comprehensive income for the year between the non-controlling

shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a

deficit balance.

Changes in the Company's ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions (i.e.
transactions with owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair
value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity

and attributed to the owners of the Company.

SO B HmRME

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE-R-MET-A=+—HIFE

TEERBEE)

BHF (&)

MEARAEEGREBREARB ZAREHA
B MAEEGIRERILEZBREFEAHAR -

RAEEMB AR MBS K EEG BN KELE
1B () HEREN A FEMNZNE R R ERF
BIREM R FEE)AR R EIEZIE AR E
EFEMEZNE A RE A ERERTEER
ERERREINENERF B IENER -

SEARRERS - EHRIRABEREME T I
i - RERBBRNEHE  BRIEZIRZER
BRNIITBREECSHEARE - ¥ER - 18
ARRAMEAHRGELEE - UEREREH
RABRART 2

FEREREWIFAA R T ERLEEEED
MEAR D - FEREERNA HMBRRE
REGEDEHRNERAZS - REHFIRE
REMEPEKERA  FERESZ2I/FA
B R2ERSBBEEARAFERKRER
BAZE®ODE
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of a
subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition is measured
at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued, liabilities incurred and contingent consideration. Acquisition-related
costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are
incurred and the services are received. Identifiable assets and liabilities of
the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date fair

values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share of the net
fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as
goodwill. Any excess of the Company's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase which is attributed

to the Company.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. Goodwill
is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The method of
measuring impairment losses of goodwill is the same as that of other assets
as stated in the accounting policy below. Impairment losses of goodwill
are recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are not subsequently
reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition for the purpose of

impairment testing.
The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially measured at the

non-controlling shareholders’” proportionate share of the net fair value of

the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the acquisition date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Foreign currency translation

@)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the Company's presentation currency
and the functional currency of the principal operating subsidiaries
of the Group. The functional currency of the Company is United
States dollars (“US$"). The directors of the Company consider that
choosing RMB as the presentation currency best suits the needs of

the shareholders and investors.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency on initial recognition using the exchange rates prevailing
on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this translation

policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in foreign
currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the dates when

the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component of that gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. When a gain
or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in profit or

loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Foreign currency translation (Cont'd)

(©

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have

a functional currency different from the Company's presentation

currency are translated into the Company's presentation currency

as follows:

0]

0)

(iif)

Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of

that statement of financial position;

Income and expenses are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the transaction dates);

and

All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the

exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the

net investment in foreign entities and of borrowings are recognised in

the exchange reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange

differences are recognised in consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain

or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign

entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated

at the closing rate.

FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2024 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Property and equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation

and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised
as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the period in which

they are incurred.

Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated at rates sufficient to
write off their cost less their residual values over the estimated useful lives

on a straight-line basis. The principal useful lives are as follows:

Land and building 20 years
Furniture and office equipment 5 years
Servers and other equipment 3 — 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of estimated
useful lives or remaining terms of

the lease

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and

adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property and equipment is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant

asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Leases

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding lease
liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by the Group.
Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at rates
to write off their cost over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the
lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:
Properties 20% — 50%

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of the
initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments prepaid, initial
direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the lease payments discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or otherwise the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit
or loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of

interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms. Short-term leases are leases with an initial lease term of |2

months or less. Low-value assets are assets of value below US$5,000.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred. An internally generated intangible asset
arising from the Group's games business development is recognised only if

all of the following conditions are met:

— An asset is created that can be identified (such as software and new

processes);

= It is probable that the asset created will generate future economic

benefits; and

= The development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Internally generated intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 years. Where no internally
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Game licenses and customer relationship
Game licenses and customer relationship are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated

on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 3 years.

Patents
Patents are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over their

estimated useful lives of 10 years.

Computer software licenses

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the
costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. These
costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives of 2-10 years, and
recorded in amortisation within operating expenses in the consolidated

statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined using the weighted average basis. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated

costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the statement of
financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual

provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets; or the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the assets but has not retained control on the assets. On derecognition of
a financial asset, the difference between the asset's carrying amount and

the sum of the consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the
relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the

consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis
where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract whose terms
require delivery of the asset within the timeframe established by the
market concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly
attributable transaction costs except in the case of investments at fair
value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of investments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ¥

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Financial assets (Cont'd)

Financial assets of the Group are classified as under the following

categories:

@)

Financial assets at amortised cost;

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive

income;

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive

income; and

Investments at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are classified under this category if they satisfy both

of the following conditions:

= the assets are held within a business model whose objective
is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows;

and

= the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected credit

losses.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Financial assets (Cont'd)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income

Debt investments are classified under this category if they satisfy

both of the following conditions:

= the assets are held within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and

selling assets; and

= the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income
calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in profit

or loss.

The assets are treated as monetary items. A foreign currency
asset is treated as an asset measured at amortised cost in the
foreign currency. Exchange differences on the amortised cost are

recognised in profit or loss.

Other gains or losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the debt investment revaluation reserve.
On derecognition of an investment, the cumulative gains or losses
previously accumulated in the debt investment revaluation reserve

are reclassified to profit or loss.

The loss allowance for expected credit losses is recognised in other
comprehensive income and does not reduce the carrying amount of

the assets.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Financial assets (Cont'd)

(©)

(@

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income

On initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable election
(on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate investments
in equity instruments that are not held for trading as at fair value

through other comprehensive income.

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the other reserve.
On derecognition of an investment, the cumulative gains or losses
previously accumulated in the other reserve are not reclassified to

profit or loss.

Dividends on these investments are recognised in profit or loss,
unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost

of the investment.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if they do not meet
the conditions to be measured at amortised cost and the conditions
of debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income unless the Group designates an equity investment that is
not held for trading as at fair value through other comprehensive

income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
measured at fair value with any gains or losses arising from changes
in fair values recognised in profit or loss. The fair value gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss are net of any interest income
and dividend income. Interest income and dividend income are

recognised in profit or loss.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
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Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses on
financial assets at amortised cost and debt investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income. Expected credit losses are the weighted
average of credit losses with the respective risks of a default occurring as

the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the loss
allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to the expected
credit losses that result from all possible default events over the expected
life of that financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”) for trade
and loan receivables, or if the credit risk on that financial instrument has

increased significantly since initial recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables) has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that
financial instrument at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected
credit losses that represents the expected credit losses that result from
default events on that financial instrument that are possible within 2

months after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the loss
allowance at the end of the reporting period to the required amount is

recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits
with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and

subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the
substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity instrument under IFRS Accounting
Standards. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.
The accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity

instruments are set out below.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised
and subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or losses arising

from changes in fair values recognised in profit or loss.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case

they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds

received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract
with a customer with reference to the customary business practices and

excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

120

Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont'd)

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation
by transferring control over a product or service to a customer.
Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that apply to that
contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a point

in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time if:

= the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits

provided by the Group's performance;

— the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that the

customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

= the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable

right to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is recognised
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in

time when the customer obtains control of the product or service.

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive

payment are established.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Employee benefits

@)

(b)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave is recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability
for annual leave and long service leave as a result of services

rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not

recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group's subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC contribute based
on certain percentage of the salaries of the employees to a defined
contribution retirement benefit plan and other defined contribution
social security plans organised by relevant government authorities in
the PRC on a monthly basis. Employees of the Group in the PRC
are required to participate in a defined contribution retirement
scheme administered and operated by the local municipal
government. The Group contributes funds which are calculated on
a fixed percentage of the employees’ salary (subject to a floor and
cap) as set by local municipal governments to each scheme locally
to fund the retirement benefits of the employees. The government
authorities undertake to assume the retirement benefit obligations
payable and other social security payables to all existing and future
retired employees under these plans and the Group has no further
obligation beyond the contributions made. Contributions to these
plans are expensed as incurred. Assets of the plans are held and
managed by government authorities and are separate from those of

the Group.
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Employee benefits (Cont'd)
(c)  Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring costs and involves the

payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which they are incurred.

Government grants
A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable assurance that
the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to it and that the grant

will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and recognised in
profit or loss over the period to match them with the costs they are

intended to compensate.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Taxation (Cont'd)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible temporary differences, unused tax
losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the

accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the

temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the

asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in
the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the

carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Taxation (Cont'd)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net

basis.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item reported
in the financial statements are identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purpose of allocating resources and assessing the performance of the

Group's various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of productions processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they

share a majority of these criteria.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to

the Group if that person:

0) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the

Company or of a parent of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Related parties (Cont'd)

(®)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions

applies:

0]

0)

(iii)

(iv)

V)

(M)

(vii)

(vii)

The entity and the Company are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow

subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of

which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other

entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to
the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring

employers are also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of

the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the

Company or to a parent of the Company.
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Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets except goodwill, investments,
inventories and receivables to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the

asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks

specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or
cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated

as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of

the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when
the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation arising as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the

present value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation
is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also

disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information
about the Group's position at the end of the reporting period or those
that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate are adjusting
events and are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the

notes to the consolidated financial statements when material.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Ciritical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors of the

Company have made the following judgements that have the most

significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial

statements.

()

Contractual Arrangements

The Group’s Game Business is carried out through several domestic
operating companies, incorporated in the PRC, namely Guangzhou
Weidong Internet Technology Co., Ltd. (M 4B 48 EI R E
fR A E], “Weidong"), Guangzhou Feiyin Information Technology
Co, ltd. (BMFEE{E ERHEIBRAF], "Feiyin”), and Guangzhou
Jieyou Software Co, Ltd. (BINEREHHBR AT, “Jieyou”). Mr.
Wang Dongfeng, Mr. Huang Weibing, Mr. Liao Dong, Mr. Yang Tao
and Mr. Zhuang Jieguang (collectively as the “Founders”) are their
respective legal shareholders. Those domestic operating companies

are collectively defined as the “PRC Operational Entities” thereafter.

Pursuant to applicable PRC laws and regulations, foreign investors
are restricted from conducting value-added telecommunications
services or holding equity interest in an entity conducting such
services in China. In order to enable investments be made into
the Group's Game Business, the Company established a subsidiary,
Guangzhou Feidong Software Technology Co., Ltd. (&M IE)
BRI AR AR, "Feidong”) which is wholly foreign owned

enterprises incorporated in the PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Contd)

Ciritical judgements in applying accounting policies (Cont'd)

@

Contractual Arrangements (Cont'd)

Feidong has entered into a series of contractual arrangements (the
“Contractual Arrangements”) with the PRC Operational Entities
and their respective equity holders, which enable Feidong and the

Company to:

exercise effective financial and operational control over the

PRC Operational Entities;

exercise equity holders’ voting rights of the PRC Operational
Entities;

receive substantially all of the economic interest returns
generated by the PRC Operational Entities in consideration
for the business support, technical and consulting services

provided by Feidong, at Feidong's discretion;

obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase the
entire equity interest in the PRC Operational Entities from
the respective equity holders. The right automatically renews

upon expiry until Feidong specify a renewal term;

obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of the PRC
Operational Entities from their respective equity holders as
collateral security for all of the PRC Operational Entities’
payments due to Feidong, and to secure performance of the
PRC Operational Entities” obligations under the Contractual

Arrangements.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Contd)

Ciritical judgements in applying accounting policies (Cont'd)

@

Contractual Arrangements (Cont'd)

The Company does not have any equity interest in the PRC
Operational Entities. However, as a result of the Contractual
Arrangements, the Company has rights to variable returns from its
involvement with the PRC Operational Entities and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the PRC Operational
Entities and is considered to control the PRC Operational Entities.
Consequently, the Company regards the PRC Operational Entities
as consolidated structured entities under IFRS Accounting Standards.
The Group has included the financial position and results of the
PRC Operational Entities in the consolidated financial statements.
The corresponding net assets of Weidong and Feiyin included in
the consolidated financial statements of the Company amounted
to RMB6,924,000 and RMBI 14,229,000 respectively, while the net
liabilities of Jieyou was RMB 12,447,000, as at 3| December 2024. (3|
December 2023 net assets: RMB44,373,000, RMB121,460,000 and
net liabilities:RMB2,126,000 respectively).

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective
as direct legal ownership in providing the Group with direct control
over the PRC Operational Entities and uncertainties presented by
the PRC legal system could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights
of the results, assets and liabilities of the PRC Operational Entities.
However, the directors of the Company, based on the advice of
its legal advisor, consider that the Contractual Arrangements are in
compliance with relevant PRC laws and regulations and are legally

binding and enforceable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(@)  Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts
based on assessments of the recoverability of the trade and other
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be
collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts requires
the use of judgement and estimates. Where the actual result is
different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value of the trade and other receivables and doubtful debt
expenses in the year in which such estimate has been changed. If
the financial conditions of the debtors were to deteriorate, resulting
in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional

allowances may be required.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont'd)

®)

©

Impairment assessment of non-financial assets

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment. Other non-financial assets, mainly including property

and equipment, other intangible assets and right-of-use assets

are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amounts have been determined based

on value-in-use calculations or fair value less costs to sell. These

calculations require the use of judgments and estimates.

Judgement is required to determine key assumptions adopted in

the valuation models for impairment review purpose. Changing the

assumptions selected by management in assessing impairment could

materially affect the result of the impairment test and as a result

affect the Group's financial condition and results of operations.

Fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an

active market

The fair value of financial instruments includes unlisted investments

and the compensation option on non-fulfilment of profit guarantee

are not traded in an active market are determined by using valuation

techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select a variety of
methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on investees'

performance and conditions existing at the end of each reporting

year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign

currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.

The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the

unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse

effects on the Group's financial performance.

@

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in the functional currencies of the Group entities. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy
in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The
Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the

need arise.

Price risk

The Group’s investments at fair value through profit or loss
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity security price risk. The
directors of the Company manage this exposure by maintaining a

portfolio of investments with different risk profiles.

At 31 December 2024, if the fair value of the investments decrease/
increase by 0%, loss before tax for the year would have been
RMB16,063,000 (2023: RMB14,063,000) higher/lower respectively,

arising as a result of the fair value loss/gain of the investments.

The Group’s debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period. Therefore, the Group is exposed to bonds
price risk. The directors of the Company manage this exposure by

maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risk profiles.

At 31 December 2024, if the fair value of the investments
decrease/increase by 10%, other comprehensive loss for the year
would have been RMB2,398,000 (2023: RMB3,174,000) higher/
lower respectively, arising as a result of the fair value loss/gain of the

investments.

SO B HmRME

For the year ended 3| December 2024
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BRABHERRR - ARAESRBHER
BEETRRBRMKIIEEES REEZR
’Zun o
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5.

134

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Contd)

(©)

Credit risk

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash,
trade and other receivables, investments and loan receivables
included in the consolidated statement of financial position
represents the Group'’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation

to the Group's financial assets.

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are
limited because the counterparties are reputable financial institutions
in the PRC and reputable international financial institutions outside
of the PRC. There has been no recent history of default in relation

to these financial institutions.

The credit risk on investments is limited because the counterparties

are well-established securities broker firms in Hong Kong.

For loan receivables, in order to minimise the credit risk, the Group
has established policies and systems for monitoring and control
of credit risk. The management has delegated different divisions
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring processes to ensure that follow up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, management reviews
the recoverable amounts of loan and interest collectively at each
reporting date to ensure that adequate allowance for impairment

losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

For trade and other receivables, management makes periodic
collective assessments as well as individual assessment on the
recoverability of trade and other receivables based on historical
settlement records and past experience. The directors of the
Company believe that there is no material credit risk inherent in the

Group's outstanding balance of other receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Contd)

(©)

Credit risk (Cont'd)

The Group considers whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of financial assets on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period by comparing the risk of a default occurring
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information. Especially the following information

is used:

- internal credit rating;

- external credit rating (if available);

= actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its

obligations;

- actual or expected significant changes in the operating results

of the borrower;

= significant changes in the value of the collateral or in the

quality of guarantees or credit enhancements; and

= significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the payment

status of borrowers.

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage in a
repayment plan with the Group. The Group normally categorises
a loan or receivable for write off when a debtor fails to make
contractual payments greater than 365 days past due. Where loans
or receivables have been written off, the Group, if practicable and
economical, continues to engage in enforcement activity to attempt

to recover the receivable due.
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SO B BmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_NEt_A=t-BIFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Contd)

(©)

(C)

(e)

136

Credit risk (Cont'd)

The Group uses two categories for non-trade loan receivables
which reflect their credit risk and how the loan loss provision is
determined for each of the categories. In calculating the expected
credit loss rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each

category and adjusts for forward looking data.

MERKBERE(Z)
(c) EERKRE)

AEBEMIEZZRKRERERREIER
ZEDBRREEE R M &R E
BREETESSR - FTERBEAEBE
Ry AREEZERESENBEBEE
WL ATRE M BURIE L AR -

Category Definition Loss provision

Pk T BREE

Performing Low risk of default and strong capacity to pay [2 month expected losses
RiF R KR K 58 S 5 g 1218 A FREME e 18
Non-performing Significant increase in credit risk Lifetime expected losses
TR (B ON Ryl EEFENRERER

All of these loans are considered to have low risk and under the
‘Performing’ category because they have a low risk of default and

have strong ability to meet their obligations.

Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer

term. All of the Group's financial liabilities are due within one year.

Interest rate risk
As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities,
the Group's operating cash flows are substantially independent of

changes in market interest rates.

The Group's exposure to interest-rate risk arises from its bank
deposits. These deposits and borrowings bear interests at variable
rates varied with the then prevailing market condition. The directors
of the Company consider that the changes in interest rates of bank
balances have no significant impact to the Group due to the low
interest rates and short-term maturities and therefore no sensitivity

analysis is presented for bank balances.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
HE-Z-_MFF_A=T—-HIEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 5. MERKREREE)
(f)  Categories of financial instruments at 3|1 December ) MT-ZA=+—HWEBMIASE
2024 2023
—ZgE T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBETT
Financial assets: SREE
Investments at fair value through profit or loss:  ZAFEFTABZAIEE -
Mandatorily measured SR HET = 126,025 124,999
Debt investments at fair value through other — RAF(EFT AR E A
comprehensive income BRI E 15,626 22,600
Equity investments at fair value through other R A EFI AR 2 E KA
comprehensive income EERIRE 32,080 81,092
Financial assets at amortised cost (including cash IZEERRK AT EM S MEE
and cash equivalents) (PREERBRSEEY) 198,379 283,598
Financial liabilities: cREE:
Financial liabilities at fair value through EATEFABENSRAE
profit or loss
Held for trading FIEEE - 1,938
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REBSRKATENEHEE 39,171 56,563

(8

Fair values (g)
Except as disclosed in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of

financial position approximate their respective fair values.

AT{E

Bra ot B IR M 6T IREE SN - A6
MBEARKARRAEENEREER S
RAGEREERESEMNATFERS °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-F-NE+-A=t-HLEFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 6. ATEIE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to ATEARFTEAHMSELEE ZBANERFR

transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants SHEHE-—BEEB KNI EE-—HAEGMX

at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value 17JL B - LATATEA=ZHEEAQATEE

measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three levels AR ETE AT E H BB A SR D

the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value: iﬁﬁ:?& :

Level | inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for E— R ABUE AEBREEHHATE
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access FHEREENABRE
at the measurement date. B mE(RER

B) -

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within level B R AR BRE—RTABRE
| that are observable for the asset or liability, either Sh - BEESBENERE
directly or indirectly. B EEBERN & AH

& o
Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. FE=RE ABHE BEEXEBBENTABRE
WARE -

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of any AEBEBRR AR EHERENEHNIBERESHB

of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in circumstances HARER = (AR R (T8 A R -

that caused the transfer.
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Contd)

(@)  Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 December:

SO B HmRME

For the year ended 3| December 2024
HE-Z-_MFF_A=T—-HIEFE

DNEEHE(E)
@ RT-A=+-BHATEERRAR
5%

Fair value measurements using: Total
FERATHIEEN D FEGFE - #mat
Description Level | Level 2 Level 3 2024
it E—R et =K —BoNEF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTRT ARBTRT ARBTRT
Recurring fair value measurements: REMRFERTE
Equity investments at fair value through & AFEFT AR M2 E UL
other comprehensive income AT E
Private equity investments BRI E - - 32,080 32,080
Debt investments at fair value through 1R AFEFT AE M2 E UL
other comprehensive income m A EHIRE
Over-the-counter debt securities HHINZ S RIS E S - 15,626 - 15,626
Financial assets at fair value through profit #&Z/AF(EFF ABZA) &
or loss BE
Equity securities MR8 55
Listed in US FEXE £ 27,212 - - 27,212
Listed in Hong Kong EHE LT 12,384 - - 12,384
Listed in PRC PR L 8,790 - - 8,790
Derivatives — fixed coupon note METH-EEERE - 77,639 - 77,639
48,386 77,639 - 126,025
Total recurring fair value measurements REMATFEEAZE 48,386 93,265 32,080 173,731
EREERERAT FEEsz024 139
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_NEt_A=t-BIFE

fl

6.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Cont'd) 6. ATEIEE)
(@) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 December: (Cont'd) @ RTZA=1+—B®AFEERRNE
B (&)
Fair value measurements using: Total
EATIIRENATHEAE - #st
Description Level | Level 2 Level 3 2023
it F—#& ==t F=H —T==F

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETRT ARETRT

Recurring fair value measurements: REMRFERTE -
Equity investments at fair value through 12 AFEFT AE M EEIK
other comprehensive income mEE R A
Private equity investments FLEREZSIEE = — 81,902 81,902

Debt investments at fair value through & /AF(EFTAE b2 H K

other comprehensive income mEERIRE
Over-the-counter debt securities HINZ BIETE - 22,600 - 22,600

Financial assets at fair value through profit #ZAF (BT AlBzE A& Rl

or loss BE
Equity securities 5
Listed in US fEEE i 53,762 — - 53,762
Derivatives — fixed coupon note TET AR -TEBERE - 68,622 - 68,622
Options HAtE 2,615 = = 2,615
56,377 68,622 - 124,999
56,377 91,222 81,902 229,501
Financial liabilities at fair value through ~ 3RAF(EET AIBZEI L &l
profit or loss BfE
Options, analysed as current liabilities HEE - AT RIRE
=N (1938) - — (1938)
Total recurring fair value measurements REM ANV ETEAZE 54,439 91,222 81,902 227,563
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Cont d) 6. ATEIEE)
(b)  Reconciliation of assets and liabilities measured at fair value based by HBUE=RAEENATEAENEER
on level 3: BEYHEK
Equity investments
at fair value through
other comprehensive
income
BATERA
Hitb 2 Kz
EERE
RMB’000
ARBT T
At | January 2024 R=Z-NFE—H—H 81,902
Total gains or losses recognised EERRESREEERE
in other comprehensive income REMEERE (49,659)
Settlements “E (163)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_ME+=-A=+—H 32,080

W

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B OB FE SRR P AT

For the year ended 3| December 2024
HE-Z-_MFF_A=T—-HIEFE

Equity investments
at fair value through

other comprehensive

income

BAFERTA

Hh 2 E W E Y

EERIRE

RMB'000

ARBFIT

At | January 2023 R-ZE-_=F—H—H 23917
Total gains or losses recognised EERASEERRE

in other comprehensive income RE A2 E R ES (12,654)

Transfer from Level 2 A2 ZREER 4306

Transfer from investment in associates BREE AR EEA 66,333

At 31 December 2023 R-_F_=4+_A=+—H 81902
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_NEt_A=t-BIFE

6.

142

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Contd)

®)

Recondiliation of assets and liabilities measured at fair value based

on level 3: (Cont'd)

During the year ended 3| December 2023, private equity
investments amounting RMB4,306,000 were transferred from
measurement based on level 2 to level 3. The valuation technique
was changed from “Investment cost” to “Market comparable
approach” as the transaction price was arrived at for more than a
year ago and no longer constituted an appropriate reference for the
most recent valuation and market comparable approach is a more
appropriate approach to value fair value of a company that is under

development stage with great potential for growth in the future.

The total gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive income
are presented in changes in fair value of equity investments at fair

value through other comprehensive income.

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and valuation
techniques and inputs used in fair value measurements at 3|

December 2024:

The Group’s chief financial officer is responsible for the fair value
measurements of assets and liabilities required for financial reporting
purposes, including level 3 fair value measurements. The chief
financial officer reports directly to the Board of Directors for these
fair value measurements. Discussions of valuation processes and
results are held between the chief financial officer and the Board of

Directors at least twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group has a team that
manages the valuation exercise of level 3 financial instruments
for financial reporting purposes. The team manages the valuation
exercise of the investments on a case-by-case basis. At least twice
every year, the team would use valuation techniques to determine
the fair value of the Group's level 3 financial instruments. External

valuation experts will be involved when necessary.
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
HE_Z-_MF+-A=+—-HIFE

6.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Cont'd) 6. ATEIEE)
Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and valuation (0 RZZE-WE+_A=+—BAKEMA
techniques and inputs used in fair value measurements at 3| HERFARAFEFTEMBEERT R
December 2024: (Cont'd) BABIRNHE (&)
Level 2 fair value measurements FRNFETE
Fair value
Valuation 2024
Description technique Inputs AFE
ik (hEH #ABE —g-pmE
RMB’000
AR®BTFT
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
BRAVESABENEREE
Derivatives — fixed coupon note N/A traded prices for 77,639
identical instruments
in the markets
TTETAE-EERE TEA hiE LEET AN
R B
Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income
BAVPEFT AR ZERSENERIRE
Over-the-counter debt securities N/A traded prices for 15,626
identical instruments
in the markets
BHRGZEHRES A WmiE LERT AN
R EW®E
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_NEt_A=t-BIFE

©

6.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Cont'd) 6. ATEIEE)
Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and valuation (0 RZE-_HFE+_A=+—AAFAKEMHA
techniques and inputs used in fair value measurements at 3| HEEFARATFEFEMAGERMT R
December 2024: (Cont'd) BABBRNRE (&)
Fair value
2023
Valuation NFE
Description technique Inputs —E-=F
fait R E R BAZIE RMB'000
AREFT
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
BATEFAESN S REE
Derivatives — fixed coupon note N/A traded prices for 68,622
identical instruments
in the markets
ITETHE-FEERE NEH 5 LR TR
R HER
Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
BAFES AR MEERRNEFIRE
Over-the-counter debt securities N/A traded prices for 22,600
identical instruments
in the markets
BN HIETEE T NEH M5 EAER T A
R HER

144
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6.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Contd)

©

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and valuation (c)

techniques and inputs used in fair value measurements at 3|

December 2024: (Cont'd)

Level 3 fair value measurements

) “Q\ \
W
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SO B HmRME

For the year ended 3| December 2024
HE_Z-_MF+-A=+—-HIFE
6. ADFEFERE)
R-ZB_MOFE+-A=t+—HAXKEMNE
RERFARAFEFEMAGERN R
BABURRRE ()

B=RAVEFGE

Effect on fair value Fair value
Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs for increase of inputs 2024
BABEE N A¥E
fik B TUERHAYE AFENZE —E2omE
RMB’000
ARETT
Equity investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income
BAHER AR M2 ERE M ES
K&
Private equity investments Adjusted net assets Fair value is evaluated with The estimated fair value 2,961
reference to the adjusted book  would increase if the
value of assets and liabilities to  adjusted net book values
reflect their fair market values.  of assets and liabilities
were higher, and vice
versa.
FLEEIRE RRAREERE APENESERAREER MHEABEERAERD
BEZREEENMG - URR REFERS @ G52
HAYmEEE - FEBEM - R2F
R o
Private equity investments Market comparable The valuation model is based on The estimated fair value 29,119
approach market multiples derived from  would increase if the
quoted prices of companies adjusted market multiples
comparable to the investee, were higher, and vice
adjusted for the effect of the versa.
non-marketability of the equity
securities, and the revenue/EBIT
of the investee.
FLEESIRE TiELEE RESANRERREHET HERETESEABR
BUBARMRERSBHZT & @ A ATESE
BREE - ARRAESETS 0 R2FAR -
RBEMVEURREHSRH
KA,/ EBITAELL A% -
EEERARAT FEHzoe 145
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HE_Z_NEt_A=t-BIFE

6.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Contd)

©

146

MNotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. NRAVEFEGE)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and valuation (c)

techniques and inputs used in fair value measurements at 3|

December 2024: (Cont'd)

R-ZE_NWF+_A=+—HBHAKEMA
HERFARAFEFTEMBEERT R
ABERIEE (&)

Effect on fair value Fair value
Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs for increase of inputs 2023
W A\ BE AL DA
fst fRE R TABREARE NHENZE —To=F
RMB'000
AREFT
Equity investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income
BATEF AR EE RS
Emk &
Private equity investments Adjusted net assets Fair value is evaluated with The estimated fair value 2972
reference to the adjusted book  would increase if the
values of assets and liabilities to  adjusted net book values
reflect their fair market values. of assets and liabilities
were higher, and vice
versa.
MEERIRE RRREERE AVEDVESZEAREER MEREBEREEN
BRZEEEENE  ARR FEFERS @ GEA
HAFmSEHE - FESEM - 2T
SR o
Private equity investments Market comparable Change in market capitalization ~ An increase in the change 3,753

MEERIRE

approach

MHLEA

TEED

in market capitalization
would result in an
decrease in the fair value
measurement of the
equity instrument, and
vice versa.

T{EZ BRI INKEE
BRATETENERT
BRd - R2ZIMA ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Contd)

(¢)  Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and valuation (c)

techniques and inputs used in fair value measurements at 3|

December 2024: (Cont'd)

SO B HmRME

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE-R-MET-A=+—HIFE

6. NRAVEFEGE)
R-ZE_MOFE+-A=t+—HAXKEME
AR 7 oA R A FERTE A A (A E R &
WABBOWE (&)

Effect on fair value Fair value

Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs for increase of inputs 2023
8RR N DA

i flERMT TABEBABE NHENZE —T-=F
RMB'000

AREFT

Private equity investments Discounted cash flow ~ Weight average cost of capital An increase in the 6,665

NLEHEERE

Hﬁiﬁiii// =

weight average cost of
capital would result in
an decrease in the fair
value measurement of
the equity instrument, and

vice versa.

TG EARRA iz RS S ViND N  op:d
IS EHE AT B &
MEETERYD  R2
JRIA o

An increase in the lack
of marketability discount
would result in an

Lack of marketability discount

decrease in the fair value
measurement of the
equity instrument, and
vice versa.

R st iR
BN ESIRA T ER
ENEETARY KX
2R e

An increase in the non-

B s RatTE

Non-controlling shareholder

discount controlling shareholder
discount would resuft in
an decrease in the fair
value measurement of
the equity instrument, and

vice versa.

FEERRAR R TR FEFE AR Hr R A3 0
BEBIE AT ETEN
Bm TR - R2ZI
R o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-F-NE+-A=t-HLEFE

6.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Contd) 6.

(¢)  Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and valuation (c)

DVEFEE)
R-ZE_MOFE+-A=t+—HAXKEME
AR 7 oA R A FERTE A A (A E R &

techniques and inputs used in fair value measurements at 3|

December 2024: (Cont'd)

WABBOWE : (&)

Effect on fair value Fair value

Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs for increase of inputs 2023
8RR N DA

i flERMT TABEBABE NHENZE —T-=F
RMB'000

AREFT

Private equity investments Market comparable The valuation model is based on  The estimated fair value 68,512

approach

market multiples derived from
quoted prices of companies
comparable to the investee,

would increase if the
adjusted market muttiples
were higher, and vice

adjusted for the effect of the versa,
non-marketability of the equity
securities, and the revenue/EBIT
of the investee.

NERRRE M5 EE REEXTIREEIRE S RA] h& IRl S EN
BURARMRERGLzT & AL TEGE
BRE - WRRAERIENS M RZTA

BN ENRIREH RN
WA,/ ERITYEH %
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group'’s business activities, for which discrete financial statements
are available, are regularly reviewed and evaluated by the chief operating
decision maker (the "CODM"). The CODM, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the executive directors of the Company who make

strategic decisions.

During the year, the CODM reassessed the performance and operation of
the Group and concluded that the Group has two operating segments as

follows:

- Game Business; and

- Electronic Device and Semiconductor Business

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments mainly
based on segment revenue, and adjusted earnings before interest expense,
taxes, depreciation and amortisation (the“adjusted EBITDA") excluding

share of profit of associates of each operating segment.

Specifically, the revenues from external customers reported to the CODM
are measured as segment revenue, which is the revenue derived from
the customers in each segment. In addition, adjusted EBITDA excludes the
effects of significant items of income and expenditure which may have an
impact on the assessment of operating segments’ results, primarily with
respect to effects of investment-related gains or losses and non-recurring

event.

Other information, together with the segment information, provided to
the CODM, is measured in a manner consistent with that applied in these
consolidated financial statements. There were no separate segment assets
and segment liabilities information provided to the CODM, as the CODM
does not use this information to allocate resources or to evaluate the

performance.

SO B HmRME

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE-R-MET-A=+—HIFE

WA KD EBE R
Zli‘ilﬁﬁii%iﬁibﬂﬁﬁﬁé’ﬂﬁﬂ%ﬁﬂ L]z
TERERRE(TETELERRE D ERERE

Kt - I%ﬁ,ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁf“ﬁﬂé{ﬁ&pﬂé
REDIMERE - HEDBEERENARRA
MITESREL -

FR - TELLRREEFTHEAEBNRE
R&EE  WRAREBEFATRELE D :

Kt

TERERK %I;JETF B R 3 AR UK
ARKRFHMEER - BiE - T ERBEHAOL
EJﬁ%é%%‘J(W‘SHWEBITDAJ)(T BREEHBER
BREN) FHE L E DRI RE -

E@ﬁﬂﬁﬁ%‘ CAEERERRERSHBEINBE
FRENKAERD BRAGTE - BIE 5 IR
5%)55’1 TEEA o BN - KT EEEBITDATE
BRI EEE ) BEENTHEETENER
WARHAYXBEERVE(EEEEREREBEEZR
FEEMBEFE) -

AEELERRERBOEBERCERD BE
MR E7TABARS G ERRAERNE
TR - HERNTELERRERBEMNS
VYN RBEERDBMEBER  DTHRIEL
BRREISSEMAUMNEMNSEE R AR
IH o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_NEt_A=t-BIFE

7.

150

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 7.
The segment information provided to the CODM for the reportable
segments for the years ended 3| December 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

WARDIBER(EZ)
HAEHROTRNEBLEEAREBERENEE
Z_NEN—_ZE_ZF+_A=+—BHILEE

D EBERDT
2024 2023
—ZTNF T =F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETT
Revenue KA
Revenue from contracts with customers BEEAAIMA
Game Business i 12,297 12,661
Electronic Device and Semiconductor Business B RIE N EREETE 70,286 47511
Total revenue FEV N 82,583 60,172
Adjusted EBITDA KFAEEBITDA
Game Business HHLES (26,489) (3.864)
Electronic Device and Semiconductor Business — Z5-F 3% M - B B E 75 (15,439) (4,678)
Share of profit of associates FEAGEE A Bl A - 4,633
Total adjusted EBITDA (TR EEEBITDALESE (41,928) (3.909)
Adjusted EBITDA reconciles to loss before KR EBITDAEERRFT BRI AIET 18
income tax is as follows: HERWMT :
Total adjusted EBITDA 4 ABEBITDABEE (41,928) (3.909)
Net interest income A S s AR 1,495 2939
Depreciation and amortisation P8 SR EE (22,384) (30,221)
Investment related gain/(loss) TE R (E51E)
— Gain on disposal of investments at fair value —HERATEFABRNIRE
through profit or loss Eaflirgs 12,111 53,799
— Dividends received from investments at fair — AR A THEF ARSI E
value through profit or loss HIAR B 148 163
— Changes in the fair value of investments at fair —IZAFEFFAEZRAIRE QT
value through profit or loss B (13,271) (17,497)
— Gain/(loss) on disposal of debt investments —HERATEF AEMEER
at fair value through other comprehensive mAEEIRER
income Uz (E518) 2,901 (26,321)
— Interest arising from debt investments at fair —EBAFEFAEMEEEER
value through other comprehensive income BRI & PTE B F 2 1,657 4,641
— Loss on deemed disposal of investment inan  — 1R {EH &R — & A R AR
associate AR EE - (1,209)
Loss before income tax KRS RIEE (59,271) (17,615)
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HE-Z-_MFF_A=T—-HIEFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) WARDHER(E)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers EFEHWADHT
Geographical information: HEER
2024 2023
—E_E s
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREBFT
PRC (excluding Hong Kong) HE(TBEES) 65,079 32,437
Other regions E b bR 17,504 27,735
82,583 60,172

The Group also conducts operations in Hong Kong and other regions. The

geographical information on the non-current assets (other than investments

at fair value through other comprehensive income) is as follows:

REBETREEREMBEETEE - BIER
PEEMNMRER(RAFEF AR M2

EIRERINFSIIT

2024 2023
—EmE —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETF T AREFT

Non-current assets JEMENE E
PRC (excluding Hong Kong) FE(TRIEES) 77,401 65,543
Hong Kong BB 29,607 44732
107,008 110275
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_NEt_A=t-BIFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 7. WARSBER(E)
Timing of revenue recognition: WA R :
2024 2023
—EomE —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFT
At a point in time T [ 2 74,584 48,920
Over time R—EREFHE A 7,999 ['1,252
82,583 60,172
Revenue from major customers: REFTEEZFHKA :
Revenue from major customers individually accounting for 10% or more ERIREFZEFPHBAGBKRASZTNSER
of total revenue is as follows: 10%8A T -
2024 2023
—EE —T=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AREBFT
Customer A (sales of electronic device and BEPAGHEE FRERFE)
semiconductor) 20,680 -
Customer B (sales of electronic device and HEPR(HESFRERTERE)
semiconductor) 12,662 -
Customer C (sales of electronic device and BEFCHEEFRERTEEE)
semiconductor) 11,109 -
Customer D (sales of electronic device and EFPD(HEEFRERTEE)
semiconductor) - 7,403
Customer E (sales of electronic device and EPEGEEBFRERTERE)
semiconductor) - 6,998
Note: Customer A, Customer B and Customer C did not meet the threshold Mz : EFA - BRPBREFPCREBE_ZT_=F1=
of accounting for 10% or more of total revenue for the year ended 3| A=+—RIEFEREILBIA 0% A LK
December 2023. Customer D did not meet the threshold of accounting for TRE -BFDRBE-_T_WNF+=A=+
10% or more of total revenue for the year ended 3| December 2024. —BIEFERERGBYAI10%IA EH TR
=
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE-R-MET-A=+—HIFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 7. WARSIERE)
Revenue recognition LON
Webgame and Mobile Game Business HERBEERFER

Game Product

The Group provides game product development services through
game platforms, which are either selfowned or operated by third

parties.

The Group's games are free-to-play and players can pay for virtual
items for better in-game experience. Players purchase game credits
(“Paying Players”) through the platform's charging system and
use the game credits to exchange in-game virtual items. Paying
Players usually exchange their game credits for the virtual items
shortly after purchases. The monetary value of the virtual items
sold is shared between the Group and the platforms, which is pre-
determined in revenue sharing arrangements (“Revenue Sharing
Arrangements”) enacted between the Group and each of the
platforms. The platforms collect the payments made by Paying
Players and remit the cash to the Group according to the Revenue

Sharing Arrangements.

Upon the sales of virtual items, the Group typically has an implied
obligation to provide the service which enables the virtual items
to be displayed and consumed in the respective games. As a
result, the proceeds from the sales of virtual items are initially
recorded in deferred revenue and are then recognised as revenue
subsequently only when the services have been rendered either
upon consumption or ratably over the average playing period of

Paying Players (“‘Player Relationship Period”).

2 X EE A

AEEEBERNTA(AARE=HTA)
12 GBI BRI RES -

AEBNERSAREEDT  IRATRB
BEEREAENREHHERER - TR
BRETFENKRBERGEEREBRE (T
BOIR]) o 0N R LA SR B B B
H -[ENATEBEEARERD
ABMAMBENRESRIUERER - 1
EERBEENBEERTEBEFTERE -
HEMAKBEESET 6 MHENRAR
ER(TRAXKZREDRLEE - T4
Y £ F 5 2 Do 2R S AN EO IR QAR B IR 2K
FRERHEEREERTAKE -

REEERBAR  NEE—REFAE
RHAI S ERBRNERT BRLEIAE
REORGHOMHFEE - Bt - HEEHRB
AEXMNMEFRERTFABRLTERA » I
EBERERSIENERRNFHERNH
(ToeR B RS AR ) R PlR AR R AR
BBl ERRBEA -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
RE+Z A=t —HIEEE

HE-

7.

154

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

Webgame and Mobile Game Business (Cont'd)

Game Product (Cont'd)

For the purposes of determining when services have been rendered
to the respective Paying Players, the Group has determined the

following:

0) Consumable virtual items represent items that will be
extinguished shortly after consumption by a specific game
player action. The Paying Players will not continue to benefit
from the virtual items thereafter. Revenue is recognised (as a

release from deferred revenue) when items are consumed.

(i)~ Durable virtual items represent items that are accessible
and beneficial to Paying Players over an extended period of
time. Revenue is recognised ratably over the average Player
Relationship Period, which represents the best estimates of
the average life of durable virtual items for the applicable

game.

The Group determines the Player Relationship Period on a game-
by-game and platform-by-platform basis by tracking the player data,
such as log-in data and purchase/consumption records. If there is
insufficient player data to determine the Player Relationship Period,
such as in the case of a newly launched game, it estimates the Player
Relationship Period based on other similar types of games of the
Group or third-party developers, taking into account the game
profile, target audience and its appeal to Paying Players of different
demographic groups, until the new game establishes its own history,
which is normally up to 12 months after launch. The Group re-

assesses such periods semi-annually.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)
Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

Webgame and Mobile Game Business (Cont'd)

Game Product (Cont'd)

The Group has evaluated the roles and responsibilities in the
delivery of game experience to the Paying Players and concluded
that the Group takes the primary responsibilities in the game
product service. The Group is determined to be the primary
obligor and reports gross revenue. Due to the fact that the third
party platforms may offer various marketing discounts from time
to time to Paying Players, the actual prices paid by any individual
paying player may be lower than the standard prices of virtual items
purchased, with the balance being subsidised by the platforms,
accordingly, the Group has to attempt to make a reasonable
estimation for the gross revenue amount through tracking third

party platforms’ marketing activities.

Nevertheless, for the Group’s webgames which are published
through a large number of domestic third party platforms, since
those platforms would offer various market discounts to Paying
Players, it is difficult for the Group to make a reasonable estimation
for the gross revenue, as such, the Group reports revenue to the
extent of the amounts received and receivable from those domestic

third party platforms under the Revenue Sharing Arrangements.

However, if the Group is able to make a reasonable estimate of
the gross revenue for some of webgames published on certain
reputable international platforms, such as Facebook, and for the
Group's mobile games published through various mobile platforms,

the related revenue is recognised on a gross basis.

The Group also derives revenue from licensing and technical
support services on a game-by-game basis. Licensing revenue is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the respective licensing
periods. Technical support revenue is recognised when the services

are rendered.

SO B HmRME

For the year ended 3| December 2024
HE-Z-_MFF_A=T—-HIEFE

WARDEBER(E)
LON . AC-P)
HERBBER¥*H ()

BRER(E)

AEECHEAERANEFIEREHRER
BEPEENAE MAENETETT
i - WRHARBEAEBEERREBIET
AEEFERIMNGR -  ARERBESE
RECAREELE2RABA - F=7F8&
TRRANETRREZELHTN - F
it - T B B DT R PSS ) BER B A
HERBEEEFERNIREER - MAH
BEEHTEmE o A AREAEE!
BEME=TTFENLHEBHMFTEK
AT BETEREMG -

BRib 29N - ERAKE 2 WA BEREBR
ZEARF=7FE%EM MERZEFFE
FRNEBENREHREELHTN - A8E
HEAB R AETRIBMAE - FAEE
EBIWATHERRBRARZLHS
ZEBENE=F A WL EKFA -

A MELRETMEZEE T AN
Facebook) E MBI A B #EL - ARBB R
BRETABEMOANEEBRBBEE - e
REE R HE B A ML A B - RIS
AU AR AR A B R o

2N £R (B TR A - TR0 R I I B =2 FE AR 7S
BREVUA © BIEWARE B 1R HRIZ
BAVERER © B0 SFR U AR S A8 B AR
R RER o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE-

TRET-A=+-ALEFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

Webgame and Mobile Game Business (Cont'd)

156

Game Platform

The Group provides game platform service through cooperation
with game developers to Paying Players. The Group publishes its
self-developed and third party games on its platform. As described
in above, the games are free-to-play and players can pay for in-

game virtual items for better in-game experience.

The Group’s Game Platform revenue mainly derives from Revenue
Sharing Arrangements (details described in above) from game
developers. The games published on self-owned platform are
hosted, maintained and updated by the game developers, and the
Group mainly provides access to the platform and certain basic and
limited after-sale technical support to the Paying Players. The Group
has evaluated and determined it is not the primary obligor in the
services rendered to the Paying Players as a platform. Accordingly,
the Group records its revenue, net of the portion of sharing of

revenues with the game developers.

The Group believes that it has an implied obligation to the game
developers; which corresponds to the implied obligation of the
game developers' to provide the services to game players to enable
the virtual items to be displayed and consumed/used in the games.
Given that games are hosted, managed and administered by the
game developers, the Group does not have access to the data
relating to the consumption details; as well as the types of virtual
items being purchased by the Paying Players. However, the Group
maintains individual Paying Player’s purchase history of game credits
which are used for exchange for virtual items. As such, the Group
has adopted a policy to recognise revenues for both consumable
and durable items exchanged by game credits over the Player
Relationship Period (details described in above) on a game-by-game

basis.

Paying Players make payments through various online and mobile
payment channels, which in turn charge handling fees at a certain
percentage on the gross purchase amounts. The Group recorded

the charges in “cost of revenue’.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)
Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

Webgame and Mobile Game Business (Cont'd)

Electronic Device and Semiconductor Business

The Group sells electronic device and semiconductor to the
customers. Sales are recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to a customer,
there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products and the customer has obtained legal

titles to the products.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms of 15 to
90 days. For new customers, deposits or cash on delivery may be

required. Deposits received are recognised as a contract liability.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered to
the customers as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required before

the payment is due.

The Group earned interest income from a loan lent to borrowers in
supporting solution services for electronic device and semiconductor
business. Such interest income is recognized and accrued using the

effective interest rate.

SO B HmRME

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE-R-MET-A=+—HIFE

WARDEBER(E)
LON . AC-P)
HERBBER¥*H ()

REERARFHEHEETRENRFERE - 5

EREMZEHERERRERER  ERE
RRNER - PEEARZETPERERER
HARBITET - ERPEBEEREER
B2 »

%%ﬁm%%*ﬁ&fwi%%MEﬁ
H - IRFEAIEFE BHMTI SN E R
%oE%ﬂﬁﬁwﬁmﬂﬁ@o

BUHRERERRNEPRER - LRE
REXSERGNKESR  BAENKE
Hﬂﬁfjfiﬁ;%g% E%Fﬁ”lbi ©

AREEETRRARAZEEFRER
B IBET OIAT RIS O ERIIF
BUA  BFIBRARERFIRRER R
B -

OTHER INCOME Hfth W i
2024 2023
—E-QmE —B-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETTT

Dividends arising from debt investments at fair & A BT A KA 2 ARG A ERS

value through other comprehensive income AR 1,657 4,641
Interest revenue T B &S 1,596 3,242
Government grants T % BN - 143
Others EAth - 51
3,253 8,077
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE-

9.

158

TRET-A=+-ALEFE

OTHER GAINS — NET 9. HMREBFE
2024 2023
—BCWE —TB-=fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT
Gain on disposal of investments at fair value HERATHERF A ERNRER
through profit or loss g 12,111 53,799
Dividends received from investments at fair WHR A THERT AR AR E /)
value through profit or loss i S 148 163
Changes in fair value of investments at fair BRATHEF ABRHIREATE
value through profit or loss g2k (13,271) (17,497)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of investments at fair HERLFER AR 2 ER
value through other comprehensive income IR ERE (E518) 2,901 (26,321)
Loss on deemed disposal of investment in an RIELER —HEE A RMIRE
associate K E1E - (1,209)
Loss on disposals of property and equipment i E W KRB EE - (12)
Litigation settlement related to right of publicity — ELAFIHER B R FFFATNF - (6,698)
Others EAth (567) 5,994
Exchange (loss)/gain, net & H (E518), W58 (105) 5,009
1,217 13,228
FINANCE COST 10. RAEERA
2024 2023
—BomEF —B-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFT
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEAERN X 101 188
Interest expense on bank borrowings SRITIERH B - I'15
101 303
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INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

SO B HmRME

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE-R-MET-A=+—HIFE

FEB(ER) BxX

2024 2023
—E-E —EC-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT

Current tax — PRC and oversea enterprise BNERFHIE — R B S8 IMEFEFTTS

income tax il

Provision for the year FANE - 2
Deferred tax (Note 30) RAER A (M45130) (19) -
(19) 2

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of Cayman Islands

and accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in Hong
Kong is provided at 8.25% on assessable profits up to HK$2,000,000, and
the applicable tax rate was 16.5% on any part of assessable profits over
HK$2,000,000 based on the assessable profits for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in the
PRC was calculated at the tax rate of 25% on the assessable profits for
the years ended 3| December 2024 and 2023, based on the existing

legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

ARARREBERASHERANENH S HBEMAK
YREBRRERART - LRI ERRHRHES
HEMEHR -

RBE_T_NGER-_T_=F+=_A=+—
HIEFE  AEBEBABESEBOMEHEHE
T ERERT R A 5HEE - T8 #82,000,000%
TT B JE SR i i K 4R 8.25% M B R 5HiR - MR 1B
2,000,000 7T B 1E f] & 2R Bt i K &0 9 Bl i i@ A
TR 1 6.5%5T1E o

REEFENPENEBTROMESREBEED
BEREES  REREFRBEZE-_T_MNF
k=T —=F+=-A=t+—HILtFENERH
i MFR25% BT R E o
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SOt R SRR M =

For the year ended 31 December 2024

160

E_WNEF A=+ -ALEFE

Hz=-%

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Cont'd)

Shenzhen Xingyun Data Technology Co., Ltd. (RYITHITZEEIEKMTE
FRAR]) (“Shenzhen Xingyun") qualified as “High and New Technology
Enterprises” under PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law (“EIT Law”) in 2020
and was subsequently renewed in 2023. Thus, the applicable tax rate was

[5% for the years ended 3| December 2024 and 2023.

Shenzhen Haihong Microelectronics Technology Co., Ltd (““Shenzhen
Haihong”) (AIIBALIME FHAMBRAF]) qualified as small and micro
enterprises with an annual taxable income of RMBI million or less, and
are entitled to a 25% tax credit for their tax payable and at the tax rate of

20% (i.e. 5% tax rate).

According to the relevant EIT Laws jointly promulgated by the Ministry
of Finance of the PRC, State Tax Bureau of the PRC, and Ministry of
Science of the PRC that became effective from 2018 onwards, enterprises
engaging in research and development activities are entitled to claim 175%
of their research and development expenses so incurred as tax deductible
expenses when determining their assessable profits for that year (“Super
Deduction”).

According to the applicable PRC tax regulations, dividends distributed by
a company established in the PRC to a foreign investor with respect to
profits derived after | January 2008 are generally subject to a 10% PRC
withholding tax (“WHT"). If a foreign investor incorporated in Hong Kong
meets the conditions and requirements under the double taxation treaty
arrangement entered into between the PRC and Hong Kong, the relevant

withholding tax rate will be reduced from 10% to 5%.

No deferred income tax liability has been recognised in respect of WHT
on the undistributed earnings of the subsidiaries incorporated in the
PRC as those PRC subsidiaries with foreign immediate parent are all
with accumulated losses (i.e. without any distributable earnings) as of 31
December 2024 and 2023.

FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2024 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B OB FE SRR P AT

For the year ended 3| December 2024
HE-Z-_MFF_A=T—-HIEFE

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Cont'd) 1. FBBGER) BX(&E)
HEAERAREHERNEBERNEENXGAE
15 i B 32 5 & 58 1 B B9 7 5 B 89 B P15 56 AT S

The tax on the Group's loss before income tax differs from the theoretical

amount that would arise using the statutory tax rate applicable to losses of

the consolidated entities as follows: BEBHBRIENT
2024 2023
—E-ImEF —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AR¥ETTT
LLoss before income tax MrFTS R R E R (59,271) (17,615)
Tax calculated at statutory income tax rates RERANE RAERNE I ER
applicable to loss of the consolidated entities in B BB AT P ST R E R
their respective jurisdictions THIE (11,685) (4,600)
Tax effects of: THRENRGHLE -
Preferential income tax rates applicable to
subsidiaries HERARKEARNEEMERHE 54 (69)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses & 0 Al R iR 2 TR IB &8 (205) (1,731)
Tax losses and timing differences for which RHERIEEFT1ST & E R TR 1B &
no deferred income tax asset was recognised BREREER 9,440 9,148
Tax effect of expenses not deductible/(income A FRBS,/(SETH EFRUA)
not taxable), net RIS s 2550 2,577 (2,208)
Super Deduction pliEEilES (200) (538)
Income tax (credit)/expense Fssi(ER), /X (19) 2
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_NEt_A=t-BIFE

fl

12.  LOSS FOR THE YEAR 12. FRER
The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) the REEFAEBIEMER, (GFA) THEER
following: HIER -
2024 2023
—EopmE =%
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARBTT
Amortisation of intangible assets R B B 5,179 [,059
Allowance for inventories FERE 5918 1,993
Cost of inventories sold BEEFE KA 66,970 41,704
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 2,479 1,476
Depreciation of property and equipment MR EEITE 14,726 27,686
Auditor's remuneration ZERD BN &
— Audit services for the Group - AEEEZR 1,650 1,650
— Audit services for target group - B RS EEZRSS !
— Non-audit services — IEELIRTS 220 220
1,981 1,870
Impairment provision/(reversal) of financial assets IREERK AT E RS BEERE
measured at amortised cost — net B (BE)FE
— Reversal of impairment for trade receivables, — — & 5 FEWGKIE R (B ¢ ) F 58
net ) (394)
— Provision of impairment for other — H i R IE R E R
receivables 3,480 4,956
— Reversal of impairment for loan receivables - R EFRERE (3,000) (15,050)
471 (10,488)
Staff costs including directors’ emoluments PREESFHeNE TR
— Fees, wages, salaries and bonus -t% L&  FrekEa 15,356 11266
— Pension costs — defined contribution plans — RIS — REHKEE 743 573
— Social security costs, housing benefits - B RERAE - EEEFR
and other employee benefits E g St A 529 533
16,628 12372
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B OB FE SRR P AT

For the year ended 3| December 2024
HE-Z-_MFF_A=T—-HIEFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

@)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

Directors' and chief executive's remuneration for the year, disclosed

pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules, is as follows:

13. EEREFETHRAEMEUARIEBRRSH

ey AL

) EEBERFETHRAE#MS

FRAESEREIETRAEMEREER L

MARREEMT :
2024
ZEoQE
Estimated
Employer’s monetary

contribution to

value of other

Discretionary ~ a retirement benefits
Name of directors Fees Salaries bonus ~ benefit scheme (note i) Total
RENS
BICEREE ftERER
ESfR e & BERL  MEIEX (Hf&Ei) 5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARMTR ARMTR ARETR AR%TR ARETR
Executive directors: HTEE:
Zhu Liang KR - 600 50 - 3 663
Cui Yuzhi ETE - 659 55 - - 714
Zhou Xiaoyu (i) R (i) - 278 55 7 - 340
Non-executive director: FHTEE:
Wang Wenpeng (i) B¢ - 180 - - - 180
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHTEE -
Wong Chi Kin BHE 306 - - - - 306
Lu Xiaoma BEHE 306 - - - - 306
Ji Yong (iv) RE (W) 306 - - - - 306
918 1717 160 7 13 2815
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SOt R SRR M =

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_NEt_A=t-BIFE

13.

164

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Contd)

@

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Cont'd)

13. EEREFETHRAEMEURAEBRRESH

e AL (&)
() EBRIBTBRAEMS(E)
2023
ZTI=F
Estimated
Employer's monetary

contributionto value of other

Discretionary ~ a retirement benefits
Name of directors Fees Salaries bonus  benefit scheme (note i) Total
EftAanle
RIVERGE REtEREE
Bty #e e BEEL  mEZHR (Hiz) &t
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMBI000 RMBI000
ARETT  AREBTRT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR

Executive directors: HITEE

Zhu Liang KR - 600 50 - 12 662

Cul Yuzhi EFE - 633 5% - - 708

Non-executive directors: FHTEE

Han Jun (v) HE() 303 - = = - 303

Wang Wenpeng (ii) B¢ -{()] 19 - - = = 19

Independent non-executive directors: BUHHTES

Wong Chi Kin BHE 303 - - - = 303

Lu Xiaoma BES 303 - - - - 303

Ji Yong (iv) RE () 303 = = = = 303

1,231 [,253 105 = 12 2601

Notes: BifsE -

0) Other benefits mainly include contributions to social security plans 0) Hob 18 Fl £ 2 64 i BT B P e B
that are organised and administered by the governmental authorities. Bt B RIEET B -

(ii) Mr. Zhou Xiaoyu was appointed as an executive director with effect iy RBAEFEEE_FT_MNFNA_REE
from 2 August 2024. ZERPITES -

(i)~ Mr. Wang Wen Peng was appointed as a non-executive director with (i EXBEERE_T_=F+_ANB&
effect from 8 December 2023. He was removed from the position BRERFERTESE - jEZ =] ;g —HE
of non-executive director with effect from 2 August 2024. NAZHBREREFNTESTRE -

(iv)  Mr. Ji Yong resigned from the position of independent non-executive vy EBEEE_FT_hF-A_ttRAE
director with effect from 27 January 2025. BHEBVIEMITESRTS -

() Mr. Han Jun resigned from the position of non-executive director v BERER-_FT_=F+_F/\HEH
with effect from 8 December 2023. ESFMITERRTS -

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive FN - HEFFRFZTHRAERBEMZH

waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Contd)

(b)

(©)

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or
contracts

No other significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,

whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of or at any time

SO B HmRME

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE-R-MET-A=+—HIFE

13. EEREFETHRAEMEUARIEBRRSH
e AL (&)

(b)

EERNXRS  REFEHNNERER

MEARBEFTNERRR MG ZERE
EEXBEBANBE_T_OF+_-_A=
T-RLEFEERBIEREMERFE
WEK§%~§H&A%¢E%¢WQ%

during the year ended 3| December 2024 (2023: nil). BEMERAER(ZT_=F: &) -
Five highest paid employees (c) HEESHFMHAL
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year FRAREELEESTMALBE=2E
included 3 directors (2023: 2 directors) whose remuneration are H(ZEZEZ=F - MEBES)  EAMeERN
set out in note |3(a) above. Details of the remuneration for the EXHFEIZGR) - BTRE(ZE =4 :
year of the remaining 2 (2023: 3) highest paid employees are as =R)EEHHMATRFERFHAFFEN
follows: N
2024 2023
—BCOmE —F-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETTT
Fees, wages and salaries we  IE8RES 1,082 1,546
Pension costs — defined contribution plans RARESKAR—FREH-ZKE 2 54 131
Social security costs, housing benefits and other ~ #E{REKA - FHEEF KR
employee benefits H g 8@ 54 124
1,190 1,801

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
directors of Company and whose remuneration falls within the

following bands:

BRTIIFMEE ML IR R EEN K
SEBA L ABINT

Number of individuals

AE
2024 2023
—ES-F —EC-=4F
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 ZBITE 000,000 7T 2 3
EFEREMRAT FE@s024 165
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

14.

166

E_WNEF A=+ -ALEFE

Hz=-%

DIVIDENDS 14.
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the
Company during 2024, nor has any dividend been proposed at the end of

the reporting period (2023: nil).

LOSS PER SHARE 15.
Basic loss per share

The basic loss per share for each of the years ended 31 December 2024

and 2023 is calculated based on the loss attributable to the owners of the
Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

during the year, calculated as follows:

MNotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE
REZZF-NF - BERAARD R EBREIRMNSK
BERITARE  RBRESHRTEZZTMARE
(Z2==F :E|) -

BREE

BRERESE
HE-Z-_NMFR-_Z_=F+=-A=+—H
EEFENEREABEDERRNRRIEES A
EEEBEERFAEBITERRINETOHGE
R

2024 2023
—E-WF —B-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETFTT
Loss attributable to owners of the Company RAREE AELEE (59,307) (17,617)
2024 2023
—E-mE —BC=F

Weighted average number of ordinary shares HE+TZA=1T—HIFEH
for the year ended 3| December B AR INRE S 2 143,350,090 143,350,090
Basic loss per share (RMB) BREAREE(AAREITE) (0.41) (0.12)

Diluted loss per share

The diluted loss per share equals to the basic loss per share, as the
Company did not have any dilutive potential ordinary sharing for the years
ended 3| December 2024 and 2023.
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SO B HmRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
HE-Z-_MFF_A=T—-HIEFE

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 16. M¥RFKE
Furniture Servers
Land and and office and other Motor Leasehold
building  equipment equipment vehicles  improvements Total
TR BRR  BRERR
BEY BAERB  EtRE nE  HEMEEE #st
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETE AREBTT ARETR
Cost B
At | January 2023 RZEZ=%—H—-H 19,057 1,241 97,351 840 2918 121,407
Additions NE = 485 = - - 485
Disposals HE = (68) = (840) - (508)
Currency translation differences INETEEE - - 1,509 - = 1,509
At 31 December 2023 and | January 2024 R=F==F+-A=+-H
R=Z-m#-A-H 19,057 1,658 98,860 - 2918 122,493
Additions nE - 39 - - - 39
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 34a) RS — R 2 R (Mt 34a) - 7 - - - 7
Disposals HE - Ul - - - 0l
Currency translation differences IBITEESR - - 1,350 - - 1,350
At 31 December 2024 R=ZZE-ME+=A=+-H 19,057 1,697 100,210 - 2918 123,882
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  REHTERRE
At | January 2023 RZZZ=%—-F—H 715 652 24,869 840 1,223 28299
Charge for the year FRMR 952 215 29614 - 605 31386
Disposals HE = 33) = (840) = (873)
Currency translation differences INEEER = = 457 — = 457
At 3| December 2023 and | January 2024 ~ R=B==£+-A=1-A
R-E-mFE-A- 1,667 834 54,940 - 1,828 59,269
Charge for the year FERHk 953 275 28,873 - 606 30,707
Disposals HE - (7 - - - @
Currency translation differences METEER - - 1,019 - - 1,019
At 3| December 2024 RZB-mE+-A=t+-H 2620 1,102 84832 - 2,434 90,988
Carrying amount RHE
At 31 December 2024 R-B-mE+-A=t+-H 16,437 595 15378 - 484 32,894
At 3| December 2023 R-F_=F+t-A=1-H 1739 824 43920 - 1,090 63,224
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_NEt_A=t-BIFE

fl

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. BREE
Customer Game Computer
relationship licenses Patents  software licenses Goodwill Total
EFEBE ERT ER ERB#AFIE [k @t
RMBO0O RMBOOO RMBO0O RMBO0O RMBO0O RMBO0O
ARBTRE  ARETT ARMTT  AR%TR  AREBTR  ARETE
Cost KA
At | January 2023 R=Z-=#—-F—-A - - - 10079 17,301 27380
Additons AE - - 15,386 136 - 15522
Expired 38 = = - (5.122) - (5.122)
At 31 December 2023 and | January 2024 M=B-Z=E+-A=+-AEK
Z2-ME-A-A - - 15,386 5,093 17,301 37,780
Additions WE - 3359 20,064 - - 3423
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 342) e — R B A R (FrEE34a) 4647 - - - 8476 13,123
Expired il - (529) - - - (529)
At 31 December 2024 RZB-mF+=A=+-H 4647 2830 35,450 5,093 2,777 73,797
Accumulated amortisation and impairment £t R F{E
At | January 2023 R=ZF-=F—-F—A - - - 8857 - 8857
Charge for the year ERAG - - 563 496 - 1,059
Expired g - - - (5.122) - (5.122)
At 3] December 2023 and | fanuary 2024  R=Z==F+-f=1+—-AEk
“ToEE-A-H - - 563 4731 - 479
Charge for the year ERAL 387 1,309 3,065 418 - 5179
Expired ) - (523) - - - (523)
At 31 December 2024 RZB-mE+=A=+-H 387 786 3628 4649 - 9,450
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2024 RZB-mF+=B=+-H 4260 2044 31822 444 2,777 64,347
At 31 December 2023 RZZZ=%+-A=1-H - - 14823 862 17301 32986
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont'd)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to
the cash generating units (“*CGUs") that are expected to benefit from that
business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated

as follows:

SO B HmRME

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE-R-MET-A=+—HIFE

BELEE(E)
EXBAHTESNEERN KBRS EEEY
BZEBEHIENRSELEN([REE
HEEM]) - BENREECS S REOT

2024 2023
—EUE —Eo=4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETTT

Electronic device and semiconductor business: ERad NE L E
Shenzhen Haihong ARIEAT N/A
8,476 T iE
Shenzhen Xingyun RYATE 17,301 17,301
25,777 17,301

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined on the basis of
their value in use using discounted cash flow method. The key assumptions
for the discounted cash flow method are those regarding the discount
rates, growth rates and budgeted gross margin and revenue during the
period. The Group estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based on long-term average
economic growth rate of the geographical area in which the businesses of
the CGUs operate. Budgeted gross margin and revenue are based on past

practices and expectations on market development.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent
financial statements approved by the directors of the Company. The cash
flow contained five years forecast with the growth rate of 1.6% (2023: 1.0%).

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows from the Group'’s

electronic device and semiconductor business is 20% (2023:20%).

ReEABEVMARESENEERUERS
REBAAECRABEEETE - BRBENEE
FIERAMEERBDEBAERE EREX -7
Z%MT&%WWAO$EIW%W&%EW

SH EBRENTHRReELEEMNEE
ﬁa%%&%ﬂ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁoﬁﬁ$W&ﬁ
CEEBMNLEEEFEENRBFEHLEE
RRERSHEE -BEEMNERKHEDIRABTE
Bl TEE ISR AE%E o

AEEFRmAENAERERARERARAE
EHENROBYBHRER - R RERSHF

EE R RE|6U(ZTE=F : |.0%) °
BRI REAEBNETRE R L ERER

MEARERENL R B20% (ZE-_=F:
20%) °
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SO B BmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE-ZT-WF+-A=+—ALEE
8. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. HERFEHEESE
Disclosures of lease-related items: AEHEEEAWHESE
2024 2023
—E-MEFE T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBFT
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H
— Properties o E3 2,749 3,386
Lease commitments of short-term leases RHITE M SR E 65 4565
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash ANEEEMEEB BERBERTHER &
flows, of the Group's lease liabilities is as follows: RERZEIHADATLAT -
— Less than | year ——FLAT 1,789 2,523
— Between | and 2 years ——FEfF 1,097 1,050
— Between 2 and 5 years —ZERF 145 273
3,031 3,846
170  FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2024 Annual Report
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SO B HmRME

For the year ended 3| December 2024
HE-Z-_MFF_A=T—-HIEFE

LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Cont'd) 18. HERFEREEE(E)
Disclosures of lease-related items: (Cont'd) HEHEBEERNEESE (&)
Year ended 31 December 2024 2023
BEt-A=1T—-RHLFE il 11 ZTZ=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBETT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets EREEENERX 2,479 1,936
Lease interests AEFE 101 |88

Expense relating to short-term leases (included

HIEMHEERBOFAS GTATTR

in administrative expense and research and M REEAY)

development expense) 220 1,563
Total cash outflow for leases HEMRE LA 3,018 3,645
Additions to right-of-use assets NEFRAEEE 2,646 | 845
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 34a) UeBE — B B A B (M sE34a) 354 -
Lease termination HEXRIE 1,145 —
Currency translation difference HNE T (13) l6

The Group leases properties. Lease agreements are typically made for

fixed periods of 2 — 5 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual

basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease

agreements do not impose any covenants and the leased assets may not

be used as security for borrowing purposes.

AEEEEYE - HEBGRESMETE - BEN
FoERF - BEGRKEZREERIER 5 m
E o EPEESBETRMGREES - HER
AW EEARE  MEEEETSRECER
A -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE-

19.

172

TRET-A=+-ALEFE

SUBSIDIARIES AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES  19.

Particulars of the Group's principal subsidiaries and controlled structured

entities as at 3| December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

MEARRZZFERER
AEER-_ZT_NER_T_=F+_HA=+
—BEFENBARARIRXEFIABERFEN
F ¢

Percentage of ownership interest/

voting power/profit sharing

Place of incorporation/ FrEEs/ RER/BR
registration and Issued and PREDL
Name operation paid up capital 2024 2023 Principal activities
AL BRR
£ EEBY BRORBRRE —F-RmE  ZB-DHE IREH
Indirectly held by the Company
RAREREE
Feidong (Note ii) The PRC US$15,000,000 100% 100% Software development and provision of information technology services
SEBy(Mfsi) G 150000007 ST IR R 8 AR
Feiyin (Note i) The PRC RMBI0,000,000 100% 100%  Development of webgames and mobile games
SR (W) i ARH10000000 TRARRERREDES
Weidong (Note i) The PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100% Development and operation of webgames and mobile games
#E(M) G AR %10000000 T REERRERRBEEE
Jieyou (Note i) The PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100%  Development and operation of webgames and mobile games
FeE (M) it AEH10000000 MR R RRERRB LR
Shenzhen Xingyun (Note i) The PRC RMB20,000,000 100% 100% Trading of electronic device and semiconductor
AIE () G AR %20000000 ETRERFERES
Shenzhen Haihong The PRC US$1,300,000 95.0769% — Trading of electronic device and semiconductor
AIga G 1300000 7T ETRERFERES
Directly held by the Company
AAREEKE
Netcloud (Hong Kong) Technology ~ Hong Kong HKS! 100% 100% Trading of electronic device and semiconductor
Limited
EREERRERAR B IBT EfRERTERES
& These companies are the Group's consolidated structured entities. & ZERNRAAAEENEHEBILEERS -
Notes: Ft 5
0) These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-domestic-owned enterprises 0} ZEWNBRARBEBERBEEZTIMARNERBE D

under the laws of the PRC.

(ii) This subsidiary is registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the
laws of the PRC.

FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2024 Annual Report
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SUBSIDIARIES AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES
(Cont'd)

The English names of certain companies referred herein represent
management’s best effort at translating the Chinese names of these

companies as no English name has been registered.

The Company has set up a structured entity (“Restricted Share Units
Scheme Trust”) solely for the purpose of purchasing, administering and
holding the Company's shares for the Restricted Share Units Scheme, the
Company has the power to direct the relevant activities of the Restricted
Share Units Scheme Trust and it has the ability to use its power over the
Restricted Share Units Scheme Trust to affect its exposure to returns.
Therefore, the assets and liabilities of the Restricted Share Units Scheme
Trust are included in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position and the shares it held are presented as a deduction in equity as

Shares held for Restricted Share Units Scheme.

19.

SO B HmRME

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE-R-MET-A=+—HIFE

MEBARRZEHSBER(E)

AXFrRRRETRA
RE N BFEZ

B R AEHE A X B
AR EHMRAREEEERR
FRANFHME -

ARRARERIY—RHEEE BRI EL
HEIERE])  H— B AR B B F
ERE  EERFBEARXARND  ARBAE
ERRR G B EEENEREE - X
RENBEHXRGIRNEMTEEENRNF
ZEHMER - Btk - KRB BALET ST
BERABIAAKEGHMBAREK - ME
FENBROERRIRSIBRM B EFED
DRSS BHRBIER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_NEt_A=t-BIFE

veY
0 ’

20. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER 20. BRATEFAHMZERWRIEZNIRE
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2024 2023
—E-mEF T =F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AR¥ETTT
Equity securities, at fair value EmEs  BATE
Unlisted securities (Note) I EmES () 32,080 81,902
Debts instruments, at fair value BRITE  BAFE
Over-the-counter debt securities BINZ S IETEEF 15,626 22,600
47,706 104,502
Analysed as: PR -
Non-current assets EREEE 37,373 91,048
Current assets mENEE 10,333 13,454
47,706 104,502
Note: s
Designation of these investments as equity investments at fair value through other i Eig&ﬁTEE%EQ%@%)\E{@%EWEE@%E
comprehensive income can avoid the volatility of the fair value changes of these RE  AIABREZEFRENATEZDHHIERARD
investments to the profit or loss. TE -
21.  INVENTORIES 21. 7E
2024 2023
— S —Fo=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFT
Finished goods B 32,291 16,245
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For the year ended 3| December 2024

HE_Z-_WF+_A=+—RALLERE
TRADE RECEIVABLES 22. EZEWRRIE
Credit sales are mainly derived from the Electronic Device and EAREEIEZREEFRERFEEBEL - IF
Semiconductor Business and the normal credit term was from |5 to 90 BERHEABESRSHBHEISEIR -
days from respective transaction dates.
2024 2023
—E-IF ZT=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETT
Trade receivables = e e
— Game Business — BEERS 16,111 16611
— Trade of Electronic Device and Semiconductor — B8 N FEEEE 5 275
Business 4,287 798
— Supporting solution of Electronic Device and ~ — BF & M B EE X ISALE
Semiconductor Business R 1,146 63,650
21,544 81,059
Provision for loss allowance EHREERE (14,766) (14,707)
Carrying amount BREE 6,778 66,352

The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on recognition date of the

trade receivables and net of allowance, is as follows:

ENESRWFIERABHLE R EFENE

ZIEMGRIRR R DMTIAT

2024 2023
—ECMF —Fo=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR AREETT

0-30 days 0-30H 4,902 30,177
31-60 days 31-608 1,706 35673
61-90 days 61-90H 89 154
91-180 days 91-180H 59 176
181-365 days 181-3658 22 172
6,778 66352

EFEREMRAT FE@s024 17D
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_Z-ME+-A=t—-RItEE
22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Cont'd)

176

Reconciliation of loss allowance for trade receivables:

22.

B2 RWREGE)
B o RN IR B EYR

2024 2023

—EomE —T=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBFIT

At | January m—H—H 14,707 15091
Increase in loss allowance for the year AN ES IR N 229 |76
Reversal B [ol (238) (570)
Reversal of previously written off impairment SRR SR ERE 60 -
Currency translation differences SNEITE = RE 8 10
At 3| December WN+—B=+—H 14,766 14,707

The provision and reversal of allowance for impaired receivables have
been included in “Impairment (provision)/reversal of financial assets
measured at amortised cost-net” in the consolidated statement of profit
and loss and other comprehensive income. Amounts charged to the
allowance account are generally written off, when there is no expectation

of recovering additional cash.

The Group applies the simplified approach under IFRS 9 to provide for
expected credit losses using the lifetime expected loss provision for all
trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due. The expected credit losses also incorporate forward looking

information.

FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2024 Annual Report
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TRADE RECEIVABLES (Cont'd)

SO B HmRME

For the year ended 3| December 2024
HE_Z-_MF+-A=+—-HIFE

22. EZRNFRE(E)

Less than | year More than
(include | year) | year
Current past due past due Total
BHOR-E a
b (BfE-%) BB-fF st
At 31 December 2024 R=F-RE+=-A=+-H
Expected loss rate AHERE 0.00% 0.00% 99.98%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) EHAEARETT) 6,566 209 14,769 21,544
Loss allowance provision (RMB'000) FERERBEARETR) - - 14,766 14,766
At 31 December 2023 R-B_=%+_A=t-H
Expected loss rate EHEREE 0.00% 12.17% 100.00%
Gross carrying amount (RMB000) EEaE(ARETT) 66,085 304 14670 81,059
Loss allowance provision (RMB'000) BREERBARETT) = 37 14,670 14,707
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_NEt_A=t-BIFE

23. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. ANREREAMERRE
2024 2023
—E-E —EC-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFT
Included in non-current assets STAERBEE
Prepayments TEfFFE 6,417 8,007
Receivable from disposal of investments R HERE B EIRIE - 2077
Others Hh 601 595
7,018 10,679
Included in current assets AARBEE
Prepayments TERTRIE 18,555 18,818
Receivable from disposal of investments REHERENEKFIE 5215 9933
Deductible value-added tax AR EE 6,865 5,284
Loan receivables (note) FENE R (BE) - -
Others Hi 4,693 3,408
35,328 37,443
Note: BffsE -
As at 31 December 2024, the Group has outstanding loan receivables with net book REZZT-—mME+=—A=+—H  A5EEEARFESR
value equals to nil (2023: nil). During the year ended 3| December 2024, the Group T(CE_=F :T)NHAEERKER - HE_ZT
collected several previous impaired loan receivables through legal procedure and ZMFE+ZRA=+—HILFE  AEEREEEER
reversed RMB3,000,000 (2023: RMBI5,050,000) impairment losses. W [B1 35 F 45 BB (E A9 FE Wk B 7R 3F 82 0] A R #53,000,000

TT(ZZE==%F : AR¥15050,0007T)REEIE °
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
HE-Z-_MFF_A=T—-HIEFE

FINANCIAL ASSET AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

24, RAVEFABSENESHEERER

2024 2023
—E-IF T =F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBFTT
Financial assets at fair value through profit BRAFETABRNEREE
or loss
Equity securities w5
Listed in US FEEE B 27,212 53762
Listed in Hong Kong EERB L 12,384 =
Listed in PRC FERE Eh 8,790 -
48,386 53,762
Derivatives — fixed coupon note PTETE-FEEERE 77,639 68,622
Options Hite - 2,615
Total financial assets at fair value through profit AV EFFABTHNERMEER
or loss, analysed as current assets B ONMAREEE 126,025 124,999
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit ~ RAFETFABRZNERE &
or loss
Options, analysed as current liabilities HiE - pfTRRBaE - 1,938
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25. RERREEEY
2024 2023
—E-IE T =F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBFT
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFERE 58,307 114,054
Cash at other financial institutions NEM S REERIR S 115,920 81,895
174,227 195,949
EERRERAT FE@s04 179
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HE_Z_NEt_A=t-BIFE

veY
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26. TRADE PAYABLES 26. ERENRE
The aging analysis of trade payables, based on recognition date of trade RIEEZENFIBERABMME S EBIHIEE
payables, is as follows: HRERE T T -

2024 2023

—EopmE —EI=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTT

0-30 days 0-30H 9,566 2,854

31-60 days 31-60H 11,981 1,369

61-90 days 61-90H 609 819

91-180 days 91-180H 1,036 1,590

[81-365 days 181-365H 587 695

Over | year —FLE 4,888 4,638

28,667 ['1,965

27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 27. HftENFRERESEA

2024 2023

—E-lE ZEC=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TT AR¥ETTT

Payments received on behalf of business partners 3% Z 572 UER A FRIE - 32,070

Professional service fees payable ENEXREER 3,638 4,109

Staff costs and welfare accruals JEETE T K@ 1,629 2,031

Advertising expenses accruals et E SR [,155 1,275

Others Efth 4,242 5,396

10,664 44,881

180  FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2024 Annual Report



] W

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SO B HmRME

For the year ended 3| December 2024
HE-Z-_MFF_A=T—-HIEFE

28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 28. ANAEE
As at As at As at
3| December 31 December | January
2024 2023 2023
R=B-NE R-T-=F RKR-T_=F
+t=A=+—-H +-HA=+—H —H—H
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARBTT ARETTT
Contract liabilties BMAE 2,494 3017 2,148
Contract receivables (included in trade EAEBHIE(GTAE S E
receivables) FHIE) 6,778 66,352 77,06
2024 2023
—BComE —EB-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMEF 7 AREF
Transaction prices allocated to performance DEERERRNETHBROEESN
obligations unsatisfied at end of year and RS BATEEER A T FEE R
expected to be recognised as revenue in: V=L ONE
- 2024 — T 5 N/A
TR 3017
—2025 ——FhF 2,494 -
2,494 3017
ERERERAT FEHs024 181

,“‘

\

%‘
W



veY
:" ‘

1, "MNotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
/ SOt R SRR M =

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_NEt_A=t-BIFE

28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Cont'd) 28. BHEEE)
Year ended 3| December 2024 2023
BE+-A=+—HLEE it 3 —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETT

Revenue recognised in the year that was included FTAFIE KB ERFARRERBA
in contract liabilities at beginning of year 3,017 2,148

Significant changes in contract liabilities during FRAESHNBENEXREE :

the year:
Increase due to operations in the year E AL EE 28,780 8,672
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue BEHBBEEEZIA (29,303) (7,803)
A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer products EHRBEEASREEECAEFERERIM
or services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration %o mAKREDRZEFRE(RIHIMR
(or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. &) -
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29. LEASE LIABILITIES

29.

HESE

Lease payments

HEZ

SO B HmRME

For the year ended 3| December 2024

“MET=A=+-RLEE

Present value of Lease payments

HAEFR HENRRE
2024 2023 2024 2023
—EmE —EC=F —E-mE ZE=F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT AR®T T AREETTT
Within one year —FNR 1,789 2,523 1,704 2,408
Over one year but within five years BRE—FERAFERN 1,242 1,323 1,208 1,282
3,031 3,846 2,912 3,690
Less: Future finance charge B RREE T (119) (156)
Present value of lease liabilities HESFERE 2,912 3,690
Less: Amount due for settlement within J& : 7 1218 B R E| Hi%s
|2 months (shown under current BEOFIERREE
liabilities) BIETAIR) (1,704) (2408)
Amount due for settlement after 12 1218 B & E|Bi4E &
months THFRIE 1,208 1,282

At 31 December 2024, the average effective borrowing rate was 3.45%
— 4.65% (2023: 3.45% — 4.65%) per annum. Interest rates are fixed at the

T_ME+—_A=+—H ' BEEFHER
E%IJIJ%MS% - 4.65% (ZZT =4 :345% -

contract dates and thus expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. 465%) - FMXRTREHNBHEE  WSAEHE

AEATEREER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-F-NE+-A=t-HLEFE

30. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised

by the Group.

Year ended 31 December

MNotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

30. EEBIEBEBER
AEEERNETZRELEHRBEEEMEELNT ©

Customer relationship

BE+T-A=+—HLFE EFR%
RMB'000
ARBFT

At | January 2023, 3| December 2023 and | January 2024 RZZEZ=F—HA—H ZT==%
+T-A=+—BR=_Z-_m&—HF—H =
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 34a) W i — R B R 2 ) (Bt 34a) 232
Credit to profit or loss (note I 1) Rigz AR (ML) (19)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZB-_WE+=—A=+—H 213

As at 3| December 2024, deferred income tax assets are recognised for
tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related tax
benefit through future taxable profits is probable. Based on management's
assessment, the Group's losses amounting to RMBI174,953,000 (2023:
RMB160,632,000) is not considered probable to be utilised, therefore the
Group did not recognise relevant deferred income tax assets amounting to
RMB40,771,000 (2023: RMB37,957,000) for these losses. These tax losses
will expire from year 2025 to 2029.

184  FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2024 Annual Report
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For the year ended 3| December 2024

HE_F_NFE+_A=t—HLFE
3. SHARE CAPITAL 3. B&
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
EERHE T
usD'000
T
Authorised: JETE
Ordinary shares of USD0.000| each FIRE(E0.0001 TR E AR
At | January 2023, 31 December 2023, R-—Z-_=%—-H—H -
| January 2024 and 31 December 2024 —B-=f+=A=t—H8H
“EMNE-A-BR
—E-_pmE+=-A=+-—-AH 500,000,000 50
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
EERHE K]
RMB'000
ARBETT
Issued and fully paid: EEITREUE
Ordinary shares of USD0.000| each FAXE{E0.000 | FETTHYE AR
At | January 2023, 3| December 2023, R=B-=%-H—H -
| January 2024 and 3| December 2024 ZBo=H+ZA=+—H
—E-MF-A-HR
—E-WNFE+=A=+—H 143,350,090 93

Note:

GERE

At 31 December 2024, under the Restricted Share Units Scheme, the Company REZFB_WEF—A=+—H  KRFEREZR I
bought back but not vest 3,375,000 shares (2023: 3,375,000 shares). 7 B AL EIFE BB I R B 3,375,000/ (Z 2 =4 -
3,375,0008% ) B& 15
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_NEt_A=t-BIFE

32.

186

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

32. AATHEFEMR K

2024 2023
—E-IF ZEZ=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries FERHB AR 202,854 201,027
Right-of-use assets FREEE 1,461 816
Prepayments and other receivables TR FRIE K B A FEU IR 229 224
Amounts due from subsidiaries AR IENGI B 281,191 390,225
485,735 592,292
Current assets REBEE
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEED 1,261 846
1,261 846
Total assets EEAEE 486,996 593,138
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EaREE
Equity En
Share capital [N 93 93
Reserves G 483,523 590,181
Total equity RSB 483,616 590,274
Liabilities afE
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HERE 718 125
Current liabilities REBAE
Lease liabilities HEBRE 752 737
Other payables and accruals NPT = 1,910 2,002
2,662 2,739
Total liabilities BE8HE 3,380 2,864
Total equity and liabilities EaRAEAR 486,996 593,138
Net current liabilities FREAE (1,401) (1,893)
Total assets less current liabilities EEABENRABEE 484,334 590,399
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RESERVES

@

Group

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and

the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC
and Articles of Association of the companies incorporated in the
PRC now comprising the Group, it is required to appropriate 0%
of the annual net profits, after offsetting any prior years’ losses as
determined under the PRC accounting standards, to the statutory
surplus reserve fund before distributing any net profit. When the
balance of the statutory surplus reserve fund reaches 50% of the
registered capital of the companies incorporated in the PRC, any
further appropriation is at the discretion of shareholders. The
statutory surplus reserve fund can be used to offset prior years'
losses, if any, and may be capitalised as capital, provided that the
remaining balance of the statutory surplus reserve fund after such

issue is no less than 25% of registered capital.

In addition, in accordance with the Law of the PRC on Enterprises
with Foreign Investments and the stipulated provisions of the
articles of association of wholly owned foreign subsidiaries in the
PRC, appropriation from net profits (after offsetting accumulated
losses brought forward from prior years) should be made by these
companies to their respective reserve funds. The percentage of net
profit to be appropriated to the reserve fund is not less than 0%
of the net profit. When the balance of the reserve fund reaches

50% of the registered capital, such transfer needs not be made.

33.

(@)

SO B HmRME

For the year ended 3| December 2024
HE-Z-_MFF_A=T—-HIEFE

rEE
AEERAFERBEFRENRKEBRES
PN EBECRAFER AR E RS

FRAFRBEBEST -

RIRE P BUE R ROER RIRR AN AN &
M 37 7 A B A B 2 B A B 4B A = AR 4
Bl - R SHAR YR R B & 5T 4R Bl s T A 1]
BAFEBIEER  HARDIREMEF
TR R FE R FEMN I 0%EEER
BAESE - BEEATRBABENESRESR
R B2 AR A A 50%EF -
fAE— PR TDBHRRBIBEZR  ETE
B e AREEATFEEBR(N
B) RAEENMEARAE - HRA B
THRAEBHRARSNEHRTE LR M
& ANKI25% °

o - RARH BINE R R BN B
EMBARMNABERMARE @ ZERQ
AERHERES AN ABEEEL RN FED
R(ERHEBEFEMNRFEERER) - /1
S AMFREOE B DL NMERE N FED
10% ° B ATEE EHREDEME A50% -
ATFRIFLAREER -

EFERERAT FE@ms024 187

W\

\

v
W



”9

vy

v "0 ’
bog, 'V

"M‘"" ‘ 0

MNotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

( PN S E e

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_NEt_A=t-BIFE

33. RESERVES (Cont'd)

33. RE(E)
(b) Company (b) &AHE

Shares

held for

Restricted

Share  Share Units Accumulated

premium Scheme Reserves losses Total

R ZRHIR

DE S
BREE FENRD i  RIEBE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®TT ARBTT ARETT AR®TT
At | January 2023 RZZTZ=%—H—H 2,146,603 (28,900) (95423)  (1.379,166) 643,114
Loss for the year FAEE = = = (60,487) (60,487)
Currency translation differences SNETE =T - - 7,554 = 7,554

At 31 December 2023 and R-Z-_=%+-A=1+-H

| January 2024 k=T —H—H 2,146,603 (28,900) (87,869)  (1,439,653) 590,181
Loss for the year FREE - - - (115,645) (115,645)
Currency translation differences ~ JMNEIFE Z %8 - - 8,987 - 8,987
At 31 December 2024 R-ZB-WE+=A=+-—H 2,146,603 (28,900) (78,882)  (1,555,298) 483,523
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SO B HmRME

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE-R-MET-A=+—HIFE

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 34. &#tRE&REBRMT
FLOWS

@)

Acquisition of a subsidiary

On 19 September 2024, the Group acquired 95.0769% of the
issued share capital of Shenzhen Haihong for a cash consideration
of RMB22,800,000. Shenzhen Haihong was principally engaged in

trading of electronic device and semiconductor.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Shenzhen

() WiE—

RIS A A
RZZEZWFEAATNAE - KEENUR
& RE AR ¥22800,0007T U B8 % IIE 4T
95. o7s9%E@E%§fﬁH§$
BERFBEES o

WU B E - PR R YA R AT LRI &

o RYNBALE2H

Haihong acquired as at its date of acquisition is as follows: ENBENAFENT :
RMB’000
AR¥TT
Net assets acquired: R B E EFHE -
Property and equipment LEYSE L 7
Intangible assets BmVEE 4,647
Right-of-use assets EREEE 354
Inventories FE 13,724
Trade receivables H 5 e IR 24,836
Prepayments and other receivables TR FRIE K B A FE U RRIR 837
Cash and cash equivalents ReMECEEY 19,588
Trade payables B ZENFRIA (48,336)
Lease liabilities HEBE (359)
Deferred tax liabilities R IERE (232)
Net identifiable assets acquired P BB R Al 5 B & E R E 15,066
Add: goodwil e EmE 8,476
23,542
Less: Non-controlling interests R IR R (742)
22,800
Satisfied by: HERAR
Cash consideration REeRE 22,800
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WEEE AR SR FE ¢
Cash consideration paid BENBHEENRE 22,800
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FriiER R € RIReE B (19,588)
3,212
ERERERAT FEHsz024 189
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SO B BmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
RE+Z A=t —HIEEE

HE-

34.

190

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (Contd)

@

(b)

Acquisition of a subsidiary (Cont'd)
Notes

The fair value of the trade and other receivables acquired is RMB25,673,000.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Shenzhen Haihong is attributable
to the anticipated profitability of the distribution of the Group's products
in the new markets and the anticipated future operating synergies from the
combination.

Shenzhen Haihong contributed approximately RMB7,860,000 and
RMBI, 115,000 to the Group's revenue and profit for the year respectively
for the period between the date of acquisition and the end of the reporting
period.

If the acquisition had been completed on | January 2024, total Group
revenue for the year would have been approximately RMB85,294,000, and
loss for the year would have been approximately RMB62,515,000. The
proforma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily
an indication of the revenue and results of operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on |
January 2024, nor is intended to be a projection of future results.

The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities

arising from financing activities during the year:

MNotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. EHBRERBRIEE(E)

(@)

(b)

W i — R B 2 R (4F)
s

BT B8 1 5 T H Ath B YR
#525673,0007C °

HORFER/AR

Wi RYI
*ﬁ m i%77 i E’]T

—E—f—A%K © AIAE

%I%W%/kﬁmsz%oowz &
,515,0007C ° a%%%ﬁ

”LBZE%EBA

e % (1

o
1%
4
ity
il
st
S
Aim
>"§£
i
3
ﬁ

TRITFRAFEEREETHELENER
25 :

Bank borrowings  Lease liabilities Total
BITHEM HEESE Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREBTFT ARETFT
At | January 2023 R-ZF_=%—H—H 3,850 3,739 7,589
Changes in cash flows RenEge (3.965) (2.082) (6.047)
Non-cash changes JEIR S F
— Additions —hE = 1,845 1,845
— Interest charged — BB E 15 188 303
At 31 December 2023 and R-E-_=F+=-HA=+-—H
| January 2024 kR-—Z2-_mFE—HA—H - 3,690 3,690
Changes in cash flows RERBERE - (2,798) (2,798)
Non-cash changes FESEE
— Additions -%E - 2,646 2,646
— Acquisition of a subsidiary — Wi — R PR A |
(note 34a) (P eF34a) - 359 359
— Termination —#&1E - (1,073) (1,073)
— Interest charged —EMREE - 101 101
— Others —Hit - (13) (13)
At 3| December 2024 R-ZB-OFE+=A=+—H - 2,912 2,912
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37.

38.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 35.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group and the Company did not have any
significant contingent liabilities (2023: nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 36.

As at 3| December 2024, the amount of capital expenditures contracted
but not provided is RMBI,250,000 (2023: RMBI,250,000) which was

related to investment arrangements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37.

Key management personnel compensations
The compensations paid or payable to key management personnel (including
directors of the Company and other senior executives) for employee

services are shown below:

SO B HmRME

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE-R-MET-A=+—HIFE

HREE
RZZF-_WE+-_A=+—H AEEEAXAR
AV EEMEAKRABR T _=F: §) -

EARERE

RZZEZMNFE+ZA=+—H ' BFJOERE
HEHEARZ B AARY 1,250,000t (=F =
=4 : AR¥E1250,0007T) @ BIRELHHA

ABAERS

TEEEASHNTH
HEERBEARENEEERAE(BELARA
RIEEREMERITRAB)NFMIIRET

2024 2023
— i —B-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETT
Fees, wages and salaries we  IEREFS 2,635 3,065
Bonuses TE4T 160 154
Pension costs — defined contribution plans RRE KA — REH-RETE 7 38
Social security costs, housing benefits and other ~ fT&{RIERKA - FEEF KEME

employee benefits S1&EA 13 59
2,815 3316

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 38. HtAEMB®RE

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for

issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025.

EHMBERERER_S_RAF=_A=-+/\A&
EESHERBRETIE -

EFERERAT sEgs024 191
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q‘” IDefinitions
LI - £

“Annual General Meeting”

[RERBAFAZ ] ¥
“Articles”
[ 48] 5

“Audit and Compliance Committee”

[EZRAREZEE] ]

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

(B ]
“BVI”
[RERLHS] ]

“Cayman Islands”

[HEHS] 5
“China" or "PRC"
[FHEY 5

“Company” or “Forgame”

“Company Secretary”
[RAIME ] B

“Connected Person(s)”

[EEAL] ]

“Connected Transaction(s)”

[FER 5 | B

“Contractual Arrangements”

[&#I%HE] B

192  FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2024 Annual Report

the annual general meeting of the Company proposed to be held on Tuesday,
20 May 2025
AABRR-_E_AFHEA-_THER BT ZRRBERS

the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time
AR BEBEIRARI (B EHERT)

the audit and compliance committee of the Board

ExeERkAMRZEBE

the board of Directors of the Company
ARREEE

the British Virgin Islands
RERUS

the Cayman Islands

kLS

the People’s Republic of China and, except where the context otherwise requires

and only for the purpose of this annual report, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and

Taiwan
hEARKEME - BRYXERSZEMEIRRAFRNE @ TRIEES  RFIR
=

Forgame Holdings Limited (= #2 ¥ i& & R 2 @), an exempted company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 26 July 2011 with limited liability, whose
Shares became listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date
EFEERAERAR RZE——Ft AT BAERSHETMK L AERH
RBRAR - KA B i B SRR T ER B

the company secretary of the Company

RRRRRIME

has the same meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

BB EmRRIRTE T 8% ZE

has the same meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

BB EmRRIRTE T 8%

the Feidong Contractual Arrangements
FEBNR LB



“Corporate Governance Code” or “"CG Code”

[{EEERTH]

“Corporate Governance Committee”

[EEEREES ]
“Director(s)”
=

“Executive Director(s)”

[1TE=]

“Family Trusts”
[ Kik(E5E]

“Feidong”

[SEE)

"“Feidong Contractual Arrangements”

[SEEN A M % B ]

“Feidong PRC Operational Entities”

[FFE B EERE

v vy

Definitions
E=

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C| to the Listing Rules
AR A ERC) FrE ) (R E VAT A

the corporate governance committee formed by the Board on 22 May 2020, details
of which are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 28 May 2020
EXgR T TFRATHRUMNECEELRZEE @ FBENALRF
HBRE-_Z_TFR A+ \HOA%

the director(s) of the Company
ARAES

the executive Director(s)

HiITES

Wang Trust, Keith Huang Trust, Hao Dong Trust and Zhuangjg Trust, collectively
Wang Trust * Keith Huang Trust * Hao Dong Trust 2 Zhuangjg Trustf) 4575

Guangzhou Feidong Software Technology Co., Ltd. (also referred to as Guangzhou
Feidong Software Technology Company Limited)* (F&INIEENE(FEHEZHR AR,
an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, established under the laws of
the PRC on |3 June 2012

BMNFEBRMERIRERRR - ARRNEEZEZEMBAR - R-TE——FX
At = BREPBEIEEKIL

a series of contractual arrangements entered into between Feidong, the Feidong PRC

Operational Entities and their respective shareholders

JFE - FFRTRIREERENSES BNRRMI LA — RIS HORH

Feiyin, Weidong and Jieyou, whose financial results have been consolidated and
accounted for as subsidiaries of the Company by virtue of the Feidong Contractual
Arrangements, collectively

JEE  #BREFOSHE  HUBEECRBIFEDSNLHUARRFRE R
AN AREAREENGE AR

EFERERAT FEgs024 193
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BE

“Feiyin”

“Financial Statements”

[ AR5 R

“FITE Regulations”
[INEEERFRE ]

“Foga Development”

[ Foga Development |

“Foga Group”
[ Foga Group |

“Foga Holdings”

[ Foga Holdings |

“Foga Internet Development”

[Foga Internet Development |
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Guangzhou Feiyin Information Technology Co., Ltd. (also referred to as Guangzhou
Feiyin Information Technology Company Limited)* (EEMIEE{EEEHRER A R),
a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on |2 April 2004
BNFESZESRRERAR - R-ZETMFM A+ = BB BIEEKE
BREERA]

the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 3|
December 2024
AEEHRHE—T_NFE+ - A=+ HILFENREZE HUHRE

Regulations for the Administration of Foreign-invested Telecommunications
Enterprises promulgated by the State Council on || December 2001 and
subsequently amended on 10 September 2008 and 6 February 2016, respectively
BBER_—EE—F+ A+ HEMALERIINR_ZZENFAATAER
“ERE-ARBETHOIMEREEELEEERTE)

Foga Development Co. Ltd., a company incorporated in the BVI on 25 July 201 |
Foga Development Co. Ltd. * R=ZE——F+ A=+ H B ERBELEHSTM
PXIZH) A B

Foga Group Ltd, a company incorporated in the BVI on 25 July 201 |
Foga Group ltd. * RZZE——F+ A -+ A BEABRLZHEFMAIAR
Al

Foga Holdings Ltd., a company incorporated in the BVI on 25 July 2011, which was
established by Mr. Liao and is one of the Holding Companies. The entire issued share
capital is held by Managecorp Limited acting as the trustee of the Hao Dong Trust
Foga Holdings Ltd. * R=E——F A -+ hBEEBR LS ML
HRA » ZARMBRERT - WAERARZ— - E2MEHTRAH
Managecorp Limited¥/4 * fflManagecorp LimitedAHao Dong Trust&) 55t A

Foga Internet Development Ltd., a company incorporated in the BVI on 25 July 201 I,
which was established and wholly-owned by Mr. Yang and is one of the Holding
Companies

Foga Internet Development Ltd. * R=ZE——F A+ HBEEBRLES
AEMAAZHI AR - RARBGEERZINEERE - WARERARZ —



“Foga Networks"”

[ Foga Networks ]

“Foga Tech”

[Foga Tech|

“Founder(s)”

A

“Group” or "we" or “us”

[ SETRE AN
“Hao Dong Trust”

[Hao Dong Trust |

“HKS

&)

“Holding Companies”

[ A =] |

“
% W

Definitions
E=

Foga Networks Development Ltd., a company incorporated in the BVI on 25 July
2011, which was established by Mr. Huang and is one of the Holding Companies.
The entire issued share capital is held by Managecorp Limited acting as the trustee of
the Keith Huang Trust

Foga Networks Development Ltd. *+ R=Z——F -+t A -+ A BEXRBE LA
SEMBZHAR - ZAFRTEREKRY - WAERARIZ— - H2#E %
TR 7N FAManagecorp LimitedF4 * MiManagecorp Limited ZKeith Huang Trust#)
HEEA

Foga Tech Limited, a limited company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong on
9 August 201 | and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

Foga Tech Limited * RZTE——F \ANBREBEEBEETMEZHAEGRAD
A - RARANEENB LA

Mr. Wang, Mr. Huang, Mr. Liao, Mr. Yang and Mr. Zhuang, who are the founder(s)
of the Company, collectively
ARBEIMAEESE - BELE  BEE  BREREEENGRE

the Company and its subsidiaries, collectively

ARRREKE R RS

a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Liao of which Managecorp Limited acts as the
trustee and the discretionary beneficiary of which is Mr. Liao
HRBELE AR NEREERT © X5 A BManagecorp Limited * MEEX AL
yvta

W

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BT BERAEEN

Foga Group, Foga Networks, Foga Holdings, Foga Internet Development and
Foga Development, which are the immediate holding companies of the Company
established by Mr. Wang, Mr. Huang, Mr. Liao, Mr. Yang and Mr. Zhuang respectively,
collectively

Foga Group * Foga Networks * Foga Holdings * Foga Internet Development & Foga
Development®) &8 @ ZF R RAARBDRIRELRE ~ EEE  BEAE -
(b Y & Svtaay=l b =R NG
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q‘” IDefinitions

LI - £

“Hong Kong" or "HK"

The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

[&E] PEEBRRITTH R

“ICP Licence"” internet content provision licence, a value-added telecommunications business
operation licence issued by the relevant PRC government authorities with a service
scope of information services

[CPEFATE RUEMHEANTHORTAE - ARETREBAHIERENIEEREEFELRT
ARE - HOI ARG A RIS E

“IFRSs” the international financial reporting standards and interpretations approved by the

[ BB 5 ¥R s A1

“Independent Non-executive Director(s)"”

International Accounting Standards Board, and includes all International Accounting
Standards and interpretations issued under the former International Accounting
Standards Committee from time to time

B PR 2 51 % A & B 2 (International Accounting Standards Board) i #8 ) —
EBMR I EERER R EE - BIEE A Fnternational Accounting Standards
Committee NS HIZE K P BCBIR &5t 2R g%

the independent non-executive Director(s)

[BIFITES] BYFMITES

‘P the intellectual property

[ RN EERE | FIBERE

“IPO” the initial public offering of the issued Shares on the Stock Exchange

[BRAREE] PRADTERE P B R AR B

T information technology

[MEERHX] EERH

“Jieyou” Guangzhou Jieyou Software Co,, Ltd. (also referred to as Guangzhou Jieyou Software
Company Limited)* (BN EEHZER {4+ B BR A7), a limited liability company established
under the laws of the PRC on 7 June 2012

[HEi | BEINEESREARAR - RoE——E XA+ ERBEPRERR IHERE

“Keith Huang Trust”

[ Keith Huang Trust ]

196  FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2024 Annual Report

E2/NC]

a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Huang, of which Managecorp Limited acts as
the trustee and the beneficiaries of which are Mr. Huang and certain of his family
members

HAELEKRZHNEREETT © X5 ABManagecorp Limited * MXm ABEITE
REETHIEKE



“KongZhong Corporation”

[Z=r |

“KongZhong Group”

ELE

Ji]

J

“Latest Practicable Date”

[ & EFR AT A

“Listing Date”
[T A

“Listing Rules”

[ AR A

“Main Board”

[k

“Managecorp Limited”

[ Managecorp Limited |

“MIT”
[TEME2 E]

“Model Code”

gy

“Mr. Huang”

E=¥itaa

W ““

1) W

Definitions ‘%" 1!
B

“
% W

KongZhong Corporation, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability
Kong Zhong Corporation * MRS A& T MK ZEBRAF]

collectively, KongZhong Corporation, its subsidiaries and companies controlled by

KongZhong Corporation
=R - HB A E R =P AR RS

22 April 2025, being the latest practicable date prior to the bulk printing and

publication of this annual report

“E-RFMOAZT A - AAFHRAEHNRIR BT RZERATTHH

3 October 2013
—T—=%1+HA=H

The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited
BERBMERSMERARIE S EMRA

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock Exchange
which is independent from and operates in parallel with the GEM of the Stock
Exchange

B BENERR (T REHETS) - BN TCEM K BE T
BIE

Managecorp Limited, the trustee of each of the Family Trusts
Managecorp Limited * B RIZ(EE 2 ZFEA

the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the PRC
R A RHEME T EMESEE

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
ETRAIMERCIFE LM BT AEFETES X ZHIRLETH

Mr. Huang Weibing (2 f7£%) (alias: Huang Kai (£28)l)), one of the Founders and the

settlor of Keith Huang Trust
mAEESEAE(REE) » BIPEAZ—  HKeith Huang TrustfI T ER T A
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LI - £

“Mr. Liao”
[BE5A ] 5

“Mr. Wang"

DERA ] ]

“Mr. Yang"
(#5554 ] i

“Mr. Zhuang”
EESite 15

“Nomination Committee”

[fERZES] B

“Non-executive Director(s)

[IEAITE R B

“PRC Operational Entities”

[hEgEER] ]
“Prospectus”

[k ERE | o}
“R&D”

[ 3% | B

“Remuneration Committee”
[FTEEE ] ¥

“Renminbi” or “RMB”
[ARE] ¥
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Mr. Liao Dong (BZER), one of the Founders and the settlor of Hao Dong Trust
BREE - Bl AZ— + AHao Dong TrustfI I ER T A

Mr. Wang Dongfeng (GEZR[E), one of the Founders and the settlor of Wang
Trust, who resigned as the chairman of the Board, an Executive Director, the chief
executive officer of the Company, the Company's authorised representative under
Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules and the chairman of the Nomination Committee on 30
September 2019

TERESLE - BIAZ— © BWang TrustFITERTA - RZZE—NFNA
=TAREARRESEELIR  WTESE  BEFHTE - ETRRIFE3.056%
IR ENRERRMEEZEELRE

Mr. Yang Tao (#5%8), one of the Founders

BEELE  BIAZ—

Mr. Zhuang Jieguang (FE$EE), one of the Founders and the settlor of Zhuangjg
Trust
RIS E - Bl A Z— ¢ BZhuangg Trustt) B ER T A

the nomination committee of the Board

EFgRE%8Y

the non-executive Director(s)

FERITES

the Feidong PRC Operational Entities
TR EER

the prospectus of the Company dated |9 September 2013 in relation to the IPO
ARRAMA—E—=FNLATNENERCREERRER

research and development

tgE M a2k

the remuneration committee of the Board
EERTMEEY

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
ARY - REVEEEHR



“SFO"

[ REE D

“Share Times"

5B

“Shareholders”

[BCR

“Shares”

[Rn ]

“Shenzhen Xingyun”

IR

“State Coundil”

[ B756r |

“Stock Exchange”
[ BgE 2 |

“Subsidiaries”

Niap=PNGIN

“Substantial Shareholder(s)"

[EZER]

“United States”
[ZEE |

“US$” or “USD”
E

] ; “ W W

1) W

Definitions . %" !
B

the Securities and Futures Ordinance of Hong Kong (chapter 571 of the laws of

Hong Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BREDIFEST I B REF MGG R IARHERT - WFTa AR 7 e

Beijing Share Times Technology Co, Limited* (At 5 ZRAEHZAR DB R A 7)),
a limited company established in the PRC
ERD ZRERBBROHERAF - PP BKIZHRNER AR

shareholders of the Company

ZI/NST |

shares of USD0.0001 each in the share capital of the Company
AR RIBAA & 20000 1 ZTTHIRD

Shenzhen Xingyun Data Technology Co., Ltd.* (RYITITTEEIEFZMABR A F), an
indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, established under the laws of the
PRC on | December 2014

RYMITEBERMARAR - RARRZHEEENBAR - R-F—N
F+— B —BREHBOEEMKIL

State Council of the PRC (F7ZE A R A0 B 755 P )
EYNEP e B

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BRBERHABERAT]

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

BB EMRRIFTRE THRZE

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

BB EMRRIFTE THORE

the United States of America
EFIEREREH

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

XBEAEEBET
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“Wang Trust” a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Wang, of which Managecorp Limited acts as
the trustee and the beneficiaries of which are Mr. Wang and certain of his family
members

[Wang Trust | 5 BT ERN N EEERT + ZFEABManagecorp Limited * XA BT EE
MEETHREKE

“Weidong" Guangzhou Weidong Internet Technology Co., Ltd. (also referred to as Guangzhou
Weidong Internet Technology Company Limited)* (/N #EBNALEEHE AR A F)),
a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 22 January 2007

[ 4% | Ecl BMNEBHREERAR R-ETLF— A -+ - ARBHBEIAENKL
BBEREEAR

“Zhuangjg Trust” a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Zhuang, of which Managecorp Limited acts as
the trustee and the beneficiaries of which are Mr. Zhuang and certain of his family
members

[ Zhuangjg Trust ] 5 BT EAER M EREEET + X5 A BManagecorp Limited * MXm A B4
R EET RIS

s The English name is translated for reference purpose only in this annual report

= REFHNEXBRERSS
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Forgame Holdings Limited (“Forgame"” or the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group” or “we”) is pleased to present our annual
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") report (the “Report”) and its
relevant implemented policies and strategies in relation to the Group'’s operational
practices and environmental protection. For information regarding corporate
governance, please refer to the “Corporate Governance Report” in the 2024

annual report of the Company.

The Report covers the period from | January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (the
“Reporting Period” or “FY2024").

REPORTING STANDARD

The Report has been prepared with reference to the ESG Reporting guide set
out in Appendix C2 to the Main Board Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK"). To ensure the accuracy of environmental key
performance indicators (“KPIs"), the Group engaged a professional consultancy

firm to conduct the calculation and preparation of the Report.

In preparation for this Report, due diligence has been taken by the Group to

adhere to the reporting principles of “Materiality”, “Quantitative”, “Balance” and
“Consistency”. The materiality assessment has ensured the Report presents the
most material ESG topics pertaining to our businesses. Whenever necessary,
the Report details any standards, methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation
tools used, or source of conversion factors used, as well as explanations of any

inconsistencies to previous reports.

REPORTING SCOPE

The Report covers the Group’s ESG policies and measures, and compliance for
business activities of our major revenue streams. These activities have included
developing and publishing domestic and overseas webgames, trading of electronic
devices and semiconductors, and secondary financial commodity market

investments in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

Regarding workforce-related KPIs, the reporting scope has included data from
Mainland China, Hong Kong and other area to maintain consistency with the

annual report.

202481E - ERERWRE

BARAREE

REMMEREERAR QT ([EEE] - [Forgame] -
HERAMBARGBE AEE I RMADEVNEBKE
BHRERERE e kE8((RE  HERER]®R
HE(H|REDHE T EERAEREB K EERIRR
RERBANBEREHL R - BECEEANER
BLHU_ENFRRARFRPO[EERRE] -

ARERE_FT_NMFE—A—HE_T_WF+_H
:-1——5 (fiﬁ%ﬂEJEJE}ZFZEZEJJﬂEJ) g

HEER

ARERBEBBARIMER AR ([ EBERAT])
TR EFRAMBC2MENNRE HERERESE
15| MRS - BRI GBI R E N ERE
t AEECRF - REXBEHEQRAERRENER
SAERERR o

ERBARER  ASERFAERASUNETIER
-T2 TFE IR — B ISR - AR
SEEZMNGET  BRRTHMARBERE  HEak
?5@*@@%&%%1% g ?ﬁ%’%g ABEFAHEAT
PRERERE « 57% - BEM/HAE LA - SHAE
R R RBR M&ER%E@?&HH&%E@T\—@I
ZER e

BEHE

ABERETAEENRE  HEREABRRRME
M ARBMEZRAFRRENEESRER - &
HEERPEARLME(MHE]DEEEANINEE
B R BB iR R kBT (EEER ) URE
EREEREB((EFRERYERER INES -
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BOARD APPROVAL

The Report has been approved by the Board of Director (the “Board”) before

publication.

BOARD STATEMENT — ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board understands its overall responsibility for overseeing and implementing
the Group's ESG strategy, and will integrate sustainable development into the
Group's specific business in accordance with the company’s business development.
The Group has formed a top-down ESG structure in adhering to its sustainable
development philosophy. The Board is responsible for overseeing the ESG issues
of the Group, formulating ESG strategies and assessing and determining the risks
associated with ESG, in order to ensure the effectiveness of risk management
and internal control of the Group. The Office of the President is responsible for
the job allocation based on the ESG strategies and reporting to the Board about
the progress of ESG tasks and the Group's annual ESG Report. The Secretary
Compliance Department, Human Resources and Administration Department,
and Financial Department are responsible for performing ESG tasks, including
collection of stakeholders' opinions, performing internal and external materiality
assessment, preparing the ESG Report, and reporting to the senior management
about the progress of ESG tasks and the preparation of the ESG Report. The
Board of Directors will also regularly check the implementation and changes of
various ESG indicators and optimise ESG targets when appropriate and feasible so
as to ensure that the Group's corporate development will minimise the negative
impact on the environment and society. The diagram below shows the Group's

ESG structure:
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{ )\
Tb? Boi*d Formulating ESG strategies, action plans and goals
Lih HITESGERRE - (1B EIFIA 12
\ | J
4 N\ 4 3\ . .
Internal Audit and Allocating works based on the ESG strategies,
Compliance Oﬁ‘lcelof action plans and goals formulated by the Board
Department The President | iR % @ HI5EMIESGHRRS - (TB)AT BITIA 2
TN BEN | miLe
\. \. J
]
| | |
{ N\ 4 3\
Secretary Human Resources . ‘
. o Financial
Compliance and Administration D
epartment
Department Department B
BRAH ANEREBITEED e
\. \. J
{ N\ { 3\ { N\
| | Human Resources - Accounting
Legal \Dezz:r‘cment Department Group
G AN 548
\. J/ \ J \. J/
{ A ( )\ { A
L Board Secretarial L Administration - Reporting
Department TR Group
EFEaNER ) xR
. J/ | J \ J/

Implement specified ESG tasks and report to the senior management about ESG performance
and the progress of tasks contained in the ESG Report

FREEHESCTE - MERE IR EERESGKRIAMESGHRE M TIEER

While promoting the stable growth of business, the Group is also committed to
the establishment of environmentally friendly enterprise and the maintenance of
our high-quality services and operating standards. The Group regards social and
environmental responsibility as one of the core values of business operations and
is committed to improving sustainability and transparency and providing services

that can create a sustainable environment for the next generation.
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VISION AND MISSION

Vision —— To become a global leading Fintech and game company.

Mission

To provide inclusive financial services and fun of playing games to

everyone at any time and at any place.

VALUE —— TO BE A SUSTAINABLE VALUE CREATOR

. To enhance employees’ individual value.
. To create value for customers.

o To realize enterprise value.

. To maximize investor value.

. To practice social value.

COMMENTS AND FEEDBACK

We make every effort to ensure consistency between the Chinese and English
versions of this Report. However, in the event of any inconsistency, the English

version shall prevail.

The progress of the Group depends in part on valuable comments from
stakeholders. For any clarifications or advice regarding the content of this ESG

Report, please forward your comments and suggestions to IR@forgame.com

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group believes that the feedback from the stakeholders not only facilitates a
comprehensive and pertinent assessment of its ESG performance, but also helps
improve our performance accordingly. Engaging with our key stakeholders (including
our shareholders, business partners, employees, suppliers, service providers and
the community) on an ongoing basis provides an opportunity for the Group to
listen to their concerns and build up common goals. This will drive our business
development initiatives in the right direction and make our operations sustainable.
Accordingly, the Group communicates with the stakeholders in an open, honest
and positive manner through various channels, including announcements and

annual reports.
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The operation of the Group affects a spectrum of stakeholders, such as
our shareholders, employees, suppliers and service providers, who have
different expectations on the Group. The Group will continue to maintain its

communications with them for the purpose of improving its ESG approaches.

The below table presents key stakeholders of the Group how the Group B

communicate with them through variety of engagement platform and channels.

Stakeholders

&

0 vy ‘ : : \

202481E - ERERWRE

AEENZEXE - RIFNE - FIMBFAOBER -
&8 HERLRBHER MY AEEE TR
HE  AEEBEEEGAREERE  URNEER

% e RERNEH -

TENMATAEENEIERNE  URAEEBRBS
BSHEY G EEEE %@%ﬁﬁ%

Engagement Platform

B8¥ A

Government and regulatory agencies
B KBS E IR
Investor and shareholders

BEE MR

Employees
BT

Customers

5P

Suppliers
e

Annual reports, interim reports, ESG reports and other public information
Fi - PHRE - RIR - LB REAREAREMAFER
Annual general meetings and other general meetings of shareholders
BERBFAE MEMRERAS

Company website

NGIE D

Announcements

nE

Annual reports, interim reports, ESG reports and other public information
Fif - pHHRE - RIR - AR NEAREAREMAFER
Training

=

Meetings

-

Performance evaluation

=AHE

Leisure activities

V)

Fax, email and customer service hotline

BE  EBREFPRBAGES

Product and service feedback

7E o N AR TS [ 68

Annual audit

FEEE

Meetings

i

On-site visits

BHER
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The operations of Forgame have impacts on various stakeholders, while
stakeholders have different expectations of the Group. Looking forward, the
Group will continuously strengthen its communications with its stakeholders and
extensively collect stakeholders’ opinions on various ways that would lead to
a more comprehensive materiality analysis. Meanwhile, the Group would also
enhance the reporting principles in terms of quantitative, balance and consistency,
and define the presentation of content and information of the report in a way

which better conforms to stakeholders’ expectations.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In accordance with relevant rules and in the context of the latest sustainability
landscape, the Group has determined the following 21 ESG Materiality topics
that are deemed to have impacts on the environment and society through our

operations.

ESG Aspects
BE HEREARSE

EENEBEEETARNE  MENEHAKES
BETRYE - REARK » NEBEKEE NSRS
NENER  BRETAPAEREZHRERHENE
ROSERUOIMERE - AR AEEGLERAE
£~ FER—BRUNERRY  UEFEFHERE
WA RERENABRREENHZR -

EEMF

RIBHEBNGIRERANARFERRTZBT - A&
BHEETAT - +—EEXE  ELIBEHRI/ERA
HANLEHSRBHIENLE N EEZENEIE -

ESG Materiality Topics for the Group
AEEERRE  HEREATE

A Environmental Responsibility Al Emissions and Waste Generated
REEE BT K REEY)
A2, Use of Resources
BRER
A3. The Environment and Natural Resources
BERRDER

A4, Climate Change

SRR
B. Social Responsibility BI. Employment
HEEE 1Ef

B2. Workplace Health and Safety
TiRgmmERERE

B3. Development and Training
BER

B4. Labor Standards
45 T8

BS. Supply Chain Management
HIERER
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Emission Management (Air Pollutants and Greenhouse Gas)
HRERE(ERIBERE)

2. Waste Management
BEEYER

3. Energy Saving
EATBEIR

4. Water Consumption
RKER

5. Effluent Discharges
TSIREEIR

6. Climate Change Strategy

FEL RIRE LB E

7. Employee Remuneration and Benefits
B THMRAEN

8. Diversity and Equal Opportunity
SR TEHE

9. Occupational Safety and Health
BELz2 iR

10. Employee Training and Development
BTHEIINER

[ Anti-child and Forced Labor
B EE T Ra&HIS

12, Supply Chain Management
HEgRER
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ESG Materiality Topics for the Group

Bé. Product Responsibility
EmAE

B7. Anti-Corruption
k&S
BS. Community Investment

HRRE

During the Reporting Period, we obtained an update of the materiality
assessment on each aspect of ESG from internal stakeholders, including directors,
senior management and middle management through questionnaires from the
perspectives of long-term development strategies, management enhancement,
urgency of investment and competitiveness advantages of the Group. We will
also continually pay attention to all stakeholders, constantly review and update
the materiality assessment, and include external stakeholders when the conditions
are appropriate, so as to achieve a more accurate and thorough understanding
of the demands of various parties, and to provide guidance and direction to
the enterprise’s business operations and controls over environmental and social

governance.

Based on the analysis and summary of the results of the materiality assessment
from all stakeholders, we have formed the following materiality assessment matrix,
in which following substantial issues are disclosed in the materiality assessment
matrix as the major influential aspects of the Group's sustainable development.
While taking all environmental and social responsibilities into consideration, the

Group will be paying more attention to these areas.

FEEEERE  HERERTE

3. Customer Service Quality
EEREEE

14. Product/Service Quality and Safety
ER/REEENT2

5. Personal Data Privacy Protection
BABREILRE

6. Product Research and Development
EEmAfE

7. Intellectual Property Rights Protection
B ERERE

8. Data Security
ELE

19. Operational Safety Management

EREER

20. Ant\—corrupmon
k&=

21. Community Investment and Engagement
HRKEEMEE

RBEFEAN - ZMABSHEARETEER AR
B - EIRIRTT - &ﬁ%ﬂﬁ&ﬁ%@%%ﬁFﬂW%
MEEES(BREE SREBAEBRTEEEA
B)E Hﬁﬁ%~ﬁﬁﬁamxﬁﬁmﬁﬁi &Y
flr - HPIMEEERIAANSHET - BRI R
BEHERENE - YERTEERAAINEHNSHE
7T NEEREEEBEREDFER  AREEEH
BRERR R e AR EIESI RITR -

RIEHMBRNZEB I EAETHERODITRE
& BMEETUATEZ M AER - EREZHET
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FTEFEER NREERMERERMAESELR - A&
EECEBELE ST
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT MATRIX
BEEMFMEEREE

gEE

N

B/
5

BIFDE A
IMPORTANCE TO STAKEHOLDERS

IMPORTANCE TO BUSINESS OF THE GROUP

HEAKBERBHTE
The following chart shows the level of materiality topics ranking: ANTEXRBESERE HENESEENEENL
BT

20, Il Anti-corruption, Anti-child and forced labour

R&ES - BIEET KA LE)
12 Supply Chain Management

HEEE R
14 Product/Service Quality and Safety

Em/  REmENETS
I3 Customer Service Quality

ZPRBEE
19 Operational Safety Management

BELEER

To address topics that matter most to our stakeholders, we go through in detail % 7 BIESHMZFMHE B EIMNEE - "AMELHESF
for the topics of high materiality in the Report. SEEZEUNEBRETTEFHANNS -
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group acknowledges the threats of climate change and realizes that we
have responsibilities to better manage our energy use to reduce greenhouse
gas (GHG) emissions. As a company providing products for the new generation,
we are keenly aware that our continuing success depends upon our generation
taking responsibility for the environment seriously. Since the Group is principally
engaged in the research and development and distribution of domestic and
international web and mobile games and trading of electronic equipment and
semiconductors which have minimal direct impact on the environment. The
Group's main contribution to the carbon footprint comes from indirect GHG
emissions. The source of these emissions is the usage of office equipment in the
workplace, including but not limited to the lighting systems, air-conditioning and
office machineries. On the other hand, the impact of hazardous waste generated
in the operation of the Group is very minimal and therefore are not disclosed in

this Report.

We are committed to reducing our impact on the environment. In response to

climate change, the Group has set a series of environmental targets, which are set

202481E - ERERWRE

AEERAREREEOERE  LEIIRMBEETE
ZEMERERER - WRDREREBHN - FR—
BRI —RKE‘REROAR - HIURED - MR
BRNWERE RKRBREFFHRENESE - ARASE
) ) = 22 2E T 1 =5 B8 () S A L B N A B 2 B ) A 3
R#ET  BEFRERFEREZFIEBES  RULHR
BMERTZEEM - NAEENRIREZRE R
BEVREREE - ZFEHBKA TIESAERNRAR
WEEETRNBARS  ZARERBARE) -
A—HE ARBEETELANEEREENTEER
R - E I BN AR E RBEE

BRBAORIERRERNTE - BEERREL -
AEEGET —FIRERER - AEBREHIIAT -

out below:
Level Targets
=] B

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

B REEHER

Hazardous and non-hazardous waste control
BE M EZREE Y

Energy Efficiency

BRI FARE

Water Use Efficiency

FA7k Bk

Maintain or reduce the 2024-based GHG emission intensity in 2025.
FE2025%F - #F SR L2024 AEER R ERBHIREE o

In 2028, office paper generates a 3% reduction in density from 2023 levels.
20285 - AR RMMEL T EE023F R7KEELEE3%

In 2025, maintain or reduce the 2024-based energy intensity.

20255 © B SUR A A204F REENERTE -

In 2028, maintain or reduce the 2023-based water consumption intensity.

20284 - SR 2023 BEENFEKRE -

We strive to minimize our environmental footprint through energy conservation
and waste reduction. The following sections disclose the Group's approaches and

data on energy consumption, GHG emissions data, and waste.

BBEHHOER AL EEY - BIEIAR N LB
BB - THIEEREARES Y RN  RERE
HERUE B R B R 0k AR R«
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Aspect Al: Emissions and Wastes Generated

Energy and GHG emissions:

The Group strictly follows the low-carbon development goals of China's 14th
Five-Year Plan, promotes corporate green transformation, and strives to realize
the corporate vision of carbon neutrality. In view of this, we formulated and
strictly implemented administrative policies that regulate emissions and discharge
of exhaust gas, wastewater, waste solids, and GHG generated in office areas.
In addition, we have formulated the “Forgame Environment Protection Policy”
(Forgame5=BIIRIRIXZE)) to provide clear guidelines on the daily environmental
protection for our staff starting with the details such as management of the use

of electricity, water, paper and office supplies.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not received any complaints from its
customers or any other parties in respect of any environmental protection issues,
and had not experienced any material environmental incidents arising from its
manufacturing activities. At the same time, no material administrative sanctions or
penalties were imposed upon the Group for the violation of environment-related

laws and regulations which had an adverse impact on its operations.

The operations and activities of the Group does not directly generate any
hazardous air emissions and pollutants. The Group does not generate any direct
GHG emissions (Scope |). Energy consumption and GHG emissions at the
Group are mainly contributed by electricity consumption in offices and thus
we only report on the indirect energy use and indirect GHG emissions (Scope
2) of the Group. As the Group opened a new office in Shenzhen in FY2024,
the corresponding greenhouse gas carbon emissions increased compared with
FY2023. In addition, considering the overall revenue and operating efficiency,
the Shanghai office was closed in September 2024, so it is expected that the
corresponding carbon emissions and energy consumption will be reduced in the

next fiscal year.
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The following charts summarise the GHG emissions of the Group during the

Reporting Period.

0) Indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions: purchased electricity.

FY2024 and FY2023 Summary of annual carbon emissions
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TﬁUli’%ﬁLzﬁ’EIE@iE%EFWE‘Jigﬁmﬁﬂﬂ
CARBBENEREREBHEREZRA TIA

@:

() MEEEZ)REREHR: ABED

2024 E R 2023 FHRHENERBE

Scope Emission sources Unit FY2024 FY2023
W R L = L EEUL
Scope 2 — Indirect GHG emission Purchased electricity ~ tonnes CO,-equivalent 142 105
BE--EEREREEN PSS NE—E e S

Scope 2 — Emission Density (tonnes CO, equivalent per Purchased electricity  tonnes CO,-equivalent/m? 0.0599 00441

square meter of total building area)
HE - —RERBHNEE (¥ ANEEERRN
AW _ELREE)

FEEE S A

Measures to reduce emission

In order to effectively reduce the emissions generated by the Group, the Group
has adopted several measures of employee travel, including but not limited to
strict approval for long-distance travel arrangements to reduce unnecessary travel

and encouraging employees to use public transportation.

Waste Management

Owing to the Group's business nature, the Group in its ordinary course of
business does not produce material hazardous wastes. The non-hazardous
wastes mainly come from various types of recyclable wastes such as paper and
non-recyclable daily office wastes such as office supplies and plastics, generated
from the offices of the Group. We encourage the recycling of waste. For non-
recyclable items, we collect and sort them to be disposed of by recyclers with
professional qualifications on a regular basis. The total amount of non-hazardous
wastes decreased in FY2024, but the density of harmless waste per unit area

increased because the Foshan warehouse stopped running in 2024.
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Environmental performance Unit FY2024 FY2023
BRIRRR By —ECMEE —E-CBEF
Non-hazardous waste generated Kg 4,880 4,890
PREE B ERERY) Niy

Density of non-hazardous waste generated Kg/m? 2.08 207
ELEERZEYNEE NI E N

Measures to reduce waste generation

The Group actively promotes green office practices, aiming to minimize the
generation of wastes and maximize the efficient use of resources. In terms of
paper consumption, the Group promotes a paperless office, office papers were
from recyclable sources. The Group focuses on purchasing supplies manufactured
from recycled materials such as tissue paper. The Group also encourages its
staff members to scale down font size and reduce paper margins and set up
double-sided printing. We continue to improve the paperless office, start the
OA electronic approval process, reduce the number of document printing, and
recommend the circulation of electronic documents daily. By strengthening the
measures to reduce waste generation, we aim to achieve the target of maintaining
or reducing the generation density of non-hazardous wastes in the coming year

based on FY2023.

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

Forgame understands that effective resource management is closely related to
environmental protection and corporate sustainability goals. Due to the nature
of offices’ operations and business, the major resources consumed by the Group
are electricity, water and paper. The Green Policy provides various energy-saving

measures for office activities, including:

. Enabling the off-timer function of office equipment such as photocopiers,
printers and computer monitors in its offices, allowing such equipment
which has been idle for a long time to automatically power down;

. Setting an appropriate office temperature;

o When purchasing new office equipment, preference will be given to those

with Grade | energy label; and

. Choosing energy-efficient LED lights for lamps.
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The Group incorporate environmental issues into its business plan systematically,
including formulating more detailed corporate internal guidelines for
environmental protection, as well as formulating sustainable development
policies and road maps in the long term and proactively promoting a number of

environmental protection campaigns.

Energy

As energy consumption is closely linked to global warming, the Group has been
striving to improve energy management. Therefore, we have implemented
electricity-saving measures in the office to raise the awareness of all our
employees on environmental protection. We encourage our staff to turn off
all unnecessary lighting systems and other electronic devices, such as printers,
computers, etc, to avoid idling of electrical appliances. Meanwhile, partial lighting
of the office has been installed with light-emitting diodes instead of compact
fluorescent lamps which can reduce electricity consumption as compared with

compact fluorescent lamps.

As the Group opened a new office in Shenzhen in FY2024, the overall
energy consumption increased compared with FY2023. In addition, due to the
consideration of total revenue and operating efficiency, the Shanghai office was
closed in September 2024, so it is expected that the corresponding energy
consumption will be reduced in the next fiscal year. However, we still expect to
achieve the goal of maintaining or reducing the energy consumption density based
on the fiscal year 2024 by strengthening the implementation of measures to save

electricity.

Energy consumption
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AEEBRAGMARRBEMANEESS 2P - B85
BT EHENEEANBRRES] - URREAFER
RERMBERE @ BEEHSARRITINE -

BER
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Environmental performance Unit FY2024 FY2023
REXRE B “ECEME B =HF
Power consumption
% =
Electricity consumption kWh 183,941 135,804
AEE TEBF
Electricity intensity Per Kilowatt/m? 77.77 57.11
G SRS Tk
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Water

The major kind of wastewater generated by the Group is domestic sewage, which
will be directly discharged to the local drainage system. Meanwhile, the Group
has put effort into reducing water consumption, such as posting labels to remind
and encourage employees to reduce water usage, always turn off the faucet, and
report any water leakage. During the cleaning of the office, the cleaning workers
are strictly controlled for using of water and frequency of cleaning. As a result,
the consumption of water is saved. Since the company opened new offices in
Shenzhen in FY2024, water consumption has increased slightly compared with
FY2023. We aim to achieve the target of maintaining or reducing the water
consumption density in the coming year based on FY2023 by strengthening water

conservation measures.

K

AEBTEFKEERERSK  ZERTKEEE
BEABHIIKERL - A - AEEBIBLRAKE
MASR LIRS A SR EE K i B R B S AV MK~ B ZI B =K
RSN MERKER - EMAZNFRBIET  BR
ABEBBEGIRKRBERER - Bt © 07T AE
F7K o R R AIFE2024F FRORYIBER R E - PTIA
FEIKE 77 2023 F A /MEIRTT - BAPFIEIEE BN
SRERAI KNI B - R ERA2023 0 FF R EEM R
PRADREKREERN BIR ©

Environmental performance Unit FY2024 FY2023
REER B —E-mEE  —®-=HE
Total water consumption m? 804 788
HmrEkE AN

Water consumption intensity m3/m? 0.34 033
FEREE MFKFIK

Packaging material for finished products

Due to the Group's business nature, the Group in its ordinary course of business

does not involve any material usage of packaging materials.
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Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group focuses on our business impact on the environment and natural
resources and pursues the best practices for environmental protection. In addition
to complying with relevant environmental laws and regulations and international
standards to properly preserve the natural environment, the Group has integrated
the concept of environmental protection and natural resources conservation
into its internal management and daily operations to achieve environmental

sustainability.

The Group is committed to providing a complete picture of our environmental
initiatives. We strive to build an eco-conscious culture that ingrains positive
lifestyles and habits among employees. We encourage the use of public
transportation. Our event management is also an avenue by which we seek to
integrate sustainability principles. Events are usually held on-site and avoid the use

of disposal utensils.

Aspect A4: Climate Change

The Group is principally engaged in the research and development and
distribution of domestic and international web and mobile games and trading
of electronic equipment and semiconductors. Meanwhile, as part of the
community, we do not live aside from the impact of climate change. The Group
manages the issue with respect to the recommendations of the Task Force on
Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD), which outlines four components:
Governance, Strategy, Risk Management, and Metrics and Targets. With reference
to TCFD’s risk categorization, the Group has identified climate-related risks and

corresponding management measures:

20243818 - HERERRE

ATH - BERKARER

AEBERRERENRERR - YT ANEEER
HRERRABRNEE - RTBERBRIEM
EREERRE  ZEREBRREIN - AEETH
RERERRAAERFENROSRANFEERBEE
BEET  BOEKREUFHEZRRNER °

AEBEY N EETENRRTE - RABHEILERR
BRHXe - WEEREERNERRENEET
AMBEED - HMASZBHEIEAIHAREBETA - &K
PO EEESTRBATHEZRAORY - EBHEESR
—ERRETRERER—RERA -

A4TH : RIREIL

$%E%IE¥%%$IW%%EK%H%@%@%
ﬁ%&%“~ﬁ BRERTEREIEBES - A
ERMEN—HT  BAIEEZRIRIEELNT

&IﬁmA% REERR BRSBTS 45 8 TAE/
ﬁﬁ@@%@%%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ'&@ Z Akl T PO ME T
£ Bh EB ARTEUAREENEE - 2R
'mmMHA“ﬁ N ER B B 58 Rl B9 SR 1 AR 7 R B K%

HERNEEREINT

EFERERAT FE@s024 215

“Jk
“‘ \“'

v

i
4
’,



"’

vv’
M@ "'

(4

4 ' ‘
"0
"0

$024 Environmental, Social and Governance Report

20241R15 - HERERHE

Physical Risks

Increasing frequency and severity of extreme weather events such as extreme
cold or heat, storms, heavy rainfall and typhoons globally may increase the risk
of power shortages in offices, disrupt supply chains and damage to the Group's
assets, which could disrupt the Group's operations and lead to a reduction in
revenues, increase the cost of repairing or restoring damaged locations. These
events also have the potential to put employees’ jobs and lives at risk. This may

also disrupt employees’ routine and even result in human casualties.

When coming across extreme weather conditions, the Group will implement
flexible working arrangements and preventive measures by the instructions of the
local government’s emergency management authorities to safeguard the safety
of employees and the Company's property. The Group also actively implements
management policies and conservation measures on the use of resources in its
operations and improves the efficiency of its office facilities. For example, the
replacement of LED lighting systems, reduction in the use of disposable plastic,
daily use of bucket water instead of bottled water, etc, to minimize the risk of

environmental entities.
Transformation Risks

To achieve sustainable development, the PRC government has implemented the
2030 Carbon Peak and 2060 Carbon Neutral” targets, and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange has required listed companies to enhance climate-related disclosures in
the ESG reports. Non-compliance with the disclosure requirements may damage
the Group’s reputation. To comply with the relevant disclosure requirements, the
Group has strengthened the training for the management to be aware of ESG

work and has a commissioner responsible for ESG matters.

The group's governance is mainly driven by the Board, which sets out a clear
strategy: to achieve eco-efficiency, the delivery of satisfactory goods and services
while reducing environmental impacts and resource intensity, according to the
World Business Council for Sustainable Development. This pushes us to consider

the climate when making business decisions.

The Group commits to continue to pay close attention to the possible impact
of climate change on our business, strategy, and financial performance and fully

support global climate-related actions.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Aspect Bl: Employment

The Group considers employees as the most valuable wealth and one of the
most important factors for sustainable development and success. The Group
also believes that they are propellent to corporate growth. Therefore, we
are committed to providing an equal, harmonious and diversified working
environment to our employees in order to attract and retain suitable talents
in the competitive labor market and for the purpose of maintaining its

competitiveness in the industry.

Our employment management policies cover resources planning, performance
evaluation, training, dismissal and compensation, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity and anti-discrimination.
The Group has also formulated human resources-related policies such as the
“Forgame Group Employee Recruitment and Entry Management Policy” ({Forgame
SEHETHRERABERGE))
and Leave Management Policy” ({ForgamefSE B TEEHRBRERTIE)),
“Forgame Group Employee Remuneration and Benefits Management Policy”
B E THMEMEIEEFIE)), etc, to provide employees with

appropriate guidelines for their work.

“Forgame Group Employee Attendance

({Forgame%:

The Group strictly complies with all employment-related laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the Labor Contract Law of the PRC ((FFZE A R ££70
B4 EH A RIIER) ), the Labor Law of the PRC (R EE A RIEMBLEENE) ), the
FHERRIEHD), the
Law on the Protection of Rights and Interests of Women (IR ZHEeSIRIEIR) ),
Provisions of the State Council on Working Hours of Workers and Staff (< B17%
B RE B T T YERFEIAYARTE ) ), the Law on the Protection of Disabled Persons
CEEIR ARBEIED) and the Social Insurance Law of the PRC (A& REIE)).

Regulations on Paid Annual Leave for Employees ({¥& L%

The Group has adopted the Employee Handbook to regulate the workflow of
recruiting, induction and training, employee transfers, dismissals and promotions.
The Employee Handbook is aligned with the local labor laws of the Mainland
China and Hong Kong and includes key corporate policies. Newly recruited
employees are provided with a softcopy of the handbook which they are
required to review during onboarding to familiarize themselves with the Group's
operations and employment and labor practices. In the event of changes to local
labor laws, the Group will update the handbook and issue the revised copy to all

employees.

%1
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REBRAREBEIRSEENMEMER - EANEEA]
REZRNKNNGEZAR 2 —  BMBEEMM2
TERENBE N - At - AEEBHABRMHE TR
H—EEEFERS AR Z T TERE - #h
TR EE TSRS RIEBEBEAL - 4
FRETERFES °

BMNEREERREREERMES « ZRBRTHE -
HHl - RERFGES  BEREA - LERZH -
BE - FERKE 2 ERRER - REETTHIE
(Forgame 5SS B E THRERABEREHE)  (Forgame
EEETEZEHHRNRBEERGE)  (ForgameEEEE T
FHEANEEGEIEANERBBGE - RETR
HEE R T eS| -

AEBEBRBETHERREBABNERIESR - 8%
BARMNPEARKMELHSRZE) (PEARK
MESEX) (B ITHFHFRRED)  (BLERR
X)) (BEBEANEB T TERENRE)  BERA
REE)RCEGRBOED ©

AEEERACEIFMNARERE - ABKLF
RBEAE  MEREANIERRE - (BIFMHFE
TEARERBENMDSEEHERBEEIRZLERK -
HFmFEEN 8 THRHE EE?H&D?H% BEY VYN

BAMNATAKRENESE  BREERSEIER - it
DHEBEREES  AEEBEHTMAL D BHE KK
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The Group attaches great importance to talent acquisition, and we recognize
that the success of an enterprise is inseparable from its employees at all levels.
In FY2024, we looked for passionate people through a variety of recruitment
channels including internal referral, campus recruitment, social media recruitment,
online recruitment, talent market, and head hunters to strengthen our workforce.
Forgame aims to provide our employees with a supportive workplace built with a
culture of respect and dignity that enables employees to provide excellent service
to our customers.

During the year ended 3| December 2024, to the best of our directors’
knowledge, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance or breach
of relevant laws and regulations regarding employment.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 47 employees. The data of the Group's

AEBERFERAT - BPURANDERRINBENFH S

ﬁ&E\I E’\_g_llflﬁﬁﬁ KPR BRNBEE - RE
HREE RIS - RERBE  ATTSREEQ

TETH?BEH***@%@}E WA AM A - DETHE

RNEE - EEEERE TRHEFMEZENTESH
PEHERESHE - EEIAIREFPRHE AR
& o

BHE_F_NFE+_A=+—HI - REFHAIH -

7«13%IEME(J%HEI%%&IEEHEKT\/E}%ﬁiﬁié&*@
BARRERHEIR o

REZZ-WNF+-—HA=+—H  A&EEF4/EEE -

number of employees and turnover by type in the Reporting Period are listed FEFEARNAREEILZEHS D HES ABE R Rtk
below: HUBRAT
FY2024
“E-BF
Total workforce Total 47
BTHEE BEK
By employment type Full time 46
ZEFERNE S i
Part time |
FehR
By gender Male 29
teduallk {po) EElk
Female 18
pogis
By age group 30 or below 6
REEAREI D 30BREIA
31-40 14
31 BRE4085%
41-50 Il
41 BRZE505%
51-60 16
51 BRZE605%
Above 60 0
60BRIA 1=
By employee category Management 15
REBER B ER[E
General staff 32
EEET
By geographical regions PRC 27
R IR [ 15 FE A
Hong Kong 18
BB
Others 2
Hietha
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Employee Turnover: ()

BERAE : ()

2024R1% - HERE

%1
s\‘ ‘\\\'

A E

No. of staff
BTHRH

Total

B

By gender
RIERIEI D

By age group
RERAR B

By geographical regions

IR [ I

Remarks:

Overall number
A//Ibgij\gk(/ﬂbgitt?>

Male

SHAB(BERELE)

Female

(MR )

30 or below

30BR A T ABORKLER)

31-40

3IREA0RABOR KL )

41-50

41 BRESOBRABORAKLLR)

51-60

SIBRE6ORABORAKLLR)

Above 60

60B%IA EABORKL )

PRC

B A A B O R L 2

Hong Kong

EBABORKELE)

Others

Heia ABORKLX)

P -

35(74.5%)
25(86%)
10(56%)

13(217%)
16(114%)
5(45%)
1(6%)
0(0%)
35(130%)
0(0%)

0(0%)

(1) Turnover rate = Number of employees in the specified category leaving (1)  JitREEER=2F %8RI A BE M A BBk AR & HARZ 5B R
employment/number of employees in the specified category at the end of the EE#HE -

reporting period.

Employment and employees’ welfare:

Employees are one of Forgame's most valued assets and the cornerstone of its B TEEFHBERMNEEL— ' =

ERERESREF

=

EERENER -

corporate growth. We note that employees should be respected and we commit ~ ANEEHAEEMNE THEXZINEEW K AE TREM

to providing employees with an ideal working environment. The Group's “Employee

BERNTERER - ARENKETFMAERETH

Handbook”” clearly stipulates policies on remuneration, recruitment and dismissal, ~ BBl - RIERFE - EF - TERS - RE - F

promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunities, and other rights and & « H b 1518 R8T S HBER

benefits.
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Salary, benefits and retirement:

We offer our employees competitive remuneration based on their scope of

work, job responsibilities and individual performance, to reward employee
performance that contributes to the Group'’s success. In addition to basic salary,
employees are entitled to benefits including social and medical insurance in the
PRC, medical insurance in Hong Kong, and family-friendly policies such as marriage

leave, maternity and paternity leave, compassionate leave and funeral leave.

The Group also offers overtime pay and all perquisites and allowances required
by the government. Overtime requests are made in advance, and eligible requests
are supported with benefits such as transportation allowance, compensated leave
and overtime pay. The Group participates in retirement benefit schemes in the
PRC and Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme under the Hong Kong Mandatory

Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees.
Equal opportunity and non-discrimination:

Equal opportunity and non-discrimination practices underscore the culture we
seek to promote in our office. Forgame welcomes candidates from different
backgrounds and adheres to the Codes of Conduct required by our business

partners by:

° Ensuring there is no discrimination directly or indirectly, in employment
decisions, including hiring, promotion, dismissal, wages and access to
benefits on ground of race, color, sex, language, religion, political or other
opinion, age, national, social or ethnic origin, property, sexual orientation,
birth health status, trade union membership, mental or physical disability, or

other status must not be engaged in or supported;

0 Guaranteeing that no employees are subjected to mandatory body checks

that have no relevance to the job function; and

. Providing equal benefits and opportunities to vulnerable groups, such as
migrant workers, which may be subject to less protection by national law

as national workers.
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Aspect B2: Workplace Health and Safety

Minimizing work-related accidents and providing a safety and secure working
environment for all employees are of paramount importance to the Group. The
safeguard for employees' health and safety is one of the most important parts
of the Group's corporate control management. The Group is committed to
formulating and implementing efficient safety and health rules that focus not only
on accident prevention, but also on improving employee efficiency and morale,
requiring all employees to follow workplace safety rules, use necessary safety

equipment and report actual or potential safety hazards.

The Group strictly abides by the labor laws and regulations in PRC and Hong
Kong, including but not limited to({ 2 A R H MBI 458)7%)) (Labor Law of the
PRC), (<<¢'%/\E§%ﬁ%i¥ﬁ%fﬁ)\j&>) (Law of the PRC on Prevention and
Treatment of Occupational Diseases), ((#7 #E A RH£FBI 7 7%)) (Fire Control
Law of the PRC), Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance, ({ & & EE15H1))

(Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong) and other laws and regulations.

Our administration department regularly circulates updated information relating
to health and safety practices, and places posters in common areas to remind our

staff.

The Group takes occupational health and safety seriously and will not tolerate the
flagrant disregard of safety protocols. Verbal warnings are issued if an employee
conducts unsafe working practices that pose a danger to themselves or others.

For serious violations, disciplinary action may be taken.

Due to the nature of the Group'’s business, employees mainly work in the office
and the chance of encountering work-related injuries is low. The Group did
not have any serious work-related injuries and no lost days due to work injuries
during the Reporting Period. There was no record of work-related fatality in the

past three reporting periods.

202481E - ERERWRE
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Aspect B3: Development and Training

The Group acknowledges the importance of training for the development of our
employees. The professional development of our employees not only ensures
that our workforce is equipped with the skills to meet the expectations of our
customers but also demonstrates our willingness to invest in our employees.
The Group provides training on techniques and management skills for staff at
each level of our company structure and in various departments depending on
operational needs. Our employees are also encouraged to study for professional

qualifications and advanced studies.

All our employees receive induction training for their roles and ongoing on-
the-job training covering topics such as corporate governance codes and ESG
market seminars, budgeting and expense reimbursement, connected transactions
training and management systems training. To foster a harmonious workplace
for our dedicated staff, we also organize corporate team-building activities to
enhance their understanding and cooperation with the team. The following tables
summarize Group training data at the corporate level only, which includes but
not limit to corporate governance codes and ESG market seminars, budgeting
and expense reimbursement, connected transactions training and management

systems training.

Training Hours Completed of Employees during the Reporting Period

B3 H : R KRIEH

AEBRFARBBFIHEEXRELAERE - EBED
BEXRERTEEFRRANEEKAGNRETFPHENR
e - MARAERAHPLBRAMMPRBER - XEE
RELSERE  BARABHERNRZHFINET
RERMEEERENEI - RATSEREREZERE
REMMER -

E

BRzRERELSRESARARENAREIRSE
EREI - ERRELEEH TR MESGHEEME
%E%\ﬁ%&gﬁiﬁ BB <2 5 15 ol I B PR I 2

Gl ERE o REE—EMENTIERE  BATS
Elﬁ%T“T@%L BB ARTTE THEKA
RSB REGAIE - TR AEEEELEER

pill

HEFIER - BRECEEFTRIRESGTZEFHEE
HiE O THEREARE BB SEIREENELS

ElEESl0p=

R & FERIES 55555 5 5 2

Total  Average Training Hours Per Employee
#it BERESTVHZIEE
Number of training hours® 72 171
=HllEE
By gender Male 54 129
RILHIBI D Sk
Female 18 043
pogis
By employee category Management 54 129
B TERRIEID EEE
General employees 18 043
HERET
Remarks: BT -

) Average Training Hours = Total training hours during the reporting period/Total
number of employees at the end of the reporting period.
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To incentivize our employees, reward excellence and enhance staff morale, a
transparent and fair appraisal system is operated by our remuneration committee
and the Group’s management. Carried out quarterly, the employee performance
evaluation process provides the basis upon which management can decide on
staff promotion and salary adjustments. Performance management is a complete

system as well as an ongoing process, which includes the following key phases:

Year-end Performance Assessment:
FRAGHIH
Appraisal of targets and
performance

HEBERERHFTE

Performance recognition

AR

Ongoing Coaching and Feedback:
?—:%;?a BRKEE:

Management support

EEEXE

Promotion of abilities and skills

RIARED R HRE

Aspect B4: Labor Standards

The Group supports and abides by all regulations aimed at eradicating child labor.
In our area of operations this includes (< ZE AR FFNBIZE)E) )Mainland
China Labor Law ({FZEARFEMBIRKEAREZE)) (Law of the PRC on
the Protection of Minors) and (& EIEMEHI)) (Employment Ordinance of
Hong Kong). Apart from that, the Group's Employee Handbook clearly states
that any form of child labor and forced labor is prohibited within the Group. To
prevent inadvertent hiring of child labor, age verification is conducted using official

identification before confirmation of employment.

0 ‘ig

202418 - HERERWE

CREHRERRREFABTI LR - FME
REFHESE o £E

REEE T
BERAEEERENTEANA
ANERBEFEABZ - RERANENCRE - BE
BEETETEMRFMABRMER - EREER
EREHE  TEHERRE  BRETIEIERE:

Target Setting:
REBR
e  Based on operational objectives

Personal Development Setting:
@A%EE&
Management support
BEE X
Identify strengths and weaknesses
Al RAEZE
Confirm development plan

BER RS

B4 H : & T8I
RNEBEXFHFRETRAAESEERETLAER o R
WEEHEFR  ERB(PEAREFELSE)
(R EE AR R B R AKF AR EED) R EBCE E 1§
By ptoh  REBE T FMABEINARNEEL L
ERIFEAEIMEALHNER - RLBTEERFE
IWER - BMRERERNCERE S S HEREZ
EER o
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Moreover, the Group forbids any form of forced labor or modern forms
of slavery such as trafficking. Forcing employees to work excessive overtime,
confiscation of travel/identification documents, deposits or compensation are

subtle forms of forced labor and are against the Group's policy.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no non-compliance with laws and

regulations in relation to the prevention of child labor or forced labor.

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

Forgame adheres to the principle of transparency and implements the values of
honesty, integrity and fairness in supply chain management. When selecting the
suppliers, the Group considers factors such as quality of services and products,
past performance and reputation of the suppliers and performance in suppliers’
environmental and social responsibility. When dealing with goods and services with
suppliers, approval procedures are in place to ensure that supplier engagements
are monitored and approved by the appropriate level of management. The
Group expects major suppliers to observe the same environmental, social, health
and safety and governance policies in their operating practices as those adopted

by the Group.

Forgame shall continue to enhance its own environmental and social performances
and continue to perfect its supply chain management. In the long run, the Group
shall cooperate with its business partners closely and encourage communication
and exchange experiences among its partners to achieve sustainable development
so as to facilitate the sustainable growth of the whole industry. During the

Reporting Period, the Group partnered with a total of 70 suppliers.

SESh - AN EE ) E ] Y 90 28 85 B SR IR
R(MBE) - B EEBEME  RBIRTT HHE
AXMH  RBRRERFMERBELHPTIHREN
B DBEAKENEE -

RBEFEAN @ AEEWEZREMBBMLBETX
SREBBENERIOER ©

BSAHMH : HIESEEE

AEERFEARRE - AHEHEETERHNE

FEMAFHNEEE H£EBHERR  AKEE
TEREERE  IMRBINERNME « BEKRR

REEANEERMHERANRENMEEREIRE - &
HEmMREHERRZE - RIFIRRE 5T L
B BRUEFN2ESEREENERERESR
Mgt - AEEEHTEHEAERZEENS K
MEREERRNERE 48  REEZZERNEAK
o o

AEEERHERABSRFEH SARIHATS M|
EHEMER - REME @ AEEHNEREBBHER
BIF USBEBBH  ERIHERRETERR
mo EDEETENSEER - NBEEFEAR - ALK
FESHTOREEBEE -

Number of the suppliers by geographical region 77 2B 1 [ &) 5

Region Unit FY2024
e B —BMREF
Mainland China Supplier 57
HE A e

Hong Kong Supplier 10
&8 fi

United State of America Supplier |
e i

Europe Supplier |
B i

Other parts of Asia Supplier |
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Aspect Bé: Product Responsibility

As a leading technology enterprise, the Group is committed to continuously
improving the quality of products and services and provides its customers with
the best experiences by focusing on the management of various aspects such
as operation and customers’ communications. We also conduct a strict review
on the products and services provided to ensure compliance with all applicable
laws and regulations. During the Reporting Period, there were no official records
of complaints about products or services, and there were no sold or shipped

products that were subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.
Intellectual property

The Group is committed to preserving the achievements of our research and
development team and avoiding infringement of intellectual property rights. We
have established the "Guidelines on Prevention of Legal Risks in the Research
and Development and Operations of Online Games” (#4852 B35 N & 38
AR E4E3])) and the “Intellectual Property Management Policy” ({40
BEMEEIRHIE)) to reinforce the protection of intellectual property right by
formulating standard operating procedures. The Group's intellectual property
includes copyright, trademark, patent, trade secret and other rights endowed by
the Patent Law of the PRC ({2 A R HFNBIEF)X)), the Trademark Law of
the PRC({HEE A RETBIFEIZIE)), the Copyright Law of the PRC ({FFZE A
R AT ZVEREE) ), the Administrative Measures on China Internet Domain
Name ({9 B G Bt A8EK T BE B2 B IR HEE) ), the Measures for Software
Products Administration ((EXEEEEmEIRHHZE) ), the Anti-unfair Competition
Law of the PRC ({HFEARZEMBERTEFHEFIE)) and other applicable laws
and regulations, under which games, software, artwork, new technology, skills and
other relevant rights are covered. Confidentiality is great importance in order
to protect intellectual property. All involved parties are not allowed to disclose
or deliver relevant information to others during the product development and

creation process.
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Data protection policies

Ensuring data privacy is essential to maintain our relationships with customers and
business partners. To comprehensively manage the potential information security
risk and handle relevant emergencies, the Group established the Information
Technology Internal Control Handbook ({58 B & & REBIEHIFH) ) in

accordance with the “Control Objectives for Information and related Technology”
issued by ISACA (Information Systems Audit and Control Association) to ensure
a stable, safe and efficient system that can support the Group's long term
development in internet business. The handbook provides clear guidance on risk
management in different stages of operations to mitigate information security
risk. In addition, an emergency response system is also outlined in the handbook
to enable the staff to understand the steps to be taken when there is an issue
related to the information security found. As safeguarding the information security
requires continuous efforts, the handbook places emphasis on the importance of
regular reviews on the procedures and measures to make sure that the solutions

to be provided can efficiently mitigate the corresponding risks.

To minimize risk of data loss and leakage, extensive data security measures are
adopted, including the limited and controlled access right of critical information,
encrypted password and data transmission, and back up data at two or more
different locations in our internal servers and further in our long-distance disaster
recovery system. Meanwhile, the Group has also implemented the “Group Visitor
Control Management Procedures” (S EFHIZEHIEIEHIE ) ) to restrain the

internet access of our visitors to prevent potential data losses.

The Group believes that all staff members are important contributors to a safe
and reliable system. Hence the handbook clearly defines the responsibility of
each department and staff on how to ensure the system is reliable. Employees
are required to sign a confidentiality agreement to acknowledge their duties in
keeping the identified information confidential, including sales data, business plans,
personal information of customers and intellectual property. The access right
control in relations to customer personal data is set up so that our employees get
limited access to sensitive data on a need-to-know basis. In addition, the Group
has also formulated the “Software Management Policy” (& B &L EE{F FH & 32
[E)) and the “Malicious Software Management Procedure’ ({5 BIR2 B BN AE 1%
FIEEHIE) ) and other guidelines as precautionary measures to minimize the
information security risks by strengthening our staff's awareness over the risks

from external software.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material non-compliance or violation

in intellectual property and privacy.
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Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

To embrace business integrity for sustainable operations, the Group promotes
fairness and integrity by deterring unethical business practices, including bribery,
fraud, corruption, extortion and money laundering. The Group also provides
induction training to all new directors and employees. The training covers
areas including but not limited to, anti-corruption laws and regulations and the
company's requirements in relation thereto, as well as the code of ethics that all
directors and employees must comply with. The code of ethics in the Employee
Handbook emphasizes the importance of abiding by statutory laws and regulations
to staff and states clearly the responsibility for violations. We will make our best
effort to ensure employees understand the code of ethics and make it a part
of daily business activities in order to create a positive corporate culture placing

integrity and honesty on a high priority.

The Group strictly abides by the relevant laws and regulations related to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering, including but not limited to the Company
Law of the PRC ({1 ZE A RHEFIBI A FE) ), the Anti- Money Laundering Law
({RESEIERD), the Anti-unfair Competition Law of the PRC ({FZE A R L F1E
RAIEEFHFE L)), the Basic Standards for Internal Control of Enterprise ({1
FENESEHEZARHRE) ) and the Interim Provisions on Banning Commercial
Bribery ((RAR LRI XM IT AN E
Ordinance and other laws and regulations and has formulated the “Forgame
Anti-Corruption Management Policy” ({ForgamefE Bl R FEMEIRHIE ) ) to

provide clear monitoring procedures and reporting channels. If any employees

7T TE D), Prevention of Bribery

find any violations such as bribery, corruption and fraud, he/she can report to
the head of the Group’s internal control department through the reporting email
or the reporting hotline provided by the Group. The department is responsible
for investigating and collecting evidences and submitting the same to the audit
and compliance committee. The audit and compliance committee will determine
the corresponding penalties for the violations based on the nature, severity
and evidences obtained, including but not limited to punishment, dismiss the

employees, and report to relevant regulatory authorities for such violations.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not violated any laws or regulations
in relation to corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering and
were also no legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group or

its employees known to the Group.
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Aspect B8: Community Investment

As the market places focus more on corporate behaviors and social
responsibilities, the pursuit of maximizing financial returns to reward shareholders
is no longer the only goal of corporate management. Forgame pays close attention
to the community where it operates and is aware of the importance of different
stakeholders’ expectations. The Group firmly believes that balancing the interests
between shareholders and other stakeholders is the only way to achieve the long-

term business development in a stable and healthy manner.

The Group is committed to bringing enjoyment and happiness to our users and
the community where the Group belongs to. Focusing on next generation of our
society, the Group actively supports education and research on fintech to envision

the youth to study the innovation in this area.
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